

Fiscal policy and income inequality

The role of taxes and social spending

Hazel Granger, Laura Abramovsky and Jessica Pudussery

September 2022



Readers are encouraged to reproduce material for their own publications, as long as they are not being sold commercially. ODI requests due acknowledgement and a copy of the publication. For online use, we ask readers to link to the original resource on the ODI website. The views presented in this report are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of ODI or our partners.

This work is licensed under CC BY-NC-ND 4.0.

How to cite: Granger, H., Abramovsky, L. and Pudussery, J. (2022) *Fiscal policy and income inequality: the role of taxes and social spending*. ODI Report. London: ODI (www.odi.org/fiscal-policy-and-income-inequality-the-role-of-taxes-and-social-spending)

Photo: International Monetary Fund/Flickr

Acknowledgements

This report benefited from internal and external review. In particular, the authors would like to thank Francesca Bastagli and Mark Miller for their guidance and suggestions throughout the research. Sanjeev Gupta, Jukka Pirttilä, Martin Evans and Kyle McNabb provided valuable insights and suggestions on the draft. The publication was edited by Matthew Foley and production was coordinated by Gruffudd Owen. Opinions and any errors or omissions remain the responsibility of the authors.

About this publication

This report is based on research funded by (or in part by) the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. The findings and conclusions contained within are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect positions or policies of the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. The work has been produced under the ODI Development and Public Finance (DPF) programme in collaboration with the Equity and Social Policy (ESP) programme. The DPF programme of research and advisory work focuses on how governing bodies can best use their scarce resources to support prosperous and fairer societies. The ESP programme leads research, analysis and informed policy debate on poverty, inequality and the role of social policy.

About the authors

Hazel Granger is a Senior Research Fellow for the ODI Development and Public Finance Programme, managing research and policy advisory work on tax and development.

Laura Abramovsky is a Research Associate for the ODI Development and Public Finance Programme, specialising in tax and social protection, the water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) sector, productivity and innovation.

Jessica Pudussery is a Research Assistant for the ODI Development and Public Finance Programme.

Contents

Executive summary / 2

Taxes: findings and policy implications / 3 Social spending: findings and policy implications / 4

- 1 Introduction / 6
 - 1.1 Background and objectives / 6
 - 1.2 Structure of the report / 8

2 Analytical framework and key concepts / 9

- 2.1 Focus on within-country inequality and relationship to poverty reduction / 9
- 2.2 Why does income inequality matter? / 9
- 2.3 What is the role of taxes and social spending? / 11
- 2.4 Fiscal space for social spending: beyond taxes / 14
- 2.5 Practical challenges and opportunities for equitable fiscal reform / 15
- 3 Trends in within-country pre-tax income inequality: 1980-2019 / 18

4 Trends in taxes and public spending: 1990-2018 / 24

- 4.1 Trends in the level and composition of domestic revenue / 24
- 4.2 Patterns of public spending on social sectors across countries / 29

5 Evidence of fiscal redistribution / 33

- 5.1 The distributional impact of taxes and social spending combined / 33
- 5.2 Analysis of individual fiscal instruments / 39

$6 \quad \text{Implications and lessons for addressing income inequality through fiscal policy} \ / \ 6 \circ \\$

- 6.1 Implications for tax and revenue mobilisation / 60
- 6.2 Implications for social spending / 63

7 Conclusions / 67

Appendix 1 Measuring income, income inequality and the effect of taxes and social spending / 69

Appendix 2 Matrix of fiscal policy instruments and design considerations / 76

References / 82

Display items

Boxes

Box 1 The universal cash transfer programme in Iran / 64

Tables

 Table 1
 Pre-tax income Gini coefficients, country income groups average / 18

Table 2 Redistributive impact of income taxes and direct transfers (2018 or latest available),country income groups averages / 35

Table 3 Redistributive impact of fiscal systems on income (2016 or latest available),country income group averages / 36

Table 4 Components of fiscal incidence analysis to estimate impact of fiscal policy instrumentson income and its distribution / 71

Figures

Figure 1 Inequality convergence between country income groups (pre-tax income Gini coefficients), 1980–2019 / 19

Figure 2 Pre-tax income shares by country income groups, 1980–2019 / 20

Figure 3 Pre-tax income Gini coefficient by region, 1980–2019 / 22

Figure 4 Average domestic revenue as a percentage of GDP by country income group, 1990–2018 $\,$ / $\,$ 25

Figure 5 Domestic tax revenue composition by country income group, 1990–2018 / 27

Figure 6 Level and composition of social spending across income groups of countries, latest available estimates, 1990–2017 (% of GDP) / 29

Figure 7 Redistributive impact of income taxes and direct cash transfers / 34

Figure 8 Redistributive impact of fiscal systems (2016 or latest available) / 37

Acronyms

CEQ	Commitment to Equity initiative
СІТ	corporate income tax
DINA	distributional national accounts
EATR	effective average tax rate
EITC	earned income tax credit
GDP	gross domestic product
GNI	gross national income
GST	goods and services tax
ніс	high-income country
IDA	International Development Association
IFPRI	International Food Policy Research Institute
ILO	International Labour Organization
IMF	International Monetary Fund
LAC	Latin America and the Caribbean
LIC	low-income country
LMIC	lower-middle-income country
MENA	Middle East and North Africa
NIC	national insurance contributions
ODA	official development assistance
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
ΡΙΤ	personal income tax
PSNP	Productive Safety Net Program (Ethiopia)
ROSCA	Rotating Savings and Credit Association (Kenya)
SDGs	Sustainable Development Goals
SPFs	social protection floors
SSA	sub-Saharan Africa
SSC	social security contribution
UBI	universal basic income
UMIC	upper-middle-income country
VAT	value added tax
WID	World Inequality Database

Key messages

- Fiscal policy can reduce within-country income inequality by up to 40%. Richer countries have greater capacity to redistribute than poorer ones. Fiscal policy in low-income countries achieves only a 3% reduction in inequality on average.
- Variation in income inequality within country income groups suggests policy choices matter, beyond the level of development. While fiscal capacity needs to expand overall to achieve greater fiscal redistribution in most low-income settings, better-designed fiscal policy can also improve impact.
- Revenue mobilisation does not need to preclude more equitable policy choices since some revenue reforms can be both efficient at raising revenue and equalising, especially when combined with high-quality equitable social transfers. Lower income inequality before and after fiscal intervention can also be beneficial for economic growth and, in turn, for revenue mobilisation as the tax base expands.
- Opportunities for equitable economic growth include increasing progressivity of income tax, improving efficiency of consumption taxes, removing inefficient subsidies and tax exemptions to help finance enhanced social insurance and a mix of complementary in-kind transfers and targeted equitable cash transfers. The design and quality of cash transfers and in-kind transfers, through the delivery of health and education public services, are paramount to ensure positive net returns to fiscal intervention.
- Implementation of these reforms faces political and institutional challenges. Better analysis of net impacts of tax and spending on income inequality and poverty can inform country-specific choices, and a whole-of-government approach can help deliver them.

Executive summary

This report provides a comprehensive and updated survey of the available evidence on the combined impact of taxes and social spending (cash transfers and health and education in-kind transfers) on within-country income inequality and poverty. It also looks at studies of individual fiscal instruments across countries with different income levels.

A better understanding of how to design tax and social spending policies to achieve the greatest impact on income inequality and poverty within existing constraints is crucial to inform countries' efforts to build more equitable and sustainable fiscal systems as they recover from the Covid-19 pandemic and tackle the impacts of high energy and food prices.

While inequality is often important from a political or ethical perspective, there is also an increasingly strong economic argument for addressing income inequality. The tension between equality and efficiency (and economic growth, in particular) that has underpinned arguments against progressive tax and spending systems is not supported by the empirical evidence. There is a cost to raising taxes and providing public services and social protection of course, including on incentives to save, invest and work. But it is important to assess the whole system so that the many benefits are considered together with costs to assess their net effects on societies and economies. Not all fiscal instruments have to be progressive, equalising and pro-poor; what matters the most is their combined effect on poverty and income inequality.

Our analysis shows that incomes before taxes and transfers in lower-income countries are

distributed more unequally than in others. We also show that in many countries, even in richer ones that are relatively equal, inequality is rising. Yet, within income country groups and geographic regions, there are high levels of heterogeneity in income inequality and poverty outcomes, both before and after the effects of fiscal policy are assessed. This heterogeneity suggests the importance of both political and social choices, as well as the design and implementation of policy. While lower-income countries have narrower tax bases and redistribute less than richer ones, there is evidence that social spending tends to expand as fiscal capacity expands. Even if richer countries are better equipped to address income inequality through tax and social spending systems, all countries can measure and improve the performance of policies to create more equitable and efficient outcomes. From our review of the evidence, we find the following:

- Fiscal policy can reduce within-country income inequality by up to 40%. The greatest impact on inequality has been in high-income countries (HICs) and upper-middle-income countries (UMICs), where fiscal capacity is high and there is a broad tax base. Fiscal policy in low-income countries (LICs) achieves only a 3% reduction in inequality on average.
- In richer countries, social safety nets and flexible tax policy played a key role in enabling a quicker recovery to the Covid-19 pandemic, and in some cases partially mitigated further poverty and inequality. This experience highlighted the need for fiscal systems to both be redistributive over the lifecycle, as well to build resilience during shocks.
- Revenue mobilisation efforts do not need to preclude more equitable policy choices since

some revenue reforms can be both efficient at raising revenue and equalising, especially when combined with high-quality equitable social transfers, both in cash and in-kind. Reduced income inequality that supports economic growth can also be beneficial for revenue mobilisation as the tax base expands.

- Evidence on the impact of tax and spending on income inequality shows that direct taxes and cash transfers and in-kind transfers (education and health spending) have the greatest equalising effect. Indirect subsidies are often not pro-poor and not the best way to address poverty and inequality.
- Analysis of the distributional impact of individual fiscal instruments suggests specific steps countries can take to foster a more equitable and fiscally sustainable economic recovery through both tax and spending policies (see also the summary in Appendix 2 Matrix of fiscal policy instruments and design considerations).

Taxes: findings and policy implications

Direct taxes

- Personal income tax systems are largely progressive and equalising. Most countries have progressive rate structures, but various factors have eroded progressivity over time. These include falling top marginal rates, fiscal drag bringing more poor individuals into the tax net, poorly targeted tax relief and lower marginal tax rates on capital income (and increasing share of capital ownership combined with greater tax avoidance opportunities among the rich).
- Corporate tax can be progressive if borne by capital owners, who tend to be richer than workers, and acts as a backstop to prevent the rich avoiding personal income tax, although empirical evidence on who bears the true burden of this tax is inconclusive.

- Wealth and property taxes can be designed to be income-equalising and can provide additional revenue especially for local service provision in the case of property taxes.
- Opportunities to improve progressivity of direct taxes include:
 - personal income tax: raising top marginal rates (evidence suggests there is scope to do this without negatively affecting economic growth)
 - adjusting lower rate thresholds for inflation to protect the poorest
 - improving progressivity of tax relief
 - equalising tax rates across sources of income, particularly across capital income from different types of investments
 - improving progressivity of property taxes and considering one-off wealth taxes
 - strengthening general compliance and administration, especially for multinationals and high net worth individuals

Indirect (consumption) taxes

- General consumption taxes are typically an efficient source of revenue but mostly regressive, except with high levels of informality, when they may be progressive. Value added tax (VAT) exemptions on essential goods are inefficient compared to cash transfers as a means of protecting the poor.
- Excises and trade taxes have a mixed impact on inequality depending on consumption patterns across income levels. Excise duties on fuel are progressive in LICs and LMICs, but can be poverty-increasing. Health taxes (e.g. alcohol, tobacco) are more regressive and povertyincreasing, but both environmental and health taxes have wider benefits from curbing harmful consumption.

- Opportunities to improve revenue potential, progressivity and efficiency of indirect taxes include the following:
 - Aim for uniform rates for general consumption taxes (or reduced dispersion of tariffs in the case of trade taxes) and a broad, efficient base.
 - Remove VAT exemptions or reduced rates on essential goods, mitigating impoverishing effects with targeted cash transfers.
 - Set excise rates in line with wider social costs (externalities) to support health and environmental objectives and in some cases also raising additional revenue, with pro-poor compensating transfers.
 - Strengthen compliance and administration.

Social spending: findings and policy implications

Cash transfers

- Cash transfer instruments are generally equalising and poverty-reducing, but impact varies depending on their financing, design, beneficiaries' behaviour responses and the underlying income distribution.
- Means-tested transfers targeted at smaller groups in need can have a more meaningful impact on beneficiaries but can be complex to administer and risk introducing perverse incentives if they are not carefully designed.
- Universalism (or at least universal basic social floors) can have a significant impact if there are sufficient resources to cover a wide population, and may be simpler to administer and more popular. Limited resources may mean benefits are inadequate and unnecessary for those on higher incomes.

- National (contributory) social insurance schemes are not equalising if many are excluded due to unemployment or informal employment, requiring non-contributory cash transfers to be provided alongside contributory schemes.
- Opportunities to improve design and impact on income inequality and poverty include the following:
 - In practice, there is a continuum of options between targeted and universal transfers. Targeting can be designed to mitigate perverse incentives and simplify administration, while universal approaches can claw back unneeded funds from the rich through a progressive tax system. Universal approaches can also be narrowed to smaller groups through categorical targeting.
 - Most countries choose a combination of measures to suit the context. Options would depend on the objectives, budget and administrative and institutional capacity to deliver cash transfers.

Indirect subsidies

- Indirect subsidies are not the most cost-efficient instrument to achieve inequality and poverty outcomes when compared to alternatives such as cash transfers.
- Opportunities to improve their design and the equality and efficiency of the fiscal system include the following:
 - Consider how best to remove these subsidies, compensating lower-income households with cash transfers for the increase in prices and/or using part of the revenues recouped by the removal of subsidies to finance a universal cash transfer (even if temporary) to compensate all households and achieve political buy-in.

In-kind transfers

- In-kind transfers tend to be equalising and poverty-reducing – when assessed according to the cost of provision – as well as having the potential to increase human capital. Their impact depends on the level and type of spending on education and health, as well as the quality of service delivery.
- The value of health and education services for each household may be different to the cost of provision, which is less well documented and remains a critical gap for further research to evaluate and formulate better policies.
- Opportunities to improve their design and costeffectiveness in achieving equality and poverty outcomes include the following:
 - Ensure expansion of access to high-quality education and health services in order to achieve meaningful outcomes.
 - Address corruption and waste. This is key, as is consideration of the role of subnational governments in delivery.

Estimates of the cost of providing universal basic income or basic social floors suggest that it may be fiscally achievable over the medium term in UMICs and some lower-middle-income countries (LMICs) with reforms to taxes and transfers, but the costs far exceed the potential from domestic revenue, budget efficiencies, borrowing or external financing in LICs. This suggests a more targeted approach to both tax and spending is needed until fiscal capacity expands.

A well-designed package of measures should be able to enhance fiscal capacity over time, as well as making better use of available resources to optimise impacts on inequality and governments' wider social and economic outcomes. Implementing these reforms faces political and institutional challenges. Better analysis and understanding of net impacts of tax and spending on income inequality and poverty needs to inform country-specific choices. A whole-of-government approach and support and dialogue between government, citizens and partners to understand how the challenges and trade-offs can best be overcome will be crucial to deliver these reforms in practice.

1 Introduction

1.1 Background and objectives

While the last decade has brought improvements in living standards across the world,¹ there has been sustained interest in persistent high levels of income and wealth inequality within and between countries, and the role of national fiscal systems in reducing income and wealth inequality and poverty.² The interest of international and national policy-makers and the wider public has been amplified by the Covid-19 pandemic and emerging evidence on its social and economic impacts.3 At the time of writing the pandemic is still ongoing and the full impact on within-country income inequality is unknown (Ferreira, 2021). However, available evidence shows that the crisis has most affected individuals with limited access to credit. capital and essential public services, and those with jobs not amenable to remote working or with no access to social protection. This means that the effects of the pandemic on income inequality will vary across countries depending on the specific structure of their economy and labour markets

and the strength of their social protection systems (Chancel et al., 2022). Evidence from previous pandemics, which were less widespread than Covid-19, indicates that an increase in income inequality is likely, especially where fiscal policy is constrained (IMF, 2021a). In this context, exacerbated by rising inflation and the global repercussions of the war in Ukraine, there are concerns that long-term progress towards better living standards and policy objectives around reducing poverty and inequalities, including within-country income inequality, set out under the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), will be undermined.4

This report examines the trajectories in withincountry income inequality before taxes and social spending, and the role of national fiscal systems in addressing inequality and poverty, with a focus on lower-income countries.⁵ By fiscal systems⁶ we mean the combined effect of social policies (social protection transfers and social spending on transfers in-kind in education and health) and

¹ See, e.g., UNDESA (2020); Piketty (2013; 2019); Alvaredo et al. (2018).

² In total, 193 countries officially adopted the highly ambitious Sustainable Development Goals, which include addressing poverty (SDG 1, eradicating poverty) and income inequality (SDG 10, reduce income inequality within countries and across countries). This shows that there is a widespread declared intention among national governments and multilateral and international organisations to address these issues based on both equity values and efficiency considerations. See www.un.org.cn/info/6/620.html.

Estimates suggest both wealth concentration and poverty levels have been increasing since the start of the pandemic. For example, the number of billionaires increased from 660 to 2,755 in 2021 (Forbes, 2021). There were 5.2 million additional millionaires (Credit Suisse, 2021). An additional 75 million to 95 million people are estimated to be living in extreme poverty in 2022, compared to pre-pandemic projections (Mahler et al., 2022).

⁴ See, for example, Mahler et al. (2022).

⁵ In this report we use the term 'lower-income countries' to refer to countries classified by the World Bank as either low income or lower-middle income.

⁶ Throughout this report we will use interchangeably the following terms: 'fiscal systems', 'taxes and government spending', 'taxes and transfers' and 'taxes and benefits'. When discussing specific evidence, we will refer to the subset of fiscal instruments being analysed. We refer largely to formal fiscal systems but recognise that, in many lower-income country contexts, informal systems that affect income inequality and poverty are very prevalent (Evans and Salomon, 2020).

domestic revenue sources (mostly taxes, but also national insurance contributions). We will look at both the combined impact and, where possible, the individual impact of taxes and social spending on income inequality and poverty.

Our aim is to update and build on Bastagli (2015), which provided a synthesis of evidence on the incidence and distributional impact of taxes and social spending, and how mobilising domestic revenue sources could improve fiscal space for social protection financing.7 Since 2015, new evidence assessing the distributional impact of fiscal policy has emerged covering a larger sample of countries, including lower-income countries. It is worth noting that the volume of academic and policy studies on this topic is vast and increasing. We aim to provide a comprehensive survey, synthesis and analysis of the main findings, but this is not a systematic literature review. It is also worth highlighting that the phenomenon of within-country income inequality is situated in the wider context of global income inequality. However, consideration of global inequality is beyond the scope of this report.

Our analysis highlights the heterogeneity within income country groups and across regions in their pre-tax income inequality trajectories and policy choices, resulting in significant differences in the income inequality and poverty outcomes achieved through fiscal redistribution. This shows that average national incomes are not a good predictor of income inequality, as shown by the diverging trajectories of the US and European countries (Chancel et al., 2022). Even if the level of national income and development is positively associated with the ability of national governments to address income inequality through tax and social spending systems, and there are some common patterns driven by economic factors, the design and implementation of progressive tax and social spending systems are also the result of political and social choices.

The tension between equity and efficiency that has underscored much of the debate against progressive tax and spending systems because of their detrimental effect on economic growth is not supported by the empirical evidence. Of course, there are costs to raising taxes and providing public services, which affect incentives to save, invest and work, but also benefits; and these are not easy to measure. But there is a body of work that has examined the impact of income inequality on economic growth. Overall, this evidence is inconclusive and does not support unambiguously the idea that more progressive tax and social spending systems are detrimental to growth (Baselgia and Foellmi, 2022). In fact, the historic trajectory of HICs in the West suggests the opposite (Chancel et al., 2022). While the highly globalised and automated world looks different now to that which HICs faced a century ago, lessons from their experience are still relevant to today's inequalities. Moreover, recent evidence suggests higher market income inequality and

⁷ Fiscal space was traditionally defined as the 'room in a government's budget that allows it to provide resources for a desired purpose without jeopardizing the sustainability of its financial position or the stability of the economy' (Heller, 2005). More recently, concepts of budgetary space have been developed to include both revenue/finance and expenditure measures such as budget execution, thus encompassing public finance management decisions, to increase the budget allocated to specific areas like health, education or cash transfers. This is elaborated in Barroy and Gupta (2020; 2021) in the context of health systems. They argue that this framework can facilitate productive dialogue between health and finance policy-makers to enhance budgetary space for health systems.

weak redistributive policies are associated with lower and less sustainable economic growth (Berg et al., 2018).

Through this survey of evidence and review of economic principles, we aim to draw out practical implications for the design and financing of fiscal policy options relevant to policy-makers and their partners, particularly in lower-income countries. A better understanding of how to design tax and social spending policies to achieve the greatest impact on income inequality within existing constraints is crucial to inform countries' efforts to build more equitable and sustainable fiscal systems as they recover from the Covid-19 pandemic and confront the impact of the rising energy and food prices exacerbated by the Russia– Ukraine war and future economic uncertainties.

1.2 Structure of the report

The analysis is structured as follows:

- We start by providing an analytical frame, including a discussion on why tackling withincountry income inequality is considered important. We also outline key concepts (Section 2).
- We next provide a description of national trends in pre-tax income inequality over the period 1980-pre-2020, i.e. income before taxes and social spending but after pension and unemployment contributions and benefits (Section 3).
- The ability of governments to influence income inequality depends on the size and composition of public spending and how this is financed. Thus, we provide a picture of the levels and composition of domestic (tax) revenue and public spending on cash transfers and transfers

in-kind, focusing on education and health (Section 4). We include a discussion on how this varies across different geographies and periods, and the drivers and implications of trends in fiscal policy regimes.

- We then present a comprehensive survey, synthesis and analysis of studies on the distributional impact of tax and transfers, both together and separately (Section 5). This provides the latest available evidence on the effectiveness of tax and transfers on income redistribution and poverty in different country contexts.
- We draw policy implications for the design and implementation of more equitable systems of taxation and social spending, emphasising their relative merits, opportunities and practical challenges, with a special focus on lower-income countries (Section 6).
- Finally, we provide concluding remarks and takeaways (Section 7).

2 Analytical framework and key concepts

This section explains why we focus on withincountry inequality, why it matters and the framing principles we use as the basis for exploring the role of fiscal policy in addressing inequality. We also outline key factors in understanding how, in practice, governments approach this issue, including the effect of fiscal space limitations, political commitment to equity and institutional challenges in the design and delivery of redistributive fiscal policy.

2.1 Focus on within-country inequality and relationship to poverty reduction

This report focuses on within-country income inequality and the role of national tax and spending policies in affecting these trends. While national income inequality is intrinsically intertwined with global income inequality between countries, this is not the focus of this report. There is a wealth of new evidence and literature on global inequality, its drivers and consequences, and implications for social justice, including the global and national policies that could address global inequality (see, for instance, Milanovic (2018) and Chancel et al. (2022)). Chancel et al. (2022) estimate that within-country inequality makes up about 70% of global inequality across the world population, whilst the remaining 30% is accounted for by differences in average incomes between countries.

Even though poverty analysis is not the focus of this report, we look at how fiscal policies

can impact national absolute poverty counts. Income inequality is often correlated with poverty incidence, and reducing both global poverty and inequality are stated, first-order priorities for international multi-stakeholder partnerships, debates and policy initiatives.

We present a significant portion of the evidence in this report using the World Bank's country income classification as a proxy for countries' relative levels of development. However, we emphasise the significant heterogeneity across countries within income groups and regional classifications. The World Bank's income classification from 2020⁸ organises countries into four country income groups: high-income countries (HICs), upper-middleincome countries (UMICs), lower-middle-income countries (LMICs), and lower-income countries (LICs) based on the GNI per capita using the World Bank's Atlas method.9 We acknowledge that, in the discussion around inequality and fiscal systems, this approach may seem oversimplified, though it is widely used for analytical purposes and for operational decisions around development assistance, albeit not without controversy.10

2.2 Why does income inequality matter?

Historically, the question of inequality has been at the centre of political, economic, philosophical and wider debates in societies. The reasons why (income) inequality matters can

⁸ This link provides a description of the World Bank country income groups classification.

⁹ The Atlas Method is described here.

¹⁰ See, for instance, Fantom and Serajuddin (2016) and Prydz and Wadhwa (2019).

be broadly grouped into three categories: morality or fairness, efficiency or economic growth and politics (see, for instance, Milanovic, 2018).

Societies may be intrinsically averse to income inequality on grounds of fairness or morality. Concerns about the impact of income inequality on equality of opportunities and social mobility may also be at play. In welfare economics terms, the presence of declining marginal utility of income implies that the poor may value a dollar more, so transferring a dollar from rich to poor may increase overall welfare. In this sense, there may be a moral motivation to address observed market income inequalities within a country. Some suggest that income inequality is not an issue per se; what matters, rather, is that some people do not have enough to ensure access to food, decent housing, education or health care. The argument is that ensuring everyone has enough to live a decent life (see, for instance, Frankfurt, 2015), rather than levelling income across society to eliminate inequality, should be the aim. The reduction of poverty and any subsequent reduction in inequality through taxation and transfers to the poor is then a side-effect of this aim. Some studies suggest that wellbeing can be negatively affected by localised income inequality, highlighting the importance of addressing withincountry inequality if one considers broader wellbeing as the policy goal (Luttmer, 2005).

From an efficiency point of view, evidence on the impact of inequality on economic growth (both theoretical and empirical) is inconclusive, though recently the negative correlation has been emphasised by policy and economics experts. The mechanisms through which greater income inequality can have a growth-dampening effect include: (1) the suppression of aggregate demand by shifting a larger share of income to richer households that save rather than spend (Bivens, 2017); and (2) inequality of opportunities (for example, by limiting investment in health and education), constraining social mobility of the most disadvantaged groups of the population and wasting talent (see, for example, Cingano (2014) for a review). Others argue that inequality in fact has growth-promoting effects because: (1) it can improve incentives to work harder and invest and take more risks in activities with higher rates of return (Mirrlees, 1971; Lazear and Rosen, 1981); and (2) higher income inequality leads to higher savings, needed to finance growth-enhancing investments (e.g. Kaldor, 1956; Bourgignon, 1981). The latter arguments lend support to the deepseated, though not necessarily correct, belief among many economists and policy-makers that there is always a trade-off between equity and efficiency when choosing tax and spending policies. However, the empirical evidence on the impact of income inequality on economic growth is mixed and inconclusive (OECD, 2015; Baselgia and Foellmi, 2022). Furthermore, the negative correlation between economic growth and both market income inequality and inequality of income after redistribution through direct tax and transfers has been recently emphasised by policy and economic research (Ostry et al., 2014; Berg et al., 2018). This suggests that reducing market income inequality and redistributive fiscal policies can have a positive impact on sustainable economic growth.

From a political perspective, evidence suggests that inequality may undermine democratic governance and political stability. In countries governed by democratic systems, governance and political stability are in turn essential for economic growth (Alesina and Perotti, 1996; Keefer and Knack, 2002; Lakner, 2016; Agnello et al., 2017). In practice, most societies care about inequality in some shape or form, but how concerned they are, what level of income inequality is deemed tolerable, whether some inequality is inevitable and opinions about what the state should do to address these inequalities vary widely (Johnson and Joyce, 2021). Market forces such as technological change and globalisation affect the distribution of what people are paid in the market, but so do social norms, and the tax and benefit system can redistribute market income, showing that governments can play an important role in shaping social norms towards market pay and the role of the state. The role of the state in addressing income inequalities and poverty is a political and societal choice, affected by complex dynamics that can change over time, and rising income inequality should not necessarily be seen as inevitable (Atkinson, 2015; Chancel et al., 2022).

2.3 What is the role of taxes and social spending?

The observed increase in income inequality within countries has put the role of fiscal policy at the centre of national and global policy debates. Calls for progressive tax systems to fund equitable access to public services and ensure social protection floors (SPFs) have been made repeatedly. Public policy can affect income inequality within countries in different ways, and fiscal policy is one of the key mechanisms. In fact, the diversity of (post-tax and transfer) income inequality within countries indicates that national fiscal policies matter.¹¹ The commitment and ability of governments to influence income inequality depends on the size and composition of public spending, its quality and how this is financed, including the size and composition of tax revenues, as well as a society's preferences for the role of the state. The size of the state is typically correlated with national income. That is, the richer the country, the larger the share of national income spent or collected in tax (there are outliers, like the US).

There is some evidence to suggest that, as incomes rise and domestic revenues expand, social spending also increases. Long-term trends show that, as domestic revenues expanded across Europe, spending patterns shifted from covering basic state functions (defence, security and administration) to a broader range of functions including increasing levels of social spending (Piketty, 2019). Studies looking at a broader set of countries also find a positive correlation between tax revenues and social spending (Reeves et al., 2015; Carter and Cobham, 2016; Long and Miller, 2017).

The specific design and implementation of individual taxes and social spending matters as well. Some countries may raise the same share of national income in public revenues from personal income taxes, but their redistributive and poverty impact could diverge significantly depending on the policy details, including the quality and effectiveness of public services and transfer schemes.

¹¹ We focus on income inequality and poverty. However, we recognise the importance of increasing wealth concentration and how this is a source of growing economic inequality. Wealth inequality within countries is much higher than income inequality (Gupta, 2018) and is increasing.

Considering jointly the net effects of taxes and social spending on income inequality and poverty is key, since the use of individual instruments may serve a multitude of objectives, one of which may (or may not) be income redistribution. While many tax systems include progressive income taxes, which if levied on a broad section of the population will provide some income redistribution directly, the primary function of tax systems is typically to mobilise revenue to finance public spending. How revenue is raised matters, however, not just for income distribution but also for other policy objectives, including ensuring a conducive environment for business and investment through stable and transparent policy and fair and efficient administration of taxes. Through adjustments to relative prices, taxes can also provide incentives or disincentives for consumption or production that have wider costs or benefits to society (usually addressed through excise taxes). Broadbased consumption taxes are thought to be less progressive but better able to raise public funds efficiently, which can be used to finance progressive social spending.

On the social spending side, the focus of this report is mainly on public expenditure on the three largest social sectors: social protection, health and education. Social protection includes mainly: (1) social assistance (non-contributory transfers, conditional or unconditional cash and in-kind transfers or public works programmes); and (2) social insurance (contributory benefits mainly for old age and unemployment shocks). Social spending encompasses other sectors that may have some social purpose, such as public expenditures on water and sanitation. However, in many LICs and LMICs, health and education account for most social spending (Bastagli, 2015; Zouhar et al., 2021). Nonetheless, it is important to ground the discussion in broader social spending and social policy, and where possible we include in the discussion other spending that can be considered social spending, such as indirect subsidies (including expenditure through the tax system in the form of reduced rates or exemptions) to fuel, food and water consumption.

Like tax instruments, the objectives of social spending are typically also manifold and are not solely or necessarily focused on pure redistribution. Social protection systems may be focused on poverty reduction, providing minimum living standards or services and smoothing incomes of individuals over the lifecycle.¹² The provision of education and health services may aim to level opportunities or address social externalities and efficiency considerations. While such policies may have some redistributive effect on income, the explicit objective may not be entirely focused on this, and there may be other policy packages that could maximise the overall redistributive effect.

On the tax side, the focus of the report (as with most available fiscal incidence analysis) is on the following groups of taxes: (1) direct personal taxes (mainly personal income tax on earned income and property and land taxes); and (2) indirect taxes. Corporate income tax (CIT) is not systematically analysed across countries. This is due to extra challenges of modelling the economic incidence of this tax on workers and capital owners, and hence households, causing disagreement among researchers on how best to do this and resulting in a lack of comparable empirical studies across

¹² As is the case with some old age pension programmes.

countries. However, we do discuss the role of CIT and the evidence from the few relevant studies available.

On the transfer side, the fiscal incidence of the following groups of transfers and subsidies is included in the cross-country analysis: (1) cash and near cash transfers¹³ (also referred to as direct transfers, both contributory and non-contributory); (2) indirect subsidies, mainly general or targeted consumption subsidies such as those to fossil fuels and food; and (3) in-kind transfers, comprising mostly free government services in healthcare and education (Lustig, 2018). As such, we omit from the cross-country evidence discussion some important categories that are likely to account for a significant share of total government spending in some countries, such as specific water and sanitation subsidies, but reference individual relevant studies.

Finding the right balance of tax and spending to address income inequality requires raising revenue efficiently, while addressing economic efficiency and equality objectives. For example, tax instruments can be both a tool for raising revenues and a tool for redistribution in themselves (in the case of progressive income taxes, for example), or they can be designed to raise revenue in the most efficient way to finance redistribution through spending, or some combination of the two. If the objective is to reduce income inequality, it is important to recognise that not all taxes have to be progressive and equalising: what matters is the impact of the system, including different taxes, cash transfers, subsidies and transfers in-kind.

This balance is especially important in settings where resources are constrained and there is greater need for revenue mobilisation. Even in lower-income contexts with limited resources, there are still opportunities to create fiscal space and design policies that are targeted more effectively to lessen market inequalities (Ravallion, 2008). Despite the increasingly global nature of our world, the capacity to reduce within-country inequality may remain largely in the hands of national governments (Anand and Segal, 2015).

Non-tax revenues, particularly those collected from natural resources (such as mining or oil and gas royalties), can also be significant, but little is known about their impact on income inequality. Discussion of resource revenues in the literature tends to focus on the macroeconomic effects of the 'resource curse' or 'Dutch disease',14 but most tax incidence studies do not include non-tax revenue. Since resource revenues are also subject to the volatility of global commodity prices, countries are often encouraged to focus on broadening the tax base to ensure more sustainable non-resource revenue. For these two reasons we focus on tax revenue, rather than non-tax revenue, in this report. Having said this, it is worth noting that the distributional impact of natural resource revenues tends to be discussed in the literature in terms of how the funds are spent or whether there is an allocation of revenues shared between the national budget and local communities directly affected by the extractive industries. The spending debates acknowledge that, as finite resources owned by the state (including its citizens), natural resource revenues should be enjoyed by future generations as well as used to fund existing priorities. Fiscal rules,

¹³ These are conditional and unconditional cash transfers, non-contributory pensions, school feeding programmes, free food transfers and contributory pensions (Lustig, 2018: Figure 1-1).

¹⁴ See, for example, Ebrahimzadeh (2020) for a discussion of the literature and key concepts.

fund arrangements and governance procedures can therefore be designed to ensure the effective management of resource revenues to balance longer-term investments, savings and annual spending, as well as improving macro-fiscal stability and mitigating 'Dutch disease'.¹⁵

Addressing income inequality in the short and long run will also require policies that affect market income (before taxes and social spending). This includes policies beyond tax and transfers, such as employment and wage policy, regulation and other economic policies (Blanchard and Rodrik, 2021). Taxes and social spending can also affect future outcomes. For example, public spending in health and education can lower out-of-pocket health or education spending of low-income households and has the potential to improve health and education in the future, affecting intergenerational outcomes and alleviating future market income inequality. Progressive personal income taxes can redistribute income today whilst changing work, saving and investment incentives in a way that affects market income distribution in the future.

2.4 Fiscal space for social spending: beyond taxes

Fiscal space can be created through raising additional tax revenues, raising debt, reallocating existing resources within the public sector or via accessing external grants in the form of aid or debt relief. Together, these form what has been referred to as the 'fiscal space diamond' (Aguzzoni, 2011; Roy et al., 2012). While taxes may be costly to raise and administer, higher levels of debt can lead to macroeconomic instability and unsustainable debt servicing obligations. Reallocation of spending can happen in several ways, for instance scrapping generalised subsidies, which may be ill-targeted to the poor, in favour of more inclusive and progressive social assistance (or non-contributory transfer) programmes (Zouhar et al., 2021).

The choice of mechanism for expanding fiscal space matters for long-term growth and fiscal capacity. For instance, rapid expansion in debt may crowd out private investment, in turn reducing fiscal space in the long run. Alternatively, reallocations of public expenditure towards social spending could also lead to reductions in capital spending on infrastructure that could be detrimental, particularly in lower-income countries which have higher returns to investment (see, for instance, Zohuar et al., 2021). If using tax instruments, consumption taxes are considered more efficient and better for economic growth than income taxes (Acosta-Ormaechea et al., 2018) and are a powerful tool to mobilise domestic revenue that can be part of an overall progressive tax and spending package. Finally, in the context of fiscal consolidation following an economic downturn (e.g. in the aftermath of the Covid-19 pandemic), evidence suggests that a revenue-led consolidation is less harmful for growth and inequality than cutting public investment or consumption in lower-income countries (Arizala et al., 2021; Clements et al., 2021), whereas for OECD countries, expenditurebased consolidations have less damaging impacts on output and employment than revenue-based ones (Alesina et al., 2019a).

¹⁵ See, for example, Quak (2020) for a discussion of lessons from the use of fiscal rules and frameworks in lower income countries for managing resource revenues.

The concept of budgetary space extends the concept of fiscal space to include both revenue and expenditure measures within a public finance management framework. Barroy and Gupta (2020; 2021) introduce the new notion of budgetary space, which expands the concept of fiscal space with the aim of empowering policymakers in charge of budget execution to make positive changes in the way the funds are used beyond allocated resources. This emphasises the importance of quality of service delivery and budget execution.

Aid flows and borrowing options and their associated costs are dependent on the level of national income. Bilateral and

multilateral aid flows are a particularly important source of financing for lower- and middle-income countries, and the income classification used by these organisations affects the supply of loans available to countries. In addition, lower-income countries may lack access to international capital markets or face relatively high levels of interest compared to richer countries, increasing the burden of debt servicing and reducing fiscal space (Nair et al., 2021).

International aid flowing to lower-income countries helps fund social sectors, mostly education and health, whilst resources allocated to social protection are more limited and ill-targeted to countries that need it the most. Social protection as a share of total official development assistance (ODA) globally was relatively small before the pandemic, representing less than 2% of the total ODA budget globally. Most ODA funds for social spending are allocated to education and health. Compared to ODA funding to other (non-social) sectors, social protection ODA was relatively well-targeted at LICs,¹⁶ but it was still insufficiently targeted to those LICs that needed it most and was insufficient to meet their financing gaps (McCord et al., 2021).

2.5 Practical challenges and opportunities for equitable fiscal reform

High-level advocacy on the SDGs and SPFs can help build consensus for reform and development of more effective and equitable systems of taxes and social spending. In all, 193 countries have officially adopted the ambitious SDG agenda, including the eradication of poverty (SDG1) and income inequality within and across countries (SDG 10). SDG 1.3 includes the introduction of social protection floors. These are nationally defined goals to ensure universal access to a level of health care deemed essential and basic income security throughout people's lifetime to live a life in dignity (SDG 1.3 and ILO SPF Recommendation 2012 (no. 202)). The focus is on covering whole populations, and particularly the poor and the vulnerable (those unable to work due to disability, paternity/maternity, sickness or disability or other reasons).

Institutional arrangements often do not create incentives for policy-makers across relevant parts of government to collaborate and improve existing fiscal systems that meet multiple policy objectives. Tax and social protection systems are viewed separately, making it difficult to combine packages of reforms. For example, a study of the tax policy-making process in Uganda (Wales and Lees, 2020) found that the tax policy function had a 'narrow focus on the

¹⁶ LICs received 55% of ODA to social protection in 2019, compared to an estimated flow of only 32% of total bilateral ODA and 11% of international financial institution ODA to LICs in 2020.

component parts of the tax system and [made] too small a contribution to the development of solutions to major economic and social policy problems that might require, or benefit from, the use of a variety of tax levers'. A tax policy proposal that is regressive could prove highly unpopular within government as well as publicly when not clearly taken together with a complementary compensating spending policy.

Some studies indicate a lack of strong organised political support for redistribution through fiscal policies in lower-income countries. For instance, few governments in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) are elected on a platform of higher, broad-based taxation to fund better service provision that is more equitable and propoor; rather, the focus tends to be on (largely unfunded) economic development promises (Fjeldstad and Therkildsen, 2020; Simson and Savage, 2020). This may reflect an economic growth and efficiency imperative which may be perceived as a trade-off with equity, though it does not need to be.

More progressive taxation relies on public support and a 'social contract' that includes a level of acceptance by the rich to be taxed. This is often lacking. Relatively high levels of tax avoidance and evasion among the rich, for whom low-tax offshore options are more accessible, may represent a breakdown in this social contract. Alstadsæter et al. (2019) discuss this in the context of Scandinavian countries, and suggest that it is likely to apply to other contexts. Political incumbents in many countries often include wealthy elites, who will advocate for policies that benefit those with above-median incomes (Besley and Parsson, 2014).

In some circumstances, the pandemic may present opportunities for building public support for progressive taxation, including elite 'collective action'. Political economists have argued that states' ability to mobilise tax revenue is shaped by patterns of 'elite collective action' in response to threats from 'below' (Slater, 2010; Steinmo, 2018). Slater (2010) argues that, in situations of intense conflict that threaten the property or welfare of elites, they may come together to form 'protection pacts' that support a strong, well-funded and durable political regime.¹⁷ The Covid-19 pandemic posed a significant threat in terms of health and economic interests across economies globally. In some countries, this led to increased public support for progressive taxation to finance the response and ensure a fairer burden of taxation.¹⁸ Yet, countries that place an increasing burden on the middle classes, from increasing tax incidence and deprioritising social assistance,¹⁹ face rising resistance to more progressive taxation. Gupta and Tovar Jalles (2021) find that past pandemics have induced countries to implement tax reforms, particularly in corporate income taxes, excises and trade taxes, rather than more progressive personal income taxes.

Public trust and stronger connections between taxes and public services can help build public support and tackle resistance to progressive taxation. Besley and Persson (2014) show that the higher the perceived levels of corruption,

¹⁷ In Malaysia and Singapore, for example; in regimes that mobilise fewer of these elites and resources are weaker and less stable, like the Philippines, Thailand and Vietnam, revenue mobilisation is less successful.

¹⁸ For example, Ipsos-Mori (2020) found high levels of support for a net wealth tax in the UK. There have been calls in the US to tax the rich more (https://patrioticmillionaires.org/2022/04/19/this-tax-day-its-all-about-billionaires/).

¹⁹ Such as some Latin American countries during the Covid-19 pandemic (Blofield et al., 2021).

the lower the tax take as a share of national income. A lack of trust in government and poor communication of the intended benefits can lead to a lack of public support.²⁰ Higher levels of trust in political institutions can reduce opposition from the affluent towards more progressive taxation, since effective spending facilitates investment in sectors that will generate economic gains for earners (Berens and von Schiller, 2017).

²⁰ As with the recent protests around tax reforms in Colombia (see, for instance, www.bloomberg.com/news/ articles/2021-05-13/colombia-s-tax-reform-backlash-warns-others-not-to-balance-budgets-just-yet).

3 Trends in within-country pre-tax income inequality: 1980–2019

Before looking at the impact of fiscal policy on income inequality, we provide an overview of the baseline trends in within-country income inequality across country income groups.

Data across countries on within-country pre-tax income inequality²¹ shows that lowerincome countries are more unequal than richer ones. Pre-tax income inequality appears to be negatively correlated with national income. HICs on average have the lowest pre-tax income Gini coefficients (greater equality) over the period 1980–2019 (Table 1), followed, in order of country income groupings, by UMICs, LMICs and LICs. The measure of pre-tax income in this dataset includes social insurance benefits (pensions and unemployment benefits, net of contributions), which, according to Chancel et al. (2022), play the most significant role in redistributing market income, more than taxes and social spending, particularly in HICs and UMICs. This may explain, to some extent, the lower levels of pre-tax income inequality observed in these countries relative to LMICs and particularly LICs, where social insurance systems are only emerging and have a very limited role (as discussed further in Sections 4 and 5).²²

Richer countries are getting more unequal on average and lower-income countries less unequal, suggesting some convergence of inequality over time. The convergence in average country income group inequality levels observed in Figure 1 was primarily driven by an increase in inequality in richer countries and a slight decrease among LICs. Within-country pre-tax income

Table 1 Pre-tax income Gini coefficients, country income groups average

Country income group	1980 Gini coefficient	2019 Gini coefficient	Percentage point increase (decrease)
HICs	46.2%	50.0%	3.8
UMICs	56.1%	57.4%	1.3
LMICs	59.5%	58.6%	(0.9)
LICs	61.8%	59.7%	(2.2)

Source: Authors' own elaboration based on World Inequality Data.

²¹ Measured by pre-tax income Gini coefficient, as discussed in Appendix 1.

²² It is worth noting that the average levels across country income groups and the ranking of the groups according to the average Gini in pre-tax income shown in Table 1 is different to what is observed when looking at market income measures for a smaller sample of countries (using a different methodology) in Section 5.

inequality, as measured by the Gini coefficient, is shown in Figure 1 and Table 1.²³ Between 1980 and 2019, the average Gini coefficient increased by 3.8 and 1.3 percentage points in HICs and UMICs from a 1980 base of 46.2% and 56.1%, respectively. LMICs and LICs, on the other hand, experienced a decrease of 0.9 and 2.2 percentage points in the average Gini coefficient, from 59.5% and 61.8%, respectively, over the same period.

Figure 1 Inequality convergence between country income groups (pre-tax income Gini coefficients), 1980–2019



Note: The lines show the simple (unweighted) average pre-tax income Gini coefficient across each country income group. Source: Authors' own elaboration based on World Inequality Data.

²³ We focus on within-country income inequality, but it is worth noting that global inequality in pre-tax income declined: the global Gini coefficient (adults) fell from 68.9% in 1980 to 66.3% in 2019 (WID, April 2021), mostly driven by economic growth in populous countries like India and China causing convergence across country incomes (Alvaredo et al., 2018). However, there is divergence in income shares globally: the bottom 50% captured only 12% of total real income growth per adult in 2016 (from 7% in 1980) while the top 1% captured almost 20% of total global income by 2016 (27% of growth) (Alvaredo et al., 2018). Emerging evidence shows that global inequality has increased following the Covid pandemic (World Bank, 2022).

This convergence can also be seen in the share of income earned by the top 1% compared to the bottom 50%. Figure 2 charts pre-tax income shares accruing to the top 1% richest individuals in a country (solid lines) and to the bottom 50% poorest individuals in a country (dashed line) over the period 1980–2019. The share of income accruing to the top 1% grew steadily until the financial crisis of 2008 in HICs and UMICs, and declined slightly thereafter. Over the same period to 2008, the share of national income accruing to the bottom 50% decreased among HICs and UMICs on average. As of 2019 this remains lower than historical levels, at 18.4% and 14.4%, respectively. In LMICs and LICs the share of the top 1% decreased until 2010 (until around 2005 for LICs), reaching 17% and 16.4% in 2019, respectively. At the same time, the share of the bottom 50% increased, particularly between 1995 and 2005 for LICs, after which the trend flattened. In 2019, the share of the bottom 50% was 13.9% and 13.5% for LMICs and LICs, respectively.



Figure 2 Pre-tax income shares by country income groups, 1980–2019

Note: The lines show the simple (unweighted) average pre-tax income share across each country income group accruing to the top 1%, top 10% and bottom 50% of the population. The pre-tax income variable is the same as used in Figure 1.

Source: Authors' own elaboration based on World Inequality Data.

The top 1% of adults receives a higher overall share of income than the bottom 50% combined in all non-HIC groups on average.

Figure 2 shows that more pre-tax income accrues to the very highest earners than to half of the adult population on average in LICs, LMICs and UMICs, suggesting a high level of income inequality using this alternative measure.

Emerging evidence suggests that the Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in an increase in income inequality within countries before government intervention.

Some microsimulation studies have modelled the impact of pandemic lockdowns on incomes 'at risk' across affected sectors. These indicate the scale of impact on poverty and inequality that would have been observed without policy packages to mitigate the effect, and reveal increases in both income inequality and poverty.²⁴ Across countries in all income groups, this has been attributed to the fact that the pandemic hit lower-income individuals harder in terms of jobs losses, with long-lasting scarring effects on human capital and employment, and an inability to take advantage of remote working (Stantcheva, 2021b; World Bank, 2022).

While there may be convergence on average between country income groups, income inequality varies significantly across countries and regions, reflecting different paths of development and different policy choices. Figure 3 shows pre-tax income Gini coefficients by region. While it indicates broad convergence at higher levels of inequality across all regions, there are a variety of experiences within regions. The importance of national policies in shaping inequality of both market and disposable income cannot be overstated even in a globalised world, and less so still in a post-2019 world where the Covid-19 pandemic may have induced some degree of deglobalisation (see, for instance, Àntras, 2020).

The Middle East and North Africa, Latin America and the Caribbean and SSA have the highest income inequality in the world, with Gini coefficients at around 60% or above. On average, inequality remained relatively stable in the MENA region, and showed a decline in Latin America and SSA. However, these regions host the majority of the world's most unequal countries. The most unequal countries as of 2019 were Peru (68%), Guinea-Bissau, Angola, Brazil and Chile (69%), Mexico, Botswana and Eswatini (70%), Zambia and Mozambique (73%), Namibia (74%), South Africa (75%) and Sao Tome and Principe (76%).

There is wide variation in income inequality across countries within these three regions.

Some large countries, such as South Africa, Brazil, Chile and Mexico, experienced significant increases in inequality after 1980. Others saw a decline in inequality over the same period. For example, Mali's Gini coefficient decreased from 68% in 1980 to 53% in 2019. The country with the lowest Gini value was Mauritania (52%, down from 60% in 1980). In Latin America and the Caribbean, Argentina, Cuba and Uruguay are among the least unequal, with a Gini of 53%, 51% and 52%, respectively, in 2019. All three experienced a decrease since 1980.

Emerging evidence finds this pattern in Brazil, Argentina, Colombia, Mexico (Blofield et al., 2021), Ecuador (Jara et al., 2021), Zambia, Mozambique and Tanzania (Lastunen et al., 2021).



Figure 3 Pre-tax income Gini coefficient by region, 1980–2019

Note: The lines show the simple (unweighted) average pre-tax income Gini coefficient across each region. The pre-tax income variable is the same used in Figure 1.

Source: Authors' own elaboration based on World Inequality Data.

Variation in pre-tax inequality across countries is also observed among HICs, with the most striking difference being between the US and Europe. The US and Europe show significant differences in inequality levels, with Gini coefficients of 58.2% and 48.2%, respectively. The most equal countries in the world in 2019 were in Europe: the Czech Republic (pre-tax income Gini of 38%), Sweden and Iceland (39%), Slovakia (40%) and Norway and Slovenia (41%). The striking differences between the US and Europe have been explained by factors including a stronger preference for a more active and larger state and redistributive policies in the Europe relative to the US, and perceptions about underlying income inequality (see, for instance, Alesina et al., 2019; Stantcheva, 2021a).

Changes in income inequality do not necessarily coincide with changes in poverty.

China is a good illustration of this: inequality within the country increased during a period of significant poverty reduction. Earlier this year, the government declared 'complete victory' over extreme poverty²⁵ after the poverty headcount ratio fell from around 90% 40 years ago to less than 1% in 2019.²⁶ At the same time, the pre-tax income Gini rose from 39% in 1981 to 56% in 2019 (Jain-Chandra et al., 2018).

While it appears that addressing poverty does not always have a significant impact on inequality, at least in the countries with large populations of extreme poor, there is some evidence to suggest that addressing inequality can have an important impact on poverty. Cross-country modelling by Lakner et al. (2019) found that the income distribution can affect the way in which economic growth feeds through to poverty reduction, estimating that 'reducing each country's Gini index by 1% per year has a larger impact on global poverty than increasing each country's annual growth 1 percentage point above forecasts'.

²⁶ World Bank Data, 2021: Poverty headcount ratio at national poverty lines (% of population) – China.

4 Trends in taxes and public spending: 1990–2018

As discussed in Section 2, the ability of governments to influence income inequality depends partly on the level of revenue and spending, as well as how it is raised and spent. In this section we provide an overview of trends across country income groups in the levels and composition of domestic tax revenue (direct and indirect) and public spending on social sectors (social protection through direct transfers and wider social spending transfers in-kind, focusing on education and health). We include a discussion on how this varies across different geographies and time periods, the drivers, and the implications for fiscal capacity for redistribution.

4.1 Trends in the level and composition of domestic revenue

While the amount of total domestic revenue collected as a share of GDP varies across countries, richer countries tend to collect more than poorer ones. Figure 4 shows that, in 2018, on average HICs collected domestic revenue close to 38% of GDP, compared with 28% in UMICs, 23% in LMICs and 17% in LICs (yellow bars).27 However, LICs have expanded their revenue collection more than HICs: since 1990, total revenue as a share of GDP has increased only 2 percentage points (from 36% to 38%) in HICs, compared to 8 percentage points in LICs (from 9% to 17%). A significant share of this revenue in all country income groups comes from natural resources and non-tax sources, ranging from 5% of GDP in LICs to 8% in HICs in 2018. Since natural resource revenues tend to be more volatile, and data on collections is patchy, a better indicator of countries' revenue capacity is non-resource tax revenue excluding social security contributions (green bars in Figure 4).

The tax-to-GDP ratio is also correlated with national income and has expanded across all country income groups since 1990, with the greatest growth observed in LICs. On average, HICs, UMICs, LMICs and LICs collected tax revenues totalling 22%, 16%, 14% and 12% of GDP, respectively. Over the same period, the tax-to-GDP ratio increase by 5 percentages points, from 7% in 1990 (around a third of HICs' tax-to-GDP ratio in that year) to 12% in 2018 (over half of what HICs collected in 2018).

While LICs collect significantly less than HICs, LICs today collect relatively more tax than current HICs did at a similar or higher level of development (Miller and Long, 2017; Tanzi and Schuknecht, 2000). Total revenue (including social contributions) in rich countries was below 10% of GDP until the First World War, when it began to increase until a peak in the 1970s–1980s, after which it has stabilised at varying levels across countries (Piketty, 2019).²⁸ Similarly, South Korea, which experienced a period of economic growth to HIC status, had tax revenues below 15% in the 1970s, and expanded to its current level of almost 30% over 40–50 years (Miller and Long, 2017).

²⁷ Domestic revenue is defined here as total revenue excluding grants. We present figures from 1990 onwards, instead of 1980 as the previous section did, due to data availability constraints in social spending series.

Around 30% in the US, 40% in the UK and 45%–55% in Germany, France and Sweden.



Figure 4 Average domestic revenue as a percentage of GDP by country income group, 1990–2018

Note: 'Total Revenues exc. grants' includes total government revenue including taxes (resource and non-resource), non-tax revenue (resource or otherwise), and social contributions (SC) but excluding grants (yellow bar). 'Total non-resource taxes inc. SC' includes tax revenues from non-resource sources and SC (purple bars). For the countries for which data is not available for 2018, values for 2017 are used. Data for SSC is referred to as social contributions SC in the GRD dataset.

Source: Authors' own elaboration using UNU-WIDER GRD (2020).

As observed for overall tax collections, revenues from social security contributions (SSCs)²⁹ appear to be positively correlated with income across countries. In addition to standard tax revenues, almost all countries have some form of contributory national social insurance scheme, collected alongside employment income taxes.³⁰ It is worth noting that there is a wide spectrum of how countries treat SSCs. In some cases, these can appear akin to employment income taxes, where revenues can be used to fund a range of services, as in the UK.

²⁹ Social security contributions are different to other taxes in many countries in that they are typically earmarked for specific areas of public spending, like the health system, or used to pay contributory employment benefits including pensions, levied on employment income. Data coverage of SSCs suffers from missing data and inconsistencies in reporting across countries.

³⁰ According to the Tax Introduction Database (European University Institute, 2019), 191 countries have introduced a social security contribution scheme at some point.

In other cases, contributions are treated more like private savings or investments administered by pension funds, as in Chile and Uganda, to which governments have no access and hence no mandate to use them to redistribute income. Sometimes private funds can be nationalised at a later stage, in effect becoming government revenues, as was the case in Argentina in the late 2000s. Trends indicate an expansion in revenue collections from SSCs since 1990 in all country income groups except LICs. Based on available estimates, the level of SSCs collected³¹ in LICs is, on average, negligible compared to HICs (up to 8% of GDP in 2018). It is important to note, however, that SSC data for LICs may have significant gaps,³² making any consistent analysis of the effect of income tax and social contributions on inequality challenging.

The broad trends observed between country income groups on average mask significant variation in tax-to-GDP ratios across regions within country income groups. For example, LICs in South Asia on average raised 21% of GDP in total tax revenues in 2018 compared to 12% in LICs in SSA.

There has been broad harmonisation in tax structures across countries over time.

Most countries have adopted a standard tax structure based on progressive personal income tax (PIT), mostly based on employment income, corporate income tax (CIT) and broad-based taxes on the consumption of goods and services (GST), with the latter accounting for half or more of total tax revenues across all countries on average (Figure 5). These three instruments together account for between 80% and 90% of tax revenue across all countries on average.

Progressive direct taxes play a smaller, albeit increasing, role in lower-income countries, indicating more limited fiscal capacity for redistribution through taxes. HICs collected 29% of tax revenues from PIT on average and 5% from taxes on property in 2018. This compares to 18% and 0.5%, respectively, in LICs. The importance of CIT has grown particularly in LICs since 1990, accounting for 17% of tax revenues in 2018 compared to 11% in 1990 (Figure 5). Taxes on the transfer of wealth are also more common in HICs than in other countries. OECD (2021) reports that 24 out of 38 countries have some form of inheritance tax, although they typically raise relatively little tax revenue. Taxes on the stock of wealth have been declining globally, and the few countries that currently have a wealth tax collect a small amount of revenue from it.33 However, the possibility of its reintroduction, either as a permanent tax or a one-off wealth tax, has been recently supported by leading experts (e.g. Piketty, 2013; Atkinson, 2015; Advani et al., 2021a) and a wide range of public advocates in the context of increasing wealth concentration across all countries.

Trade taxes are more important revenue sources in non-HICs than in HICs, though currently accounting for less revenue than PIT in all income groups. Figure 5 shows a higher, but declining, reliance on trade taxes in LICs (13% of tax revenues), LMICs (15%) and

³¹ Indicated by the difference between the purple and green bars in Figure 4.

³² This is because SSC revenues are generally not reported in central government accounts, on which crosscountry revenue datasets are based.

³³ According to Pineda et al. (2021), three countries in the OECD (Spain, Switzerland and Norway) and three countries in Latin America (Argentina, Colombia and Uruguay) currently have a wealth tax. Revenue collections amounted to 1.8% and 0.25% of total revenues, respectively, in each group of countries.

UMICs (8%) compared to HICs (2%) in 2018. Revenues from trade taxes have been partly replaced by the expansion of GST, which grew significantly in all country groups. The greatest expansion in GST was in UMICs, where it accounted for almost two-thirds of total tax revenues in 2018, whereas in the other income groups it accounted for half of tax revenues in 2018.

Policy choices differ within country income groups, and the share of direct taxation does

not fully explain differences in inequality.

For example, among UMICs, South Africa raised 35% from PIT in 2018 and 40% from GST, yet is more unequal than China, which raised 8% of tax revenues from PIT and 60% from GST. Among LMICs, Kenya, Tunisia and Sri Lanka have similar levels of inequality, but Kenya and Tunisia raise around 25% from PIT (more than the average for LMICs and most African countries),



Figure 5 Domestic tax revenue composition by country income group, 1990–2018

Note: PIT: Personal Income Tax, CIT: Corporate Income Tax, GST: Goods and Services Taxes (includes Value Added taxes and Excise Duties). Only countries with data available on individual tax instruments have been used, resulting in a smaller sample than shown in Figure 4, particularly for non-HICs. Unweighted averages across countries for each income group.

Source: Authors' own elaboration using UNU-WIDER GRD (2020).

less than 10% from trade taxes and 50% or less from GST, whereas Sri Lanka raises less than 4% from PIT, 20% from trade taxes and over 60% from GST. Tunisia has a tax composition similar to that of OECD countries.³⁴

4.1.1 Why do LICs and LMICs raise less tax revenue as a share of national income than higher-income countries?

The economic structure of lower-income countries is a major factor explaining the low levels of tax receipts. Besley and Persson (2014) and Piketty (2019) note that these countries today are not very different to HICs a century ago in terms of economic structure and the structure of taxation. From this perspective, fostering economic development would be more effective for achieving higher levels of taxation and revenues. Lower-income countries typically feature a large agriculture sector, low levels of industrialisation and high levels of informality in labour and product markets (Besley and Persson, 2014).³⁵ This in turn affects the relative importance of different tax instruments and their redistribution outcomes.

The relatively large size of the informal sector in lower-income countries is a major limiting factor in the expansion of the PIT base, which is collected from a very narrow segment of the working population (Moore et al., 2018). While there has been some expansion in the share of revenue collected from personal income taxes in lower-income countries, overall levels as a share of GDP remain relatively low. PIT has been described as 'essentially a tax on employees' (Jensen, 2022) who are formally employed. This limits the ability of lower-income countries to effectively redistribute via PIT, but it is expected that, as countries develop, the tax base will expand.

Policy choices play an important role at any given level of development. As discussed in Section 2, different attitudes towards the role of the state and the social contract affect the level of acceptance of higher taxation to provide public services and social protection. As LICs and LMICs grow and develop, tax collection should automatically expand, but further gains can be made through choices to invest in tax reforms, both in policy design and administration. Weak compliance is affected by low tax administration capacity and lack of trust in government to spend effectively, which can be compounded by a narrowing of the tax base due to exemptions granted to firms, sectors and types of expenditures and activities with debatable economic rationale (Besley and Persson, 2014; Moore et al., 2018). Political control by wealthy elites is widespread in many countries, leading to policies that benefit the wealthier segments of the population and reducing the appetite for higher levels of taxation and the desire for progressive taxation and social spending (Besley and Persson, 2014).

³⁴ See OCED (2021b) for a comparison of Tunisia's tax composition to other African countries and other regions; see OECD (2021c) for a similar comparison for Kenya.

Medina and Schneider (2018) estimate that informality was around 32% across 158 countries over 1991 to 2015, with the highest figures of above 60% for Georgia, Bolivia and Zimbabwe. In the context of tax, informality is relevant if it affects the potential for individuals to alter behaviour to avoid or evade tax (see, for example, Abramovsky et al., 2013).

4.2 Patterns of public spending on social sectors across countries

Social spending as a share of GDP has been increasing across all country income groups on average over the last three decades, growing faster in lower- and middle-income countries. Figure 6 shows that social spending increased as a share of GDP across all income groups between 1990 and 2017. UMICs and LMICs showed the highest growth, expanding their social spending as a share of GDP by 50%, (from 7.8% to 11.6% and 7.3% to 10.9%, respectively). The faster growth in social spending as a percentage of GDP across non-HICs has led to a degree of 'catchup' between country income groups on average between 1990 and 2017.

Lower- and middle-income countries still spend less on social sectors than richer countries (both as a share of national income and of total public expenditure).

estimates, 1990–2017 (% of GDP)
22%
— Education
— Social protection

Figure 6 Level and composition of social spending across income groups of countries, latest available

Health 17% 3.9% 4.8% 12% 3.3% 4.0% 4.3% 7% 2.6% 3.4% 1.8% 2.2% 3.5% 4.5% 2.4% 2.0% 1.7% 5.1% 1.3% 2% 4.4% 1.9% 2.4% 2.0% 1.9% 1990 2017 2017 1990 2017 1990 2017 1990 HIC UMIC LMIC LIC

Note: Data points are based on averages of individual country data (last available) with outliers removed (e.g. Zimbabwe). The sample size in each country group is as follows: HIC (50 countries), UMIC (42 countries), LMIC (36 countries), LIC (14 countries).

Source: IFPRI Statistics on Public Expenditures for Economic Development (SPEED) 2020.

As with revenue trends, countries' share of national income allocated to social spending, and hence their capacity to influence income distribution, increases with national income, on average. HICs spend 21% on average, followed by LMICs and UMICs at 11.6% and 10.9% respectively, and then LICs at 7.3% of GDP (Figure 6). In 2017, HICs spent over half of their total public budget on social sectors, whilst UMICs spent just short of 40%, LMICs just over a third and LICs less than a third.³⁶

Within social spending, HICs tend to prioritise social protection whereas LICs spend relatively more on health and

education. HICs allocate the largest share of social spending to social protection (11.8% of GDP on average in 2017). This trend has remained largely unchanged over the last 30 years, with the exception of a marginal increase in the share allocated to health, consistent with increasing demands due to demographic changes. LICs and MICs allocate relatively more to education and health. While the share of GDP spent on social protection in LICs has barely changed in preceding decades (from 1.9% in 1990 to 2% in 2017), the increase in average total social spending has been allocated mostly to education.

Middle-income countries have significantly increased the allocation of social spending to social protection since 1990. UMICs have more than doubled social protection spending (from 2.4% to 5.1%) and LMICs have seen social protection spending, on average, quadruple since 1990 (from 0.9% to 4.4%), with both groups now allocating around 40% of total social spending to social protection.

As with the inequality and revenue trends discussed in previous sections, there is wide variation in social protection and broader social spending across regions and across countries within country income groups. For example, South Asian and SSA countries spent around 2% as a share of GDP on social protection and 6% and 8%, respectively, on total social spending (social protection, health and education spending) in 2017. Europe and Central Asia spend the most on social protection, around 14% of GDP, and a total of 25% on social sectors. Within LMICs, Bolivia and Nicaragua spent around 4% of GDP on social protection and 8% and 10% on social spending, respectively, in 2017. Many countries in SSA classified as LMICs spend less than 1% on social protection, including Cameroon, Congo, Kenya, Nigeria and Zambia, with some variation in spending on education and health, but usually totalling less than 10% as a share of GDP in terms of total social spending.

While social spending overall has increased across country income groups, the quality of social spending varies significantly, since richer countries can afford to provide greater coverage and adequacy. Gaps in the quality of social spending can greatly affect the impact of such spending on inequality of income and opportunity. This can be a significant challenge in all countries, but particularly in those with weak state capacity. Focusing on results, particularly in health and education, rather than inputs (value of public spending) alone is crucial for reducing inequalities and fostering inclusive growth (Filmer et al., 2021). Recent estimates indicate that approximately 53% of the world's population is covered by at least one form of social protection benefit, ranging from almost 90% in HICs to just
13% in LICs.³⁷ However, the adequacy and targeting of social protection schemes will impact the distributional outcomes achieved.

In HICs there is high coverage across a range of demographic groups, whereas non-HICs provide mainly for retirement. Between 80% and 90% of each of these groups receive a benefit in HICs: children/households with children, persons above retirement age, people with disabilities and mothers with new-borns. In non-HICs the group with highest coverage is persons above retirement age. In UMICs this reaches 65%, in LMICs 41% and in LICs 15%. Gaps in general social safety nets were starkly revealed in LICs and LMICs during the Covid-19 pandemic, during which existing social insurance systems excluded those most in need. Bastagli and Lowe (2021) report that the focus of emergency response was on cash transfers, which reflects a broader policy shift towards direct income support and away from investment in public service delivery and in-kind transfers. While some LICs and LMICs were able to step up social assistance, especially those with external assistance, others were unable to provide adequate support where it was most needed.

In addition to social spending, countries provide social protection indirectly. These include subsidies to the production and consumption of, for example, fossil fuels and water and sanitation services, or via the tax system through reduced rates. These subsidies can be higher in value than the share spent on social protection in some countries. Subsidies provided through the tax system (or 'tax expenditure'), such as reduced VAT or sales tax on basic goods and services, or tax credits on earned income, aim to support poorer households to access goods and services, labour markets and education. Since these subsidies are often less transparent, estimates of their value are patchy and vary widely, averaging 0.7% of GDP for the 33 countries available in a recent cross-country study (Haldenwang et al., 2021). Andres et al. (2019) estimate that around half a percent of GDP is spent on subsidies to water and sanitation globally (excluding China and India), and this rises to 1.5-2% of GDP in lower- and middle-income countries. Parry et al. (2021) estimate that explicit subsidies to fossil fuels took up 1.5% of GDP on average across 190 countries in 2019, varying significantly across countries, country income groups and geographical regions.³⁸ HICs spent almost 1% of GDP on fossil fuel subsidies on average, compared to 2.7% in UMICs, 1.5% in LMICs and 0.6% in LICs. Taken together with water and sanitation, subsidies exceed the 2% on average spent in LICs on social protection.

4.2.1 Why do LICs and LMICs spend less on social protection, health and education as a share of national income?

While policy choices and social preferences over the role of the state play a part in determining the scale of social spending, fiscal space is a clear limiting factor, on average, across country income groups. As discussed in Section 2, countries that collect more domestic revenue tend to spend more on social

³⁷ These estimates on social spending sectors as a share of GDP are based on last available data between 2000 and 2019 for each country from the International Labour Organization (ILO) World Social Protection Database.

³⁸ Explicit subsidies are defined by the authors as the subsidies resulting from undercharging for supply costs. They also estimate implicit subsidies to fossil fuel, which relate to the environmental costs (including the negative impact on air pollution and congestion) and foregone revenue from consumption taxes.

sectors. We showed in Section 4.1 that LICs and LMICs collect less domestic revenue on average, limiting the fiscal space for social spending. Further constraining factors include the relatively high share of revenue spent on servicing existing debt, limited access to credit markets at low interest rates and inefficiency of public spending and service delivery.

According to World Bank data, in 2019 6–12% of LICs' revenue was spent on debt repayment and up to 14% in UMICs, compared to 3–7% in HICs. In SSA, the increasing reliance on private non-concessional debt has driven debt-servicing costs even higher (Prinz et al., 2021). Almost half of all LICs were experiencing difficulties in servicing their public debts (in 'debt distress', or at a 'high risk' of distress) in 2019 (more than double the number in 2013) (IMF, 2021b).

The Covid-19 pandemic has increased the strains on fiscal space for social spending in lower-income countries. All financing

options have been negatively affected (Prinz et al., 2021; IMF, 2021b). This meant that lowerincome countries had fewer resources to mitigate the negative effects of the crisis, including on income inequality and poverty, relative to HICs. These countries are more likely to need fiscal adjustments in future, reducing further the fiscal space to implement social spending policies beyond the pandemic.

While expanding fiscal space is a prerequisite to address income inequality and reduce poverty through the fiscal system, in lower-income countries the variation in LIC outcomes suggests there remains scope for improvement even with limited resources. With limited resources, one would expect a smaller impact in countries with lower revenues. Nonetheless, the redistributive impact of fiscal policy depends not only on budget size, but also on the nature and design of the policy instruments implemented, in terms of both taxes and social spending, underlying population characteristics, the quality of public spending and other contextspecific factors. Evidence on the redistributive impact of individual policy instruments and their design is discussed further in Section 5.

5 Evidence of fiscal redistribution

This section provides a comprehensive survey of the available evidence on the combined impact of taxes and social spending on income inequality and poverty as well as studies of individual fiscal instruments across countries with different income levels. In the last decade, there has been a growing literature documenting the impact of taxes and social spending on income inequality and poverty in non-HICs. This has been facilitated by improved data availability, and fostered by renewed interest in the topic among researchers, policy-makers and the wider public. It is important to note that this is not a systematic literature review of all the new studies produced in the last three decades on this topic. Furthermore, as highlighted in Bastagli (2015), there is limited scope for generalisation and broad conclusions on the impact of specific categories of taxes and social spending since policy contexts (such as design and implementation approaches) vary significantly across countries. However, there are common lessons and helpful principles that can be drawn from reviewing the evidence.39

5.1 The distributional impact of taxes and social spending combined

Across all the countries studied, direct taxes and transfers are equalising (they reduce income inequality). Figure 7 shows, for each country (at a point in time), the Gini coefficient of market income (horizontal axis) against the Gini coefficient of disposable income (vertical axis). The 45-degree line shows the point at which fiscal policy has a neutral impact on income distribution, that, is no net effect, since the Gini coefficient calculated using market income (before direct taxes and transfers) is equal to the Gini coefficient of disposable income (after direct taxes and transfers). When the dot of a country is below the 45-degree line, it shows that the estimated impact of direct taxes and transfers is to reduce market income inequality, since the Gini coefficient of disposable income (that is, market income adjusted after direct transfers and taxes) is lower than the Gini coefficient of market income. The further away a country is from the 45-degree line, the greater the redistributive impact of fiscal policy. All countries are below the 45-degree line, showing an equalising effect, although the magnitude of the effect varies significantly across country income groups and across countries. This is consistent with results discussed in Bastagli (2015), IMF (2017) and Lustig (2018), among others.

The most significant redistribution effect, on average, is found in HICs even though these did not start from the highest level of market income inequality. In HICs, there was a reduction of 15 percentage points (or a third), from 47% to 32% (Table 2). These figures provide an indication of the potential redistributive impact that direct taxes and (cash) transfers can achieve. Among HICs, direct taxes and transfers achieve a reduction of over 20 percentage points (or over

³⁹ This section uses different data sources to those in Section 3, as already discussed. This generates discrepancies in the average level of Gini coefficients across income country groups and their ranking between the two sections. This is driven by two main factors. First, in this section the starting point is market income rather than pre-tax income, which removes the effect of pension and unemployment transfers. Second, the sample of countries considered in this section is smaller.

40% reduction) in 10 countries: Austria, Belgium, Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, and Slovenia. Causa and Hermansen (2020) show that, for OECD countries, most of the redistribution is achieved by cash transfers for working-age individuals; personal income taxes play a more important role in countries achieving less redistribution, including Japan, South Korea, Israel and the US. It is important to note that in this section we use, as a starting point, market income, which removes the effects of pension and unemployment contributions and transfers. This contrasts with Section 3, in which we showed trends in pre-tax income. Using pre-tax income measures shows that inequality was lower in HICs than in other income groups. However, as shown in Table 2, using market income measures results in LMICs and LICs in the sample having a lower market income Gini on average than HICs, pointing to the important equalising role of pensions and unemployment benefits in richer countries. Most UMICs in the sample start from the highest levels of market income inequality.

Non-HICs in the sample achieve a more modest reduction in Gini coefficients of less than 10% on average, whilst also showing significant variation within groups across countries.

Figure 7 Redistributive impact of income taxes and direct cash transfers



Gini disposable income

Note: 2018 or latest available year. Data labels use the ISO country codes from the OECD. 82 countries included: 37 HICs, 25 UMICs, 13 LMICs, 7 LICs.

Sources: Commitment to Equity Institute Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution, 2019; OECD, Income Distribution Database.

The impact declines with income across countries, with average inequality reductions for UMICs, LMICs and LICs of 8%, 6% and 5%, respectively (Table 2). Having said this, the data on redistribution from non-HICs is patchier, so observed differences should be treated with caution. Within each country income group, there is significant variation. Four countries show a reduction of 10% or above (Argentina, Costa Rica, Iran and South Africa). In these eight countries, in 2018, the ratio of tax to GDP (including social insurance contributions) was around 30% or above (except for Costa Rica, which was lower at 22%).4° All in all, this suggests that policy design and implementation can have a substantial influence on the role of direct taxes and social spending in income inequality when the size of the state is larger.

Indirect taxes and subsidies (net indirect taxes, which includes price subsidies) have on average no net impact on income inequality across all country income groups. This result is calculated by comparing 'disposable income' Gini coefficients with 'consumable income' Gini coefficients (after indirect taxes and subsidies), shown in Table 3. This analysis is only available for 47 countries included in studies by the Commitment to Equity (CEQ) Institute.⁴¹

The equalising effect of in-kind transfers, in the form of education and health services, is substantial across most income groups except LICs. The same CEQ studies show that in-kind transfers result in lower 'final income' Gini coefficients relative to 'consumable income' Gini coefficients.

Table 2 Redistributive impact of income taxes and direct transfers (2018 or latest available), country incomegroups averages

Country income group	Market income Gini coefficient	Disposable income Gini coefficient	Percentage points (decrease)	Proportional change (decrease)
HICs	47%	32%	15	32%
UMICs	48%	44%	4	8%
LMICs	43%	41%	2	6%
LICs	38%	36%	1	3%

Note: 2018 or latest available year. Data labels in figure use the ISO country codes from the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 82 countries included: 37 HICs, 25 UMICs, 13 LMICs, 7 LICs.

Sources: Commitment to Equity Institute Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution, 2019;42 OECD, Income Distribution Database.

⁴⁰ UNU-WIDER Government Revenue Dataset (2020).

⁴¹ The Commitment to Equity Institute (see Lustig, 2018), is a pioneer initiative that estimates the incidence of fiscal policy, working with a range of partners including the World Bank. CEQ analysis currently covers 47 countries, and has modelled direct and indirect taxes, transfers and in-kind transfers in education and health sectors. Building on the CEQ fiscal incidence methodology, the World Bank has developed a customisable microsimulation tool for over 20 LICs and MICs to simulate the impact of changes in fiscal policy (Gao and Inchauste, 2020).

⁴² Idem fn. 39.

Country income group	HICs	UMICs	LMICs	LICs
Market income Gini coefficient (1)	47%	48%	43%	38%
Disposable income Gini coefficient (2) [(1) + direct taxes and cash transfers)]	42%	45%	40%	36%
Consumable income Gini coefficient (3) [(2) + indirect taxes and subsidies)]	42%	45%	40%	36%
Final income Gini coefficient (4) [(3) + in-kind transfers: education and health]	37%	40%	38%	35%
Overall proportional change (5) [{(1)-(4)/(1)}*100]	22%	17%	12%	8%

Table 3 Redistributive impact of fiscal systems on income (2016 or latest available), country incomegroup averages

Note: 2016 or latest available year. Data labels use the ISO country codes from the OECD. 47 countries included: 6 HICs, 21 UMICs, 12 LMICs, 7 LICs.

Source: Commitment to Equity Institute Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution, 2019.43

They reduce the latter further by 5 percentage points (12%), 5 percentage points (11%), 2 percentage points (5%) and 1 percentage point (3%) in HICs, UMICs, LMICs and LICs respectively, as shown in Table 3. It is worth noting that inkind transfers are valued using the cost of inputs or production costs, which may not necessarily reflect their actual value, driven by their quality and the value consumers get from these services.

Overall, the average proportional change in Gini coefficients due to all the fiscal instruments modelled (direct taxes and cash transfers, indirect taxes and subsidies and in-kind transfers) is higher the higher the income group. Table 3 shows a reduction of 22% for HICs, 17% for UMICs, 12% for LMICs and 8% for LICs.

Most of the redistribution is done by direct taxes and cash transfers and

in-kind transfers. Furthermore, most of the redistribution is done by social spending rather than taxes, that is, by transfers (in cash and in-kind). Joumard et al. (2012) show that, in a group of OECD countries, most redistribution is done by cash transfers, rather than direct taxes; they report that three-quarters of the reduction in inequality achieved by direct tax and cash transfers is achieved by the latter.

The pattern observed across country income groups masks high levels of heterogeneity across countries in initial market income inequality, and in the impact of fiscal policies in reducing it. Figure 8 shows that South Africa is the most unequal country, with a final income Gini of 60%, even after achieving over 20% reduction through fiscal policies. South Africa is followed by Honduras, Colombia, Guatemala and Brazil, with final income Gini coefficients of around 50%. Honduras achieves a 5% decrease, and Brazil 16%.



Figure 8 Redistributive impact of fiscal systems (2016 or latest available)

Note: 2016 or latest available year. Data labels in figure use the ISO country codes from the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 48 countries included: 6 HICs, 21 UMICs, 12 LMICs, 7 LICs. Source: Commitment to Equity Institute Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution, 2019.⁴⁴

Belarus and Ukraine display the lowest levels of final income inequality, with final income Gini coefficients of just over 20%, due to both initial lower levels of market income inequality (around 30% Gini coefficients) and their fiscal policies, which reduce it further by a fifth and a third, respectively. Argentina is estimated to achieve the largest proportional decrease in inequality due to fiscal policies, almost a 40% decrease from a starting point of 47% (close to the average market income Gini coefficient in the sample).

While these results concern income inequality, the impact on absolute poverty and income inequality need not go in the same direction. Lustig (2018) discusses the impact of the 'cash portion' of the fiscal system (direct and indirect taxes and social spending) on poverty headcount ratios. In 21 of the 29 countries included in her study,⁴⁵ direct taxes and social spending decrease poverty, although this is partially offset by the effect of indirect taxes and subsidies. However, there are cases where poverty

⁴⁴ Idem fn. 39.

⁴⁵ Using the World Bank classification at the time Lustig (2018) was written, the group of countries included three low-income countries: Ethiopia, Tanzania, and Uganda; 10 lower-middle-income countries (Armenia, Bolivia, El Salvador, Ghana, Guatemala, Honduras, Indonesia, Nicaragua, Sri Lanka and Tunisia); 14 upper-middle-income countries (Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, Costa Rica, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Georgia, Iran, Jordan, Mexico, Peru, Russia, South Africa and Venezuela); and two high-income countries (Chile and Uruguay).

is increased due to the 'cash' portion of fiscal policy, while income inequality decreases.⁴⁶ The drivers of this result are unclear.

In several countries, net payers to the fiscal system start in the extreme poor or poor income groups. Even if the overall poverty headcount ratio decreases, in some instances households are impoverished by the fiscal system, i.e. the fiscal system makes a portion of poor households poorer, or a portion of non-poor households are pushed below the poverty line. This fiscal impoverishment effect is particularly sizeable in LICs (Lustig, 2018).47 Often this is the result of bad policy design, as discussed, for example, in McNabb and Granger (2022), who show that employment personal income tax kicks in at very low income levels, sometimes below absolute poverty lines, in several SSA countries. The lack of direct cash transfers targeted to the poor and lack of access to the education and health system in lower-income countries contributes to this phenomenon.

Evidence shows that total transfers in-kind through education and health spending are generally pro-poor (i.e. per capita government spending on the transfer tends to fall with market income) (Lustig, 2018). This result does not hold across all types of public spending in education and health. For example, tertiary education is often not pro-poor. This overall pro-poorness result could be the consequence of the middle class and rich opting out of the state-funded system and choosing private sector providers (Bastagli, 2015).

5.1.1 Changes in fiscal policy impacts over time

A few recent studies have examined changes over time in the redistributive role of fiscal policy. The emerging evidence is mixed across countries and policy instruments. Answering this question over time demands significant amounts of detailed data, which is

difficult to find in lower-income countries, hence the sample of studies is biased towards HICs.

Recent evidence from HICs shows that the impact of fiscal policy on income inequality has dampened in recent decades. This is partly because of increasing pre-tax inequality and partly because of decreasing progressivity of personal income tax, although changes in transfer schemes play a role in some countries. In Europe the tax and benefit system is only partially addressing the increase in pre-tax inequality, resulting in higher levels of within-country post-fiscal income inequality in 2019, relative to 1980 (Morgan and Neef, 2020). Similarly, the US tax system has become less progressive over time according to some measures. Tax rate gaps between the top 1% and bottom 50% have been increasingly compressed. Transfers, other than unemployment and pensions, are now being targeted essentially to the middle class, leaving the bottom 50% with little support to manage the collapse in their pre-

Figure 10-10 of Chapter 10 in Lustig (2018) shows that this is the case for Ethiopia, Ghana, Guatemala, Nicaragua, Uganda and Tanzania, but only when pensions are considered as deferred income rather than cash transfers.

⁴⁷ See Table 10-1 of Chapter 10 in Lustig (2018).

tax incomes (Alvaredo et al., 2018). A similar trend is observed in a study of OECD countries, which shows a decrease in redistribution through taxes and cash transfers,⁴⁸ explained mostly by a weaker role for insurance cash transfers and, to a lesser extent, a reduction in the role of progressive personal income taxes (Causa and Hermansen, 2020).

In non-HICs in Latin America, income redistribution through fiscal policy has been amplified over the past two decades. For

instance, cash transfers targeted to the poor and in-kind education transfers played a key role in improving the progressivity of fiscal policy and reducing post-fiscal income inequality (Lustig, 2020). Additionally, in many Latin American countries the increase in the relative reliance on progressive personal income taxes contributed to the increasing progressivity of the fiscal system and the observed decline in post-fiscal income inequality (Martorano, 2018).

Emerging evidence shows increases in poverty and income inequality due to the Covid-19 pandemic. For example, in Brazil,

Argentina, Colombia and Mexico (Blofield et al., 2021), the greatest negative impact of the pandemic appeared to be on households in the middle of the income distribution, since non-contributory transfers (even prior to the pandemic) provided protection to those with the lowest incomes. Several schemes introduced during the crisis have since been scaled back. Individuals and households with higher incomes had also been protected by receipt of pensions or public sector employment income. In SSA, for instance, there was a limited expansion in inequality since households across the income spectrum were equally affected.

5.2 Analysis of individual fiscal instruments

While it is important to assess the overall impact of the system on income distribution and poverty, for policy design lessons it is also useful to look at the individual impact of policy instruments on distribution within the system. Regarding tax instruments, it is important to understand their distributional impact in the context of existing trade-offs between equity and efficiency and alternative instruments. Design details concerning both tax rates and tax bases (the definition of what is taxed) affect how best to balance these trade-offs.

5.2.1 Direct taxes

Direct taxes are taxes imposed on individuals or organisations. They are paid directly to the entity that imposes them, and are not transferrable. Direct taxes can be divided into two broad categories. Taxes levied on individuals encompass personal income tax (levied on different sources of income, including employment and capital), national insurance contributions, property taxes, capital gains taxes, inheritance tax and taxes on assets. These are typically residence-based (levied on individuals that are resident in a specific country). Taxes levied on organisations include corporate income tax (typically levied on the income of both domestic and foreign investors based on their

⁴⁸ The authors define redistribution as the relative reduction in market income inequality through personal income taxes, employees' social security contributions and cash transfers. They use household-level surveys for their analysis for the working-age population.

source of income). Direct taxes affect the trends and patterns observed in disposable income, since disposable income is defined as market income adjusted for direct taxes and (cash) transfers.

5.2.1.1 Personal Income Taxes

In practice, personal income taxes are generally progressive and equalising, and most countries operate a progressive PIT at least on employment income, taxing individuals in proportion to their ability

to pay.⁴⁹ Duncan and Sabirianova Peter (2016) provide cross-country evidence covering the period 1981-2005 for a panel of 151 countries showing that the progressive structure of personal income tax is equalising.⁵⁰ In a study of four SSA countries,⁵¹ Gemmel and Morrisey (2005) also find that personal income tax is progressive. O'Donoghue et al. (2004) come to the same conclusion for a sample of 12 EU countries, finding that PIT is more equalising than social security contributions. Causa and Hermasen (2020) find that personal income tax plays a relatively large role in reducing income inequality compared to cash transfers in countries that achieve comparatively little redistribution overall through direct tax and cash transfers, such as Japan, South Korea, Israel and the US.

PIT is less equalising in lower- and middleincome countries due to the limited coverage of the tax system resulting from the high degree of employment informality, low compliance and associated challenges in these contexts.⁵² Inchauste and Lustig (2017) show that direct taxes are generally progressive and equalising in eight LICs and LMICs,53 though the impact on reducing market income inequality, measured by the Gini coefficient, is modest and varies across countries, from almost zero to nearly 5 percentage points. It is only sizeable in Ethiopia (an LIC) and South Africa (a UMIC); in the rest, the equalising impact of PIT is very small. Similarly, Rossignolo (2017) shows a reduction of about 5 percentage points in the Gini in Argentina (a UMIC).

The level of progressivity and the actual impact on income distribution and poverty depends on further elements of policy

design. This includes the tax base, tax rate structure (number and location of tax brackets and level of marginal rates), exemptions and allowances affecting the tax base, the presence and design of tax credits,⁵⁴ compliance and administration. The setting of marginal tax rates and thresholds, in theory, balances revenue raising and equity

⁴⁹ With higher amounts being collected from high-income individuals and marginal tax rates increasing with income.

⁵⁰ Their main contribution is to show that the equalising impact is larger for income-based Ginis than for consumption-based Ginis, and the gap is larger in contexts with weaker legal institutions.

⁵¹ Côte d'Ivoire, Guinea, Madagascar and Tanzania.

⁵² The potential impact of PIT on distribution is typically correlated with formal employment since employer withholding is often simpler to administer. Jensen (2022) shows that LICs and LMICs are likely to have a higher share of self-employed in lower income deciles relative to employees, reducing the (earned income) tax base.

⁵³ These are Armenia, Ethiopia, Georgia, Indonesia, Jordan, Russia, South Africa and Sri Lanka. See Figure 1.4 of Inchauste and Lustig (2017) for a detailed quantification of the effect of each tax and spending instrument modelled on income inequality across countries.

⁵⁴ These are usually called earned income tax credits (EITCs), which transfer money to taxpayers on low taxable earned income (more common in HICs). Unintended effects sometimes occur, including on labour supply (de Mooij, 2008) or from benefits captured by employers (Rothstein, 2010). However, recent evidence from Hoynes (2019) shows that, in the US, EITCs target low-income households effectively, reducing poverty while incentivising work and improving the lifelong outcomes of children of these households.

objectives with any effect employment taxes may have on incentives to work (and therefore economic growth), evasion and avoidance.

The desirable or appropriate level of the top marginal income tax rate is particularly controversial. This is because there is still no conclusive evidence about its negative impact on economic growth, and whether this outweighs the distributional gains.

Some economists have found that higher tax rates harm innovation and entrepreneurship, and hence economic growth (see, for instance, Akcigit et al., 2022), while others have proposed that the distributional gains of a progressive labour income tax structure outweigh the efficiency losses from disincentivising labour supply (see, for example, Saez, 2001). Piketty et al. (2014) have argued that taxing top incomes at a higher rate will incentivise managers to focus their efforts on productive activities rather than on bargaining to achieve higher net pay. This is consistent with the findings of Gerber et al. (2020), who find that increasing tax progressivity reduces pre-tax income inequality, and that there is no evidence that the progressivity of PIT is associated with lower economic growth.

Top marginal income tax rates have decreased over time since the 1980s across various countries, affecting the progressivity of the system whilst having no observed impact on economic growth (IMF, 2017; Alvaredo et al., 2018; Gerber et al., 2020). IMF (2017) and Gerber et al. (2020) document that the progressivity of the personal tax system declined in the 1980s and 1990s, and has remained stable since then. This coincided with the decline in top marginal tax rates in OECD countries from 62% in 1981 to 35% in 2015. Often, reforms since the 1990s have increased the exemption threshold, shifting the tax burden towards the middle of the distribution (Gerber et al., 2020). McNabb and Granger (2021) also find decreasing top marginal employment income tax rates in Africa. Klemm et al. (2018) have explored potential rationales for the decreasing trend in top marginal tax rates and have not found any rationale consistent with efficiency considerations, arguing that it must be driven by political factors. According to several economists, the current top marginal rate across many countries is below the optimal growthmaximising level. For exmaple, Diamond and Saez (2011) argue that this should be 73% for the US, whilst Milasi and Waldman (2017) argue that it should be 60% for a group of 18 OECD countries. This suggests that there could be room to increase the top marginal income tax rates.

In practice, capital ownership concentration among higher-income individuals combined with less progressive taxes on capital income tends to increase income inequality. Labour income is usually taxed at higher rates than capital income, as most countries have dual systems that combine a progressive system for earned (employment) income and a flat proportional rate for capital income (profits, dividends, interest, capital gains). Because capital ownership is concentrated among individuals at the top of the income distribution, this structure usually makes the system less progressive. For example, Advani and Summers (2020) show that effective average tax rates (EATRs), i.e. the percentage of annual income individuals pay on taxes: (1) are much lower than headline rates for UK taxpayers with incomes above £100,000; (2) are regressive at high levels of income or remuneration; and (3) vary by up to a factor of five across people with the same remuneration - depending on the source of income. Low EATRs almost exclusively benefit investors and business owners, rather than employed or self-employed earners.⁵⁵ In addition, the base for capital income tax is more difficult to measure, making it easier to avoid taxes.

Economists have not formed a consensus about whether it is better to tax capital and labour income together using the same progressive schedule, or to tax capital at a lower flat rate. The former is the most progressive option. At the same time, it would ensure that: (1) entrepreneurial income is taxed neutrally (self-employed people can otherwise label their income as capital to pay lower taxes); and (2) different types of capital income are taxed uniformly (in particular, capital gains and interest versus dividends), minimising behaviour distortions. However, it is also the most complicated to implement (Abdel-Kader and de Mooij, 2020) and may disincentivise investment and savings more strongly if the tax base is not reformed to minimise these distortions.⁵⁶ Closely related to this is the idea that taxing corporate profits (CIT) acts as a backstop to PIT, since individuals may try to avoid paying PIT by concealing their personal income as income from a corporation.

The design of income tax breaks, which are not well-targeted and benefit the betteroff disproportionally, often affects the distributional impact of PIT, rendering it less progressive. Joumard et al. (2012) show that, in OECD countries, despite personal

income taxes being progressive overall, their progressivity is often dampened by tax breaks for childcare, savings for retirement, health and education expenditure and owner-occupied housing.⁵⁷ Redonda and Axelson (2021) find that pension-related tax breaks in South Africa are regressive and unequalising. Evidence from Mexico shows that personal income tax breaks are not well-targeted (Hannan et al., 2020). Forgone tax revenues due to tax breaks (so-called tax expenditures) are often opaque, and their oftenregressive redistributive impact has traditionally been overlooked. However, recently they are being placed at the centre of the debate on tax reform to tackle revenue mobilisation in a fair way (see, for instance, Redonda et al., 2021).

The redistributive impact of personal income taxes is, quite likely, overestimated as many top income earners may have access to aggressive tax planning tools or are more likely to be able to hide their income from tax authorities, resulting in higher rates of avoidance and evasion. This argument is elaborated in Alstadsæter et al. (2019) in the context of Scandinavian countries and discussed more generally for other contexts, including lower-income countries. Kangave et al. (2018) show that, in Uganda, only 5% of the directors of the top taxpaying companies were paying PIT around 2015, and only a third of a sample of top lawyers were remitting income tax payments. The authors describe how administrative efforts to

⁵⁵ Advani and Summers (2020) suggest that the regressivity, the distortion of people's choices about how to work and the revenue losses from taxing varying sources of income at different rates are not unambiguously compensated by benefits in terms of entrepreneurship and investment.

⁵⁶ This could be achieved by reforming the base by, for example, implementing a cash flow approach where 100% of investments and savings can be deducted up-front and income is taxed when it is received (Mirrlees et al., 2011; Adam and Miller, 2021).

⁵⁷ See Toder et al. (2016) for an analysis of individual income tax expenditures in the US, and Committee for Economic Development of Australia (CEDA, 2015) for an analysis of tax-free contributions to company pension plans in Australia.

improve the compliance of identified high-networth individuals in Uganda generated significant increases in revenue collection from PIT. Jouste et al. (2021) find that taxable income elasticities are higher for higher-income taxpayers in Uganda, suggesting they are better able to shift income across tax bases and hide it from the tax authority. Their average estimate of taxable income elasticity for wage earners is larger than existing estimates from HICs. This suggests that tax avoidance may be a larger problem in contexts with low state capacity.

LIC and LMIC personal income tax systems are generally progressive and equalising overall, but can be poverty-increasing. In

some countries poor households in the bottom deciles are liable for PIT due to the lack of inwork EITCs and very low or non-existent tax-free allowance thresholds, which can be at or below the poverty line (McNabb and Granger, 2021). This was the case in Ethiopia (Hill et al., 2017), although a reform in 2016 increased the income level of the exemption threshold and of all the income brackets to catch up with inflation (Hirvonen et al., 2018). In Argentina, Rossignolo (2017) shows that taxes imposed on earned income⁵⁸ increase the number of households below the poverty line, mainly driven by income tax levied on the self-employed. The importance of choosing an appropriate, inflation-adjusted PIT threshold in the form of a zero-tax bracket or a tax credit⁵⁹

cannot be overstated when considering equity and poverty-reducing goals.⁶⁰ While the threshold must be set above the poverty line, it needs to be balanced against the possibility of undermining coverage and tax revenues.⁶¹

National social insurance contributions are considered as lifetime savings schemes, but the incidence of contributions can also affect the net impact on income inequality. National insurance contributions (NICs) tend to be treated as deferred income rather than taxation,⁶² or are modelled together with PIT (as employment income taxes). There is limited evidence on the incidence of NICs in lower-income countries. However, in the OECD, one study found that, while employment income taxes have become more progressive, including cutting NICs or increasing relief for low-income earners, NICs tend to be regressive in most countries (Joumard et al., 2012). NICs are typically levied at a flat rate proportional to income and are therefore more neutral in principle, but in lower-income countries may be more progressive since they tend to be paid by people in relatively higher-paid, formal employment. Like PIT, the design of allowances, thresholds and rates may make NICs more, or less, progressive. UK NICs, for example, are found to be broadly progressive, except for those at the top of the income scale (the 10th income decile) (IFS, 2021). Section 5.2.2 discusses the effect of national insurance schemes on inequality over the lifecycle.

⁵⁸ PIT, a tax for the self-employed, and social security contributions.

Tax credits are more progressive in principle than deductions since the value of the latter depends on the top marginal rate faced by the taxpayer, whereas tax credits are income-tested and hence better targeted at lower-income individuals. Although they are more difficult to implement, more policy advisors are advocating for the introduction of tax credits to increase the registration of taxpayers even if earning low incomes in lower- and middle-income countries (see, for example, World Bank, 2021; Ghana Country Economic Memorandum).

⁶⁰ There is no clear set of principles around the level of income at which individuals should be taxed, only an optimal taxation literature, which does not really discuss poverty alleviation.

⁶¹ Abdel-Kader and de Mooij (2020) show that, in some LICs and LMICs, the threshold is too high, at twice GDP per capita.

⁶² See, for example, Lustig (2018), Chapter 10.

5.2.1.2 Corporate income tax

Empirical evidence on the incidence of this tax on workers and capital owners (and therefore on income inequality)

is inconclusive. This is due to the complex mediating mechanisms, including labour and capital mobility and wage bargaining institutions. Although corporate income tax is paid by firms, in effect the burden of the tax will be borne by individuals in the form of lower dividend income received by shareholders and employment income by workers or by consumers by facing higher prices, depending on the degree of pass-through in each case.

Traditionally it was thought that capital owners, who are disproportionately rich, would bear the lion's share of the CIT burden, making CIT a progressive and equalising tax. However, recent evidence from periods of high capital mobility challenge this. Some estimates suggest workers are likely to bear a significant proportion of the CIT (around one half) in the form of lower wages, although this varies across types of workers (skill, gender and age), labour market institutions and firms (Arulampalam et al., 2012; Fuest et al., 2017). Other estimates from the US suggest that firms' owners and shareholders bear 40% of the tax burden, whilst workers and landowners bear 30-35% and 25-30%, respectively (Suarez Serrato and Zidar, 2016). Consumers are likely to bear some of the burden of CIT in the form of higher prices (Baker et al., 2020). Some economists argue that another important mechanism leading to CIT being less equalising is its negative impact on the corporate sector, inducing a shift of economic activity towards more non-corporate firms that are riskier, leading to higher income dispersion and hence more income inequality (Hines, 2020).

Corporate income taxes can still be progressive and equalising, even in a world of capital mobility, if countries coordinate, because of its role as a backstop (or withholding device) to personal income taxation. In the last four decades, in the face of international tax competition and a race to the bottom with the aim of attracting multinational corporate activity, statutory corporate income tax rates have been reduced significantly, albeit not resulting in lower tax revenues (Abramovsky et al., 2014; Steel and Nair, 2021). Global average rates fell from 49% in 1985 to 24% in 2018. Effective rates also declined, but by less due to changes to the tax base (Chancel et al., 2022). Several economists emphasise that lower CIT rates make systems less progressive because high-income individuals have incentives to incorporate to shift income from personal income to corporate income tax bases and minimise tax payments (Saez and Zucman, 2019; Adam and Miller, 2021; Chancel et al., 2022). They argue that the rise in income inequality in the US and other countries is closely linked to a reduction in efforts to tax corporate incomes, and more generally income from capital. A recent agreement signed by over 130 countries to impose a minimum tax of 15% on multinationals is a step in the right direction to minimise an international race to the bottom, complementing other efforts to harmonise the tax base by OECD countries. Some argue that 15% is still too low, however, as it is below average rates of personal income tax and CIT in many countries as (Steel and Nair, 2021; Chancel et al., 2022).

5.2.1.3 Wealth/property taxes

While the evidence on the distributional impact of taxes on immovable property is limited, studies have shown mixed effects on income inequality and poverty. The effect depends on design parameters such as the tax base definition, the distribution of property along the income distribution and the tax structure. Taxes on property are one type of wealth tax. Others include tax on transfers of wealth (e.g. inheritance tax), tax on increases in the value of wealth (capital gains) or taxes on the value or ownership of assets (e.g. land and property). Wealth taxes can be levied as a one-off tax or on an annual basis. Two examples of regressive and poverty-increasing property taxes can be found in Ethiopia (Hill et al., 2017; Komatsu et al., 2021) and Greece (Andriopoulou et al., 2020). In Ethiopia, rural land use fees and agricultural income tax, effectively a type of property tax since these are levied on landholders and assessed according to the area of agricultural land, is found to be regressive, unequalising and poverty-increasing.⁶³ Journard et al. (2012) found that real estate taxes can be regressive when measured as a share of income in several OECD countries, although they are progressive in absolute terms in that they collect a higher amount from better-off households. In contrast, Cancho and Bondarenko (2017) find that local property taxes in Georgia are progressive and equalising. This is because the tax base is defined by the market value of property and land holdings, but the tax rate structure is progressive, with exemptions based on the income earned by the family using a progressive tax rate structure.

In summary, property taxes can raise some revenue to fund local service provision but

there are important issues to consider when designing and administering them that can affect their distributional impact.⁶⁴ In terms of administration, calculating the tax base requires a good system of cadastral valuation, which is costly, but there are new approaches to reduce these costs. In terms of equity and poverty, there are concerns regarding who pays the tax (i.e. owner or occupier), the issue of ability to pay and liquidity issues related to taxpayers having a high-value asset but low income, as well as the design of the rate structure.

There is scarce evidence on the impact of other wealth taxes on income inequality.⁶⁵

Taxes on broader measures of wealth (like net wealth taxes with a base comprising all types of assets, including property) or on the transfer of wealth have the potential to raise revenues from those with higher ability to pay to fund equalising social spending, addressing income, opportunities and wealth inequalities (Advani et al., 2020; Berg and Hebous, 2021; OECD, 2021). However, economists disagree on whether a well-designed tax system should include wealth taxes. The reasons for this disagreement are complex and include administrative and compliance challenges along with potential distortions to savings, evasion and migration behaviour (see, for instance, Adam and Miller, 2021; OECD, 2021; Pineda et al., 2021; Scheuer and Slemrod, 2021). A credible one-off wealth tax would avoid such distortions. Taxing

<sup>In Ethiopia all landholders are liable, and the rate structure implies that small landholders (owning less than 0.5 hectares) pay more in taxes per hectare than larger landholders. Rates can vary across areas based on several dimensions, including whether a kebele is eligible for social assistance, crop value and presence of irrigation.
Property taxes are considered to introduce less behavioural distortion than other wealth taxes since the tax</sup>

base is more inelastic, i.e. it will respond less to taxation.

⁶⁵ There is a small emerging body of evidence about the impact of wealth taxes on income inequality. Berg and Hebous (2021) find that parental wealth inequality can increase inequality of the next generation in terms of both wealth and income inequality, and that a wealth tax can mitigate this effect in the context of Norway. They argue that, in countries with weaker provision of public health and education services, which tend to be equalising, the effect could be even stronger.

wealth on an annual basis introduces further questions, for example around the difficulties of implementing annual wealth assessments and whether that wealth has been taxed when earned through income tax, or when it is spent through consumption taxes, and hence why one would want to tax it again. In any case, to the extent that all taxes are imperfect, they can act as a way of diversifying revenue sources to prevent any given tax from becoming too high if administration costs do not outweigh the benefits (Adam and Miller, 2021). Taxing the transfer of wealth based on the amount received by the recipient can be better for savings and induce positive labour supply responses and charitable donations (OECD, 2021).⁶⁶

5.2.2 Direct cash transfers

Fiscal incidence studies show that cash transfers account for most of the redistribution achieved through fiscal policy via direct and indirect taxes, cash transfers and indirect subsidies (the 'cash portion' of fiscal policy) across countries. As noted in Section 5.1, in OECD countries evidence suggests that, of all the redistribution achieved through direct taxes and cash transfers, the latter account for the vast majority (Joumard et al., 2012). In low- and middle-income countries, studies show that direct cash transfers are the main driver among the cash portion of fiscal policy (taxes, cash transfers and indirect subsidies) in reducing income inequality and alleviating poverty (Lustig, 2018). The literature also suggests that cash transfers have the potential to improve individuals' equality of opportunity and, hence, have an impact on reducing inequality across generations.

Globally, cash transfer instruments have varying impacts on income inequality and poverty depending on their financing and design, beneficiaries' response to the transfers and the underlying income distribution. Key aspects of transfer design include whether they are contributory or noncontributory, and whether they are means-tested, targeted or available to the entire population (i.e. universal). Other important factors include the size of the transfer and how well-targeted it is in terms of reaching only intended beneficiaries, for instance those with lower incomes. The net impact also depends on the incidence of taxation or contributions used to finance transfers. While most non-contributory schemes tend to be financed by general taxes, formal social security contributions by employers and employees may also be used to finance transfers, as in the case of Brazil's Benefício de Prestação Continuada transfer to poor persons with disabilities and the elderly (Medeiro et al., 2006; Wapling et al., 2020). Equally, contributory schemes like social insurance pensions are accessed only by individuals who have contributed over their working lives and may include a minimum pension guarantee financed implicitly through taxes (Palacios and Robalino, 2020). If benefits are disconnected

⁶⁶ A recent study by the UK Wealth Tax Commission, led by the London School of Economics (Advani et al., 2020), showed public support for a wealth tax (preference for any increase in tax to be from wealth rather than income) and estimated that a one-off tax of 1% (charged over five years on wealth >£500,000) could raise revenues by the same as an increase in basic marginal income tax from 20% to 29%. In addition, they argue a one-off tax is efficient and 'relatively progressive'. They also suggest including a deferment provision for the 'asset-rich, cash-poor'. Regarding an annual wealth tax, due to difficulties in doing an annual assessment of wealth, which can keep changing, they recommend reforming existing taxes such as inheritance tax, capital gains tax and council tax, unless the objective is wealth redistribution (or limiting wealth accumulation), in which case a full annual wealth tax would be more effective.

from contributions, NICs can become, in effect, a second income tax, as in the UK, where the National Insurance Fund is used to reduce national debt in surplus years and is topped up from general taxation during a deficit (IFS, 2021).

The size of the transfer combined with the targeting mechanism is key in determining the first-order direct impact of schemes on income redistribution and poverty reduction.

For example, in some countries cash transfers are highly progressive but have a small equalising effect because they represent a small share of households' income, as in Panama, Paraguay and Peru, achieving less than half a percentage point reduction between the Gini coefficient before and after transfers (Amaranta and Brun, 2018). In other countries, better transfer adequacy translates into a larger impact on income inequality, as in Mexico and Brazil (Soares et al., 2009). In Ethiopia, the evidence shows that the two main transfer schemes, the Productive Safety Net Program (PSNP) direct cash transfer scheme and the near-cash transfer programme providing food aid, are both progressive, equalising and pro-poor, with over 58% of the benefits going to households below the national poverty line (Inchauste and Lustig, 2017). However, there are concerns about their effectiveness, related to both targeting and adequacy.67

The design of cash transfers has changed over time across countries, contributing more to reducing/addressing income

inequality and poverty in several emerging economies and some middleincome countries, whilst reducing their redistributive impact in OECD countries. This is the case in a range of Latin American countries (Amaranta and Brun, 2018; Balestra et al., 2018) where conditional cash transfers targeted to the poor using means-testing have expanded significantly. Payments in these cases tend to be conditioned on certain behaviours thought to foster the human capital development needed to break the intergenerational transmission of poverty (like the pioneering scheme Progresa in Mexico and Bolsa Familia in Brazil). In Brazil, cash transfers, combined with other policies (crucially the 128% increase in the real minimum wage between 1996 and 2012), have been key in the reduction of poverty and income inequality (Brito and Kerstenetzky, 2019; Engbom and Moser, 2021). In OECD countries, the size of cash transfers has been reduced, reducing their impact on income redistribution (Causa and Hermasen, 2020). This has been driven particularly by less redistributive transfers to workless individuals or individuals who do not have a long-term employee contract with access to social insurance.

There is growing debate about the merits of poverty-targeted transfers versus universal cash transfers. Universal transfers are available to anyone, i.e. they do not impose any condition for eligibility, and are usually paid to individuals rather than households; universal basic income (UBI) schemes are one example. Transfers that are

⁶⁷ The PSNP is more effective at reducing inequality and poverty than the food aid programme, which is an emergency scheme with higher targeting errors. However, its adequacy seems very low. The size of the transfers as a share of market income of poorest households is around 20% for the PSNP. This is low compared to those offered by other middle-income countries like Armenia, Argentina and South Africa or the high-income country Uruguay, but higher than in Indonesia and Peru, for example. Sabates-Wheeler et al. (2021) document that the PSNP, despite being a large-scale social protection programme that has alleviated deep poverty and prevented people from becoming destitute, has failed to sustainably lift people out of poverty due to limited funds and administrative capacity.

targeted use criteria to define eligibility. Targeting could be categorical, which often uses observable criteria, such as age or geography. Means-tested transfers are those for which eligibility (and sometimes transfer size) is based on assessed income, but this requires a system to define, measure and verify income or economic 'means'. Where direct means testing is not feasible, proxy means tests may use observable characteristics that are assumed (or estimated to be) correlated with income (or means). In practice, countries use a combination of schemes with a variety of targeting criteria to provide social protection, like old-age pensions and child benefits combined with means-tested transfers.⁶⁸

When considering whether to implement a universal or targeted scheme, a key factor in policy choice is determining who should be included or excluded. This is sometimes confused with inclusion and exclusion error, which is a measure of programme effectiveness, based on its design. A country's policy choice will be based on attitudes to fairness and the role of the state, determining who should qualify for assistance, who is 'deserving' or 'undeserving'. The design of a programme should then reflect those choices through either a universal approach or a more targeted approach using categorical data, means tests or other criteria or processes to identify and assist those eligible. Inclusion and exclusion error refers to the programme in place and how well it is implemented in practice, rather than a comparison with a counterfactual programme with different aims or advocacy position.⁶⁹ The share of those deemed eligible by virtue of the design of a programme but not receiving the benefit can be described as exclusion error (known in UK government programmes, for instance, as the 'entitled non-recipient'). Inclusion error refers to someone not eligible by design but receiving the benefit (or 'non-entitled recipient').

Under a budget-neutral scenario, povertytargeted transfers can focus resources where they are needed most, to achieve a deeper impact on poverty and income inequality. But this may introduce perverse incentives, is typically more administratively complex, and does not cover the vulnerable and non-poor, relative to universal transfers (Coady and Le, 2020; Gentilini et al., 2020). Negative labour supply effects from means-tested transfers are a long-standing concern. Negative real employment effects have been observed in HICs if transfers have an employment focus (Immervoll et al., 2007; IMF, 2017), but are less prevalent in non-HICs for a range of reasons, including slow withdrawal of benefits in practice or no implementation of benefit withdrawal at all but high levels of unregistered (or informal)

⁶⁸ MacLeod et al. (2021) highlight the importance of flexible targeting to include cultural idiosyncrasies as the PSNP does in Ethiopia, which relies on community-level decision-making to identify beneficiaries, achieving low-cost and high-accuracy targeting.

⁶⁹ For example, Devereux (2021) uses this definition: 'Inclusion error is defined as the proportion of programme beneficiaries who are not eligible. Exclusion error is defined as the proportion of people who are eligible but not reached by the programme ... Consider a country with 2 million residents, 800,000 of whom are poor (poverty = 40 per cent). A poverty-targeted programme, which in theory aims at benefiting 800,000 poor residents, delivers cash transfers to 700,000 people, 500,000 of whom are poor while 200,000 are not poor. Inclusion error in this programme is 29 per cent (200,000/700,000). Exclusion error is 38 per cent (300,000/800,000)'.

employment.⁷⁰ Evidence from non-HIC contexts suggests that means-tested transfers induce a reduction in formal employment or formal earnings since often this is used for verification of means, but there is no conclusive evidence that cash transfers reduce overall labour supply and hours of work (Bosch and Manacorda, 2012; Bastagli et al., 2016; Banerjee et al., 2017).⁷¹ They can also have positive effects on productive investments, activities and savings, counteracting potential individual beneficiaries' disincentives to, for example, work formally or informally (Bastagli et al., 2016; Banerjee et al., 2017), and lead to increases in local formal employment (Gerard et al., 2021) or local agricultural activity (Correa et al., 2021). Means-tested cash transfers depend on sophisticated and robust administrative capacity and the ability of beneficiaries to participate and comply, which is costly and generally weaker in low- and middle-income countries.72 Social costs relate to beneficiary stigma and political costs involve loss of support from the middle classes for redistribution (Coady and Le, 2020).

Means-tested targeting schemes can be designed to include built-in features to mitigate some of their disadvantages, including perverse incentives. For example, earned income tax credits are known to incentivise labour supply among beneficiaries, rather than disincentivising it (Eissa and Hoynes, 2006). Public works schemes, which are usually povertytargeted, require that beneficiaries work in a community or public project in order to access the schemes, mitigating the disincentives to work for the duration of the programme (Orkin et al., 2022). These are attractive schemes, particularly where there are public goods arising from well-targeted public works programmes, such as forests or irrigation systems (e.g. Ethiopia's PSNP). The effectiveness of public works programmes depends, however, on a range of factors, including who can work or comes forward for work and whether the work displaces private employment. Increasing the lumpiness of the transfer (granting a one-off payment as opposed to the same amount in monthly payments) may allow households to invest in productive assets and expand economic activities (Orkin et al., 2022). The duration of the transfer can be extended to a year or longer rather than monthly, helping smooth risks for recipients who often face seasonal income fluctuations common in agricultural activities. For example, in Oportunidades (Mexico), eligibility is assessed every three years, and in Chile's Solidario, people can stay in the programme for up to five years (Orkin et al., 2022).

There are a host of administrative and delivery challenges that can affect the poverty and inequality impact and costeffectiveness of poverty-targeted cash transfers. Targeting and its associated delivery technology in LICs and LMICs is still highly imperfect, and is in need of further improvement.

⁷⁰ If benefits are withdrawn too quickly as earned income raises, this may generate a disincentive to work (formally). To mitigate this, many of these countries increasingly condition eligibility on participation in the (formal) labour market, and are introducing an EITC (or wage subsidies), discussed in Section 5.2.1.1.

⁷¹ More recent evidence from Uruguay finds that a shift to both informal employment and inactivity drive the observed decreases in formal employment (Bergolo and Cruces, 2021).

⁷² The more indirect the way of targeting the poor used, as is the case in contexts of low administrative capacity, the more likely it is that poor individuals and households will not be covered by the system and many non-poor will benefit from it, i.e. the higher the leakage to the non-poor (see, for instance, Ravallion, 2017; Brown et al., 2018; Lustig, 2018).

Identifying the population in need is a difficult task. The delivery of payments and monitoring of conditionalities in the context of conditional cash transfers is costly and presents its own challenges, which can also affect the cost-effectiveness of schemes in achieving poverty and income inequality reductions. For example, Robles et al. (2019) estimate that, in Latin America and the Caribbean, conditional cash transfers and noncontributory pension schemes are underused by the poor, including the extreme poor. These two types of schemes cover only 50% of extreme poor households with children under 18 and of households with elderly members with no contributory pensions. At the same time, around 50% of recipients are non-poor households. The authors argue that there is a need to improve targeting mechanisms. Related to this, OECD (2015) advocates for the use of single registries of vulnerable households to improve targeting and cost-effectiveness.73

Existing and emerging technologies are being employed to overcome some of these administrative barriers, some of which were deployed or expanded during the Covid-19 pandemic. Some countries have developed databases or censuses of individuals defined as poor, which have been used to distribute assistance. Examples include Chile's ID-linked basic account for the poor and India's Public Distribution System, designed to promote food security through the provision of subsidised food grains to approximately 67% of the population. Where information did not exist already, to deliver emergency response during the pandemic collection efforts were employed to identify and enrol under-served groups, including selfregistration.⁷⁴ Mobile money platforms were also used in some countries for cash transfers. Some data gaps and systems pre-Covid have therefore been filled through the process of crisis response, which may have longer-term benefits in assisting the vulnerable in future. Such technology solutions carry risks, however, including loss of transparency, data misuse or privacy violations, or errors in selection criteria, particularly if they require access to the internet or a smartphone.⁷⁵

Universal transfers (or universal basic income schemes) address most of the disadvantages of means-testing and help provide income protection for all, but achieving adequacy is expensive. As discussed in Section 2.4, provision of universal social protection floors for all countries is recommended for the achievement of SDG1.3 by 2030. This includes access to universal basic protections to cover loss of income in at least four areas: children, maternity, disability and old age. The cost of achieving SDG1.3 by 2030 (considering Covid-19 effects) was estimated by Durán-Valverde et al. (2020) at 3.3% of GDP across 134 LIC. This represents 8.5% of GDP in LICs, 3.4% in LMICs and 3.2% in UMICs. Considering the investment already made in social protection across countries, the study found the financing gap to be approximately 7.4% of GDP in LICs, 2.4% in LMICs and 2.1% in UMICs. If healthcare is also

⁷³ Uzbekistan has recently introduced a Single Registry for Social Protection, which integrates electronically all information management functions across all schemes in the country including registration, targeting, enrolment, payment and case and grievance management, as well as a monitoring and reporting module that feed backs to policy-makers (Chirchir and Kibicho, 2021). The registry has been central in facilitating the fiscal response to the Covid-19 pandemic.

⁷⁴ Pakistan encouraged vulnerable individuals to text for assistance (McKinsey, 2021).

⁷⁵ In Bihar State in India, support to migrant workers required ID validation through a phone app.

included, the gaps rise to 15.9%, 5.1% and 3.1%, respectively. Financing needs as a share of GDP are likely to increase towards 2030.

Expansion towards universal social floors may be feasible in the medium term in UMICs and LMICs, but unlikely in LICs. Since social protection systems are typically financed through a combination of tax-funded non-contributory schemes and contributory social insurance systems, Durán-Valverde et al. (2020) estimate the potential for these schemes to be expanded to cover financing gaps. They find that contributory social insurance systems have the potential to expand up to 1.2% of GDP (0.4-08% in LICs). If achieved, this expansion could make a significant contribution towards meeting the financing gap in LMICs and UMICs, but much less in LICs. While tax revenues and external financing for social protection also have some potential to expand, as discussed earlier, these sources are also likely to be insufficient to provide universal coverage in the near future, particularly for LICs. Over time, as institutional and fiscal capacities develop, the limited resources available will need to be allocated in the most cost-effective way to provide partial coverage fairly, and in line with the most urgent policy priorities.

Universal cash transfers, or UBI schemes, can also lead to employment-related disincentives or can be difficult to justify due to inclusion of the 'undeserving'. Some argue that universal benefits can make people lazy, but lessons from large-scale nearly universal transfers suggest that these risks are modest if present at all, and these schemes can generate a range of other positive effects by enabling, for example, investment in children (Banerjee et al., 2019; Gentilini et al., 2020). Advocates of UBI schemes usually argue that they should be implemented alongside progressive personal income tax systems to claw back transfers from beneficiaries on higher incomes, which would in effect have the same result as a means-tested cash transfer. All in all, there is still limited experience to understand the wider effects of universal cash transfers. A few countries are experimenting with basic income, though not necessarily *universal* basic income. Most are limited to samples of a few thousand people, based on locality or preferred target groups.⁷⁶

In practice, the net benefits of universal basic income will vary from country to country, depending on how it compares to existing schemes' coverage and adequacy.

The merits of introducing UBI will depend on a range of factors, including how well the existing safety net is working in terms of coverage and progressivity, how it is financed (which will also affect its net distributional and poverty effect), the impact on labour supply and the administrative capacity to implement more complex mechanisms of targeting (IMF, 2017). According to simulations by the IMF (2017), replacing existing means-tested schemes with budget-neutral UBI in countries like the UK and France, with good coverage and high progressivity through direct cash transfers and EITC, could be detrimental to poverty reduction and income equality. In a country like Brazil, with high progressivity and low coverage, UBI could provide better coverage but at the cost of harming a high proportion of low-income beneficiaries of the means-tested scheme. In Bolivia, with an existing scheme with poor coverage and low progressivity, a weak PIT system and weak administrative capacity, UBI could provide a powerful tool for poverty and extreme poverty alleviation, although its net redistributive effect is unclear ex-ante. If the system is working well

in terms of income redistribution and there are funds available, a UBI could be introduced as an additional policy to act as a method of reducing automation-driven job insecurity or of sharing social dividends (Gentilini et al., 2020).

A more cost-effective middle way may be categorical targeting to achieve coverage closer to universality and potentially avoid the disadvantages of poverty targeting.

Some experts argue that categorical targeting would achieve better social policies, particularly in countries with low administrative capacity and inefficient fine targeting schemes (Brown et al., 2018; Evans, 2022). Furthermore, when budget constraints are not binding, categorical transfers may be costlier than fine poverty targeting but achieve better social support (especially from the middle classes) for poverty-alleviating schemes (Sen, 1995). Brown et al. (2018) suggest that the best alternative may be state-contingent basic income, which is similar to categorical poverty indicators. In practice, categorical targeting will have less than universal coverage, may leave some poor households and people out by design and may also suffer from the same inclusion and exclusion errors as poverty-targeting.

Employment-based contributory social insurance schemes play an important role in tackling inequality and providing income protection, but are inadequate for situations of long-term unemployment, more casual contracting arrangements and informality.

The highest reductions in inequality have been achieved by countries that invest in universal social security, but examples from the Asia-Pacific region indicate that, without a well-designed universal system, significant populations are excluded and or well-covered by non-contributory transfers (Kidd et al., 2022). These concerns have led countries to expand their non-contributory social protection schemes.

National social insurance schemes are not all designed to reduce inequality, but the most equalising schemes are likely to combine a proportional contributory programme with a well-designed, non-contributory and targeted component. A synthesis of five studies in Latin America, which assessed the impact of social security on income distribution and inequality on a lifetime basis, found that: (1) programmes with pension benefits proportional to contributions have little impact on inequality over the lifecycle, but provide useful income protection against adversity (e.g. Mexico); (2) unfunded, defined-benefit programmes tend to redistribute among income groups, without reducing inequality overall (e.g. Argentina, Brazil); and (3) proportional contributory programmes combined with a well-designed non-contributory component for the lowest incomes (e.g. Chile) can have the greatest impact on inequality while avoiding labour market disincentives (Forteza, 2015). This finding is supported by Palacios and Robalino (2020), who advocate for integration of 'the insurance function (actuarially-fair risk pooling or savings) and the redistributive function (transfers) of the social protection system in order to expand coverage, improve equity, and reduce labour market distortions'. Local savings groups, which are relatively common in Africa,77 can also provide a form of informal social insurance. For example, Kenya's rotating savings groups (ROSCAs) have been used to enrol members in the national health insurance scheme (Oraro and Wyss, 2018).

⁷⁷ According to The Global Findex Database 2021 (Demirgüç-Kunt et al., 2022), 25% of adults in sub-Saharan Africa reported saving semi-formally using a community-based savings group.

In practice, countries typically implement a combination of different transfer schemes. Evidence suggests that the existing mix of schemes may not be optimal and can be **improved.** The mix of schemes ranges from narrow means-testing to categorical or virtually universal transfers and non-contributory or contributory transfers, varying in size and in their redistributional impacts. The most effective mix in practice will likely depend on how governments and societies choose to trade off context-specific costs and benefits. Factors affecting these choices include attitudes towards the role of the state and wider policy objectives (e.g. reduce absolute poverty and/or income inequality or ensure all children have free school meals), administrative capacity, fiscal space and how these transfers are financed, underlying income distribution and poverty levels, employment and other characteristics of individuals and households. We discuss implications for policy further in Section 6.

5.2.3 Indirect taxes

5.2.3.1 General consumption taxes General consumption taxes, such as sales or value added tax, have often been found to be regressive, in that richer households pay less as a proportion of their income than poorer households. For example, OECD (2014) finds that both VAT and excise taxes (alcohol, tobacco and transport fuels taxes) are regressive and unequalising for most of the 20 OECD countries in the study when considered as a share of income at a point in time. Cubero and Hollar (2010) find a similar result in Central America. Evidence also shows that indirect taxes are poverty-increasing in LMICs. Younger and Khachatryan (2017) find that, in Armenia, VAT and tobacco excise duties are mildly regressive and increase poverty substantially. Cancho and Bondarenko (2017) find that VAT is regressive and increases poverty in Georgia, and this is exacerbated by using exemptions or zero rates on goods that are not necessarily consumed proportionally more by households with the lowest income. Arunatilake et al. (2017) find that VAT is unequalising and poverty-increasing in Sri Lanka. Mesfin and Gao (2020) find that indirect taxes (VAT and excise duties combined) are progressive and equalising in Ethiopia, though also poverty-increasing.

VAT exemptions on essential goods are introduced to reduce the poverty and regressive impacts of VAT, but there may be more cost-effective policy instruments **available.** VAT exemptions are generally granted on goods and services thought to make up a greater proportion of the budgets of poorer households, such as basic foodstuffs and kerosene. However, the benefits accrue disproportionately to high-consumption households, who spend more in absolute terms on exempt and reduced rate goods and services. This means that it is an expensive policy choice in terms of revenues foregone for a relatively low impact on poverty.⁷⁸ For example, Warwick et al. (2021) find that preferential VAT rates and exemptions do reduce poverty overall, but are not well targeted towards poor households in Ethiopia, Ghana,

⁷⁸ Tax expenditure analyses show that exemptions and differential rates represent a substantial share of revenue loss across country income groups. Poniatowski et al. (2019) estimate that VAT systems in the EU levied on final consumption and household investment collect just above 50% of what they could collect in the case of perfect compliance due to reduced rates and exemptions. According to UNECA (2019), in Africa, among the 24 countries with adequate data, 12 had a VAT gap of 50% or more in 2018. The VAT gap is the total gap between potential and actual VAT revenues and is driven by both policy (exemptions and reduced or zero rates) and compliance factors.

Senegal, Zambia. They also find that existing cash transfer schemes are better targeted but have limited coverage in these countries, so are unsuitable for supporting broad-based VAT reform in these countries. An alternative, broader measure could be using 75% of the additional VAT revenue from the removed exemptions to fund a UBI, which could have overall large net gains for poor households and reduce inequality and most measures of extreme poverty in each of the countries studied.

When taking high levels of informality into account, VAT may not be so regressive, and may, in fact, be progressive. Recent evidence finds that the negative distributional impact of VAT dampens or even reverses when accounting for informality systematically in product markets, especially in low-income countries, implying that exempting goods, particularly foodstuffs, from VAT cannot be rationalised on equity grounds even in the absence of a strong transfer system in these contexts.⁷⁹ Bachas et al. (2021) find that consumption taxes can have a positive redistributive effect in low-income countries when informality is systematically taken into account.⁸⁰ Households with lower incomes tend to purchase goods and services from suppliers that are not VAT-registered, and this shields them from consumption taxes to a larger extent than richer households. Bachas et al. find that the impact is larger for the poorest countries. Households in the richest quintile face an effective tax rate that is twice that of the poorest quintile.

Finally, most economists agree that a broadbased VAT with minimal exemptions or alternative rates and a sufficiently high threshold is the best way to raise revenues and fund better-targeted spending policies to reduce inequality and poverty. Even where consumption taxes are regressive, the net distributional impact they have, as part of a broader fiscal system and the social spending they fund, is a more important factor. Although there seems to be a trade-off between equity and efficiency when taken as individual fiscal instruments, a consumption tax that is regressive, while being efficient in collecting revenue, may still form an important part of a more equalising and poverty-reducing fiscal system if it finances a well-targeted transfer system that more than compensates the poor (see, for example, Lustig (2018); Warwick et al. (2021)). At the same time, there is also broad consensus that VAT systems that are full of exemptions and differential rates, lacking a clear policy rationale, can also harm economic growth by introducing distortions and administrative challenges.⁸¹ These conclusions highlight the importance of thinking about this trade-off in the context of the overall tax and spend system.

5.2.3.2 Excise taxes

A key motivation for excise taxes is to change behaviour away from consumption of harmful goods or activities by altering relative prices to capture the wider costs to society (negative externalities). Market prices typically do not reflect the environmental damage

 ⁷⁹ It is now recognised that the distributional impact of consumption taxes should be assessed in relation to consumption expenditures, considered to be a better indicator of economic wellbeing than income, and this usually dampens or even reverses the negative distributional impact seen when assessed as a share of income.
 80 They consider 31 countries, mostly in sub-Saharan Africa and Latin America.

They consider 31 countries, mostly in sub-sanaran America and Latin America.

⁸¹ See, for instance, Abramovsky et al. (2018) and Acosta-Ormaechea and Morozumi (2021). The latter found that, in OECD countries, an increase in VAT revenues through removing exemptions and reduced rates is better for economic growth than achieving the same revenue through increasing the standard VAT rate.

from the consumption of fossil fuels or plastics, for example. Other examples include congestion, noise and traffic accidents from motor usage, or disease and ill-health caused by smoking and drinking alcohol. An indirect tax, designed to be commensurate with the wider cost of damage, is imposed on either the quantity consumed (a fixed amount is levied per unit of the product, as a specific or ad quantum tax) or on the value (ad valorem). The tax acts to 'internalise' the externality in consumer choices and supplier investment decisions. Since many of these goods are price inelastic (the quantity consumed is less responsive to changes in price) the resulting tax increase tends to yield additional revenue. 'Green' or environmental taxes are also thought to provide a 'double dividend' in terms of efficiency: they reduce negative externalities and are more efficient than other taxes. Cnossen (2020) argues that excise duties generally improve the efficient allocation of resources whilst being consistent with an equitable tax system. They can also be administered with relative ease compared to income and value added taxes.

Most excise taxes are poverty-increasing but their impact on income inequality is ambiguous, and product- and context-

specific. The impact of excise taxes on income inequality and poverty will depend on the goods on which they are imposed and how consumption patterns vary along the income or expenditure distribution. This is likely to be country-specific. If excise taxes are levied on goods that represent a higher proportion of expenditure for lower-income households, it will be regressive. At the

same time, if the price elasticity of demand is higher for these households, the desired impact on behaviour would be higher, and eventually the regressive impact could be dampened.

Motor fuels, motor vehicle ownership and road use are often progressive and equalising in LICs and LMICs given consumption patterns, although they can increase poverty. They tend to be regressive in richer countries. Advani et al. (2021b) find that environmental taxes are progressive in Ghana. Consistent with these findings, Kavuma et al. (2020) find that combined excise duties (sin duties, fuel duties and others)⁸² are progressive in Uganda, with vehicle fuel excise duties being the most progressive. Inchauste et al. (2017) find that fuel duty is equalising and poverty-increasing in South Africa. In Sri Lanka, Arunatilake et al. (2017) find that petroleum excises are mildly progressive and equalising, and poverty-increasing. Dorband et al. (2019) find that, in most lower-income countries, the first-order effect of an increase in carbon prices (some of them induced by excise duties) tends to be progressive, whilst in richer countries it tends to be regressive, given prevailing consumption patterns and more carbonised energy systems.

Sin taxes are usually regressive and povertyincreasing in most contexts in the short term. However, the long-run health benefits may outweigh the initial regressive impact on income. For example, recent evidence from basic fiscal incidence studies shows that excise duties levied on tobacco and alcohol are

Sin taxes are levied on alcoholic beverages and cigarettes and make up the largest share of the excise duties paid by the lowest deciles. Fuel excise consists of taxes on petrol, diesel and kerosene. They represent only 2% of total excises paid by decile one, and up to 69% paid by decile ten. Other excise duties include sugar, mineral water, soft drinks, fruit juices, other juices, mobile phone airtime, mobile payments and furniture. Most of the revenue comes from mobile phone airtime, paid mainly by households in the middle deciles.

regressive, unequalising and poverty-increasing (see Arunatilake et al., 2017, for Sri Lanka and Inchauste et al., 2017, for South Africa). Liquor taxes have been found to be progressive but poverty-increasing in South Africa (Inchauste et al., 2017). Allcot et al. (2019) argue that, in the US, taxes on sugar-sweetened beverages are also regressive given consumption patterns, but they can become less so when low-income households shift away from consuming these products, in turn increasing health outcomes and decreasing health expenditure for this group proportionally more. Evidence from Ukraine, Chile and South Africa is consistent with the idea that taxes on tobacco generate health gains that are larger than the tax liabilities in the long run (Fuchs et al., 2017; 2018; Fuchs and Meneses, 2017).

The potential negative impact of excise duties on income inequality and poverty could be addressed through cash transfers or other targeted social spending funded by revenues raised through these taxes.

Vogt-Scgilb et al. (2019) highlight the difficulty of introducing carbon taxes imposed on both CO, emissions and non-CO, greenhouse gas emissions (methane, nitrous oxide, and F gases) due to their direct effect on fossil fuels and electricity prices, and their indirect price effects on all goods and services that use these inputs, including food. This can increase poverty, but they argue that, in Latin America, given well-developed cash transfer systems, a share of the collected revenues can be used to fund cash transfers to compensate the poorest and most vulnerable households (sometimes referred to as 'revenue recycling'), whilst leaving extra revenues for other spending priorities. Similarly, Allcott et al. (2019) argue that sugar taxes are likely to be poverty-increasing and regressive in the short run because lowerincome households spend a higher proportion of their budget on sugar-sweetened products

and this effect could be dampened by revenue recycling used to fund cash transfers targeted to the poorest. In addition, they argue that overall consumption is likely to decrease as a result of the tax, leading to a smaller regressive effect and a positive health effect in the medium to long run. Beegle and de la Fuente (2019) support this view.

5.2.3.3 Trade taxes

On average, evidence seems to suggest that trade taxes, through their first-order impact on consumer prices, tend to increase poverty. Their impact on income inequality is more nuanced and depends on many factors, including differences between consumption patterns of rich and poor, the origin of imports and the tariff structure. The impact of trade tariffs on income inequality and poverty is difficult to model since data on whether goods and services consumed by households and individuals are imported, their quality, quantity and price, is not easily available. Their distributional impact depends on several factors, such as tariff structure and how consumption patterns vary across the income distribution. A broad increase in tariffs has a first-order impact on consumer prices, decreasing welfare across the income distribution, but the net effect on income inequality could be negligible. Evidence from the UK suggests that poorer households tend to consume more tradeable goods, while richer ones spend a higher proportion on imports, potentially netting out each other and having no significant impact on income inequality (Atkin, 2021). Evidence from middle-income countries suggests that a reduction in tariffs from goods imported from the NAFTA area has benefited higher-income individuals, since NAFTA countries and other advanced economies are relatively more efficient at producing and exporting goods consumed by the rich, like cars (Faber, 2014; Atkin, 2021). Evidence from Ghana shows that a reduction in

tariffs by 50% in 2019 led to a fall in consumer prices that reduced poverty but increased income inequality overall (Iddrisu, 2020).

Tariffs, like other consumption taxes, raise revenues. How this revenue is used can affect the overall impact of the tax and spending system on income inequality and poverty. Trade tariffs were traditionally used to raise revenue since they are relatively easy to collect at the border. Trade taxes are considered inefficient, however, since they impose a barrier to free trade and, by taxing imported goods and services, both final and intermediate, interfere with firms' choice of intermediate inputs and from where to source them (Diamond and Mirlees, 1971). Although these taxes still account for between 8% and 15% of total tax revenues in non-HICs, there has been a steady reduction in the share of revenues from trade taxes across all country groups on average in the face of globalisation and the harmonisation of tariff structures with lower, more standardised rates across countries arising from the proliferation of international, regional and bilateral trade agreements. Recent political trends towards nationalism have seen some push-back to this approach, leading to an increase in or reinstatement of trade taxes, including in the US (Carroll and Hur, 2022).

5.2.4 Indirect subsidies

Indirect subsidies are often found not to be pro-poor, although the results from studies are mixed. Indirect subsidies include price subsidies on the consumption of fossil fuels and other energy sources, water and sanitation services and food items. As with excise duties and trade taxes, their distributional impact depends on how consumption patterns vary across income deciles. Although some subsidies are progressive, equalising and poverty-reducing, as with VAT exemptions and lower VAT rates, they often have weak targeting properties and tend to perform much worse than targeted cash transfers and transfers in-kind in terms of reducing poverty and income inequality. This is because richer households consume larger quantities than households in the lower deciles, and hence the absolute value of subsidies accruing to the former is larger than that accruing to latter. (See Jouini et al. (2018) for evidence from Tunisia and Arunatilake et al. (2017) for evidence from Sri Lanka on indirect subsidies to water, electricity and fertilisers.) In some cases, subsidies are also regressive, as with piped water consumption subsidies in many low- and middleincome countries. Abramovsky et al. (2020) cite evidence from 10 LIC where these subsidies are mostly captured by the richest households, predominantly because poorer households lack access to piped water.

Indirect subsidies are not the most efficient instrument to achieve inequality and poverty outcomes; other fiscal instruments like cash transfers may be more cost-effective. For example, in Indonesia, Jellema et al. (2017) estimate indirect subsidies to fuel and electricity receive a budget allocation 10 times larger than the allocation to direct transfers, but the impact of indirect subsidies on inequality is smaller. This implies that reforms to indirect subsidy regimes should be considered since these are often an inefficient and costly option to protect the poor (Coady et al., 2012). This cost can be even higher in contexts with limited resources and high returns to public spending.

5.2.5 In-kind transfers: education and health spending

In-kind transfers tend to be equalising and poverty-reducing, so have the potential to tackle both equality and efficiency goals simultaneously, fostering inclusive economic growth through improved human capital and productivity (Zouhar et al., 2021; IMF, 2017). In Section 5.1 we discussed evidence from incidence analysis of the monetised value of these public services, abstracting from their quality, showing that they are generally equalising, particularly in HICs and UMICs. Balestra et al. (2018) find that, in several emerging and middle-income countries, there has been an expansion in the coverage of unemployment and health benefits, alongside an increase in education spending (what we refer to as in-kind transfers, discussed below) in the last two decades. Having said this, the way basic fiscal incidence analyses allocate spending to households, based on average costs of delivery, may overestimate the progressivity and poverty impact. Issues of how to value different types of public services, considering not only their costs but also their quality and returns, and how this varies across the income distribution, must also be considered when interpreting distributional impact analysis (see, for instance, O'Dea and Preston (2010) and Zouhar et al. (2021)).

The impact of in-kind transfers on income inequality depends on the type of public education and health spending and how patterns of access to and consumption of different services varies along the income distribution. Lustig (2018) shows that total spending on education is pro-poor in HICs and UMICs but neutral in most of the LICs and LMICs considered in her study,⁸³ with variation across types of education and countries. Preschool and primary education tends to be pro-poor in most countries, although there are still gaps in access to early childhood education across the income distribution (IMF, 2017). Secondary school results are more mixed across countries, with many achieving a neutral impact in absolute terms (per capita spending does not vary with market income), but in many countries access is still a challenge. Tertiary education is never propoor and is regressive in many countries because children from higher-income households tend to access it. Health spending results vary significantly across countries in terms of their pro-poorness (Lustig, 2015; 2018). Access to primary health care by low-income households is an important factor affecting the extent to which health spending is pro-poor. In LICs this can still be challenging, particularly in rural areas (Lustig, 2015).

There are likely complementarities in health and education, since education outcomes can be improved by ensuring children have good health, which is a prerequisite to learning, and these can increase the impact on economic growth of each type of spending. In addition, there may be complementarities between cash and in-kind transfers, which conditional cash transfers aim to exploit. For example, cash transfers to lower-income households that are conditional on school-age children attending school or children under five getting health check-ups and vaccinations can lift households out of poverty whilst ensuring families invest in their children's health and education, assuming there is access to public provision of health and education. Cash and in-kind transfers cannot be considered as direct

substitutes (or interchangeable) since people in poverty need cash to meet basic needs like food, housing and other services.

Finally, the impact of in-kind spending is dependent on the quality of and access to services and how this varies across the income distribution. There are significant gaps in both access and quality in several lower-income countries. Universal access to quality public services is still a challenge in many LICs and LMICs (Bastagli, 2015; IMF, 2017). The learning outcomes of disadvantaged children are worse due to poor-quality services, partly explained by a lack of resources but also gaps in teacher effort, knowledge and skills, highlighting the importance not only of the level of spending, but also how these inputs are spent (Woessman, 2016; Bold et al., 2017; IMF, 2017). Concerns about the quality of public primary and secondary education have resulted in the middle and upper classes opting out of the public system to enrol in private systems, and children from low-income households dropping out of high school and hence never accessing tertiary education. Significant gaps in the quality of health care have also been identified in many lower-income countries, varying within country as well, with the most vulnerable people faring the worst (Kruk et al., 2018; Gatti et al., 2021).

Improving governance structures for public spending systems and minimising corruption and waste are key to ensure impacts on poverty and inequality and returns to public spending are positive. More generally, the impact of health and education on poverty and inequality will depend on the cost-effectiveness of public service delivery, which can be affected by the quality of services but also by corruption and waste (Gupta, 2018; Zouhar et al., 2021). Having access to physical infrastructure, like schools and health care centres or hospitals, and employing teachers and health workers may still result in a lack of access to high-quality services due to, for example, higher rates of absenteeism or low effort of workers when present at their work site (Chaudhury et al., 2006; Bold et al., 2017; Muralidharan et al., 2017). Better monitoring structures could reduce inefficiency significantly, yielding higher returns to public spending than just increasing the money spent given current systems (Muralidharan et al., 2017). To improve these aspects of in-kind transfers, service delivery at both the national and subnational level must be considered, since a significant proportion of health and education spending is executed at the subnational level (Davies et al., 2021).

6 Implications and lessons for addressing income inequality through fiscal policy

Evidence presented in this report suggests that policy-makers can take several key steps to enhance fiscal policy to reduce income inequality and poverty even in the context of negative economic shocks and difficult institutional and political challenges. The Covid-19 pandemic has left many countries, particularly lower-income countries, highly fiscally constrained. These countries will therefore need to expand fiscal capacity overall, through economic growth and strategic domestic revenue mobilisation, where possible, to create space to increase spending on social protection and social sectors, ensuring a more sustainable and equitable recovery. There are also many areas for improvement in existing national fiscal policy. This section presents practical policy options, based on the evidence discussed in the previous sections, for enhancing the impact of fiscal policy on income inequality and how these options might be applied in different contexts, with a specific focus on lower-income countries.

6.1 Implications for tax and revenue mobilisation

Based on the evidence presented in the previous sections, each tax instrument has a different potential impact on inequality and other outcomes, such as poverty and economic efficiency. These are summarised in Appendix 2 and discussed below, including how they can be designed to enhance their impact on inequality.

Our analysis suggests that, while personal income taxes are the most progressive taxes even in lower-income countries and can be equalising, there is space to improve progressivity and ensure they are not impoverishing. The overall scope for redistribution through employment income tax in lower-income countries needs to be broadened. This may happen as the economy expands and employment shifts to enterprises that are larger, more formal registered businesses, or as administrative capacity improves. Evidence suggests that income taxes can still be povertyincreasing in contexts where the basic income exemption threshold is set too low and individuals below or around the poverty line are liable to pay income taxes. In addition, progressivity at the top of the distribution has diminished as top marginal rates have decreased in the last three decades. Options for reform therefore include raising top marginal rates, adjusting basic rate tax bands to reflect poverty levels (and inflation) and broadening or strengthening property taxes. Gupta and Tovar Jalles (2022) find that reforms to PIT and tax administration can decrease income inequality in a sample of 45 countries, except for countries in SSA, suggesting that both policy design details and implementation and administration are crucial.

The role of corporate income tax should also be more widely recognised, particularly as a backstop to prevent personal income tax avoidance by rich individuals. This suggests the need to ensure rates are not reduced further, creating incentives to shift income sources from employment to business or capital. CIT accounts for a significant portion of revenues for LICs and MICs, despite international tax competition and inefficient collection compared to higher-income countries. Global tax reforms being developed under the OECD Inclusive Framework aim to address some of the challenges of taxing the digital economy and international tax competition.⁸⁴ Since tax competition and tax avoidance will likely still continue, lower-income countries will need to continue to invest resources and build capacity to tackle international tax avoidance (Steel and Nair, 2021). Further research and consideration of wealth taxes is also needed, particularly in light of increasing wealth concentration and the known implementation challenges due to inherent difficulties associated with asset valuation and high levels of evasion, which may be particularly acute in lower-income countries in the context of globalisation and weak tax administration.

General consumption taxes that have often been claimed to be regressive and povertyincreasing may be more progressive in highly informal economies and, in most contexts, provide an efficient tool to raise revenues to finance progressive and pro-poor spending.

Given the reduced importance of direct taxes in practice relative to indirect taxes in lower-income countries, some experts have argued that, in these countries, redistribution and poverty alleviation should be pursued using spending rather than taxation (Bird and Zolt, 2005; Hirvonen et al., 2018). Revenues can therefore be used to fund equalising and pro-poor spending that more than compensates for any negative impact of such taxes. As such, it is important to assess the net impact of consumption taxes when combined with spending. Broadening the tax base through the removal of VAT exemptions and differential rates is recommended when cash transfer systems are available. Exemptions and reduced tax rates are inefficient ways of addressing poverty and income inequality outcomes, since revenue foregone from richer households is substantial and creates distortions to production, investment and consumption choices. In contexts where lower-income households purchase most of their products from informal markets not operating within the VAT system, providing VAT exemptions and differential rates, for example for foodstuffs, is not justifiable on equality grounds.

Excise duties have the potential to be both equitable and efficient. For example, in lower-income countries environmental taxes are often progressive and can be designed to be revenue-raising while addressing harmful externalities. The distributional impact of excise duties varies by product and context. As with tax exemptions, discussed above, any impoverishing or regressive impacts can be addressed through cash transfers, where possible, which can potentially be financed by the revenue raised from excise duties. Environmental taxes, such as taxes on fossil fuels, taxes on carbon emissions, motor vehicle use and ownership, or other unsustainable environmental practices, can be designed to improve efficiency by tackling harmful externalities, and in lower-income countries are also progressive. 'Sin' taxes, such as on tobacco, sugar and alcoholic beverages, are usually

The proposals, signed by 132 countries, include new taxing rights over the largest multinationals regardless of physical presence and a global minimum rate tax of 15%. These reforms represent a significant step forward, but with limitations. The minimum tax will likely provide a direct benefit to high-income countries where multinationals are resident, but for lower-income countries benefits will depend on multinationals taking action to reduce tax avoidance and may require taxing rights to be extended to more companies and a higher minimum tax rate.

regressive, but have long-run health benefits that may outweigh the initial regressive impact on income.

The impact of trade taxes on inequality is often overlooked and more research is needed but, in principle, the policy implications are similar to domestic consumption taxes. The distributional impact of duties on imports typically depends on the tariff structure and consumption patterns across the income distribution. If uniform, like domestic consumption tax, it is an efficient source of revenue but likely to be regressive and povertyincreasing. For addressing inequality, these effects may need to be mitigated through equitable transfers, which can also replace inefficient customs duty waivers that may already be in place to protect the poor.

The most urgent need framing governments' tax policy choices in many lower-income countries is revenue mobilisation, but there is a (wrongly) perceived trade-off with

equity. How taxes are designed and raised, and hence who bears the burden of additional taxes, will matter for inequality. In practice, there is a tendency for revenue efforts, particularly among African revenue authorities, to focus on expanding registration of the informal sector. This emphasis on informal sector taxation is seen as a 'missing goldmine' but needs to be further qualified. If this group comprises mostly low-income earners or microenterprises that face high compliance costs and low revenue potential, the effort may fail to raise significant revenue while running the risk of shifting fiscal burdens onto the most vulnerable groups by an often unfair over-estimation of the income of informal sector workers and firms, and an under-estimation of the level of taxes they already pay (Gallien et al., 2021). Revenue mobilisation reforms thus need to feature measures that address the greatest revenue risks and unmet revenue potential, while considering distributional impacts to promote inclusive growth (Long and Miller, 2017).⁸⁵ Modern, efficient policies and administrative measures should therefore be designed to address specific types of (potential) taxpayers and their (non-)compliance, while achieving desired equity and efficiency goals, rather than reducing the informal sector per se, which in itself is neither bad nor good (Kanbur and Keen, 2014; 2015).

How much unmet revenue potential there is in lower-income countries may be overestimated, and bridging this gap is very challenging. There is a body of literature that studies tax potential, tax 'effort' and tax 'gaps', concepts used by policy advisors and technical assistance experts. While these estimates broadly confirm the existence of administrative inefficiencies, non-compliance and gaps in the tax base (that may or may not be possible to adjust), they are highly dependent on the sample of countries studied and the model specification (McNabb et al., 2021). Their value to policy formulation is also debatable since the implications for specific reforms are often not discernible from the typically highly aggregated estimates contained in tax effort and tax gap studies. Some countries may have potential to improve tax design, administration and compliance along specific margins depending on their current situation, which in turn depends on institutional arrangements, corruption and other moral behaviours in each country, which could also be modified (Bird, 2008). Experience

⁸⁵ Inclusive growth can be defined as 'economic growth that is distributed fairly across society and creates opportunities for all' (OECD webpage accessed via this link).

from past tax reform programmes suggests that progress in these areas is possible, but often slower than expected.⁸⁶

For most countries, raising taxes may initially need to be targeted and/or temporary to support economic recovery. Fiscal space for social protection and redistribution has been constrained further due to the economic impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. To avoid depressing demand at a time of economic recovery, increases in (progressive) direct taxation rather than general consumption taxes are recommended (Prinz et al., 2021). Other options that target ability to pay and pockets of wealth (or windfalls from the pandemic) could include one-off wealth taxes or solidarity levies for profitable sectors, the temporary aspect of which minimises any depressing or distorting effect on investment. Over the longer term, revenue measures that are in line with wider economic objectives, such as equity and green recovery, would be appropriate, as already discussed. These may include the introduction and expansion of environmental taxes, sin taxes and property taxes, and measures to broaden the tax base, such as rationalising tax expenditures and improving administrative efficiency and compliance.

Natural resource revenues may provide significant potential sources of finance for resource-rich countries but may pose risks to equity and environmental sustainability. Countries with significant revenue potential from (or dependence on) natural resource revenues may need to review the fiscal rules or frameworks governing how revenues are spent (or invested) to better understand and optimise the impact on income inequality. For those commodities that are experiencing higher prices/profits, countries could consider a one-off windfall tax to help pay for redistributive spending (such as the UK's recent petroleum windfall tax) or to help finance a green transition. More research and analysis is needed to understand the revenue implications of carbon and other environmental taxes to help countries transition from fossil fuels (in the short to medium term) towards renewable energy (longer-term) for countries that are currently dependent on revenue from producing fossil fuels or from natural resources that might use fossil fuel-intensive processes.

6.2 Implications for social spending

Based on the evidence presented in the previous sections, each spending instrument has a different potential impact on inequality and other outcomes, such as poverty and efficiency. These are summarised in the matrix in Appendix 2, including practical options for reform to enhance their effectiveness on inequality.

The net impact of social spending on income inequality and poverty depends on its scale, composition, the design of specific schemes, their progressivity and the way schemes are funded. In lower-income countries, social spending is lower than in richer countries and hence its impact on poverty and income inequality is more limited, but there is scope to expand it and improve its effectiveness through better design and quality.

Emerging lessons suggest that income inequality and poverty can be reduced

⁸⁶ As reported by, for example, Fjeldstad and Therkildsen (2020), who estimated that countries receiving assistance from Denmark showed a 0.1-0.2 percentage point per annum increase in the tax-to-GDP ratio on average between 1987 and 2018.

through enhancing cash and in-kind transfers and reducing indirect subsidies.

Cash and in-kind transfers are found to be mostly equalising and poverty-reducing (although not always pro-poor) and account for most of the income redistribution achieved through fiscal policy. While in-kind transfers are not typically provided to address income inequality directly, they do have a significant impact, particularly where quality of services is addressed as well as overall funding levels. Indirect transfers (subsidies) are harder to target efficiently and support overconsumption of goods and services that can be harmful, so could be removed and used to finance better-targeted direct or in-kind transfers. Since subsidies are often provided to protect poorer households from higher prices, removing them may be highly unpopular. Reform that includes a compensating transfer can help build public support. It may be possible to design a revenueneutral reform that reallocates revenues recouped from the removal of subsidies to finance a targeted cash transfer. A universal cash transfer (even if temporary) to compensate all households could potentially garner even greater public buy-in. In practice, however, few countries have implemented such a reform and there are likely to be difficult policy choices between universality, adequacy and revenue neutrality to achieve the greatest impact within available resources (see Box 1).

The effectiveness of cash transfers depends on coverage and adequacy. In HICs, the priority for improvements seems to be around the sustainability of pensions, as well as responding to shocks such as the pandemic and the current cost of living crisis. In HICs, which already combine meanstargeting and broad social insurance schemes, switching to universal transfers may not be costeffective unless there is a specific interest in

Box 1 The universal cash transfer programme in Iran

Iran introduced a nationwide universal cash transfer through the Targeted Subsidies Reform from 2010 to 2014, which was aimed at compensating households for the anticipated increase in energy prices due to the elimination of energy subsidies. It was originally financed with the public funds saved through the reduction of these subsidies (Guillaume et al., 2011). It had an initial take-up of 95% and, while it was successful at reducing poverty and inequality significantly, it did not reduce the fiscal burden or remain revenue neutral (Enami et al., 2019). In 2014, due to the fiscal cost exceeding the revenue gains from eliminating subsidies, the government attempted to exclude individuals in the top 20% of the income distribution. In practice, only a few individuals were successfully excluded from claiming the transfer. Inflation eroded the value of the transfer to around half its original value, which reduced its impact on poverty over time (Enami and Lustig, 2018; Enami et al., 2019). Enami et al. (2019) recommended a revenue-neutral reform to further improve targeting, progressivity and poverty alleviation by focusing on the bottom 60% of the population and increasing the amount of the transfer. This example illustrates the kind of difficult trade-offs involved in implementing a UBI, and the relative benefits of targeted, more generous (or at least adequate) cash transfers to achieve poverty and equity objectives.

providing a UBI to address widespread threats to traditional employment, such as automation, or temporary support in response to a major negative shock, such as during a pandemic. There is still potential to improve the effectiveness of existing systems, such as by ensuring that pensions are financially sustainable and account for changing trends in the way work is organised.

In LICs, the main issue is expanding coverage of social protection, yet universalism is still unlikely to be achievable in the near future and financing options are expected to fall short, prompting calls for more targeting of transfers (IMF, 2021a). The net benefits of UBIs or universal social floors vary from country to country, and for many lower-income countries they will be too costly until fiscal capacity expands. As discussed in Section 5, there are few practical applications of a UBI in practice, and evidence from simulations indicates that, where budgets are fixed and limited, a more targeted system that can provide adequate coverage for the most vulnerable may be more effective than a UBI.

While both targeted and universal approaches have disadvantages, a mix of complementary approaches designed to mitigate the risks offers a continuum of options in-between. For example, means-tested disincentive effects and administrative costs may be improved through lump-sum payments rather than regular amounts, giving entitlement for longer periods regardless of changing circumstances, or by simplifying the test criteria. Alternatively, universal systems with inclusion error (or recipients deemed 'undeserving') can incorporate claw-back from richer individuals through the tax system. Categorical transfers that have wide inclusion or exclusion errors could be evaluated and adapted to improve administrative effectiveness.

Data-driven approaches to categorical targeting may provide a more affordable approach to working towards more adequate coverage incrementally as fiscal capacity expands. Studies such as Evans (2021) suggest that universal and targeted transfers are not incompatible, but that identifying categorical groups at risk allows a more adequate (nonmeans-tested) transfer to support the worstaffected groups (e.g. households with elderly, children, geographic concentrations) first, before rolling out to others in a move towards a more comprehensive system as fiscal resources expand. Evans argues that universal transfers become diluted as they filter to indirect beneficiaries who reside with the direct beneficiaries. This can be mitigated by 'finding smaller sub-groups who have higher levels of "need" in terms of poverty risk and who can be prioritised in any national roll out of a social protection strategy'. Some countries are expanding coverage incrementally starting with targeting based on greatest need, as in Nepal, where child benefits were first offered to child populations defined by caste and geography (those most likely to be living in poverty) before being rolled out to richer households. This contrasts with Mongolia's large-scale child benefit scheme, which had to be withdrawn due to fiscal unsustainability (Evans, 2021).

There are several considerations that may determine where on the continuum a country may find the most cost-effective design mix of social spending programmes. Countries first need to clarify their most important aims in respect of inequality and poverty reduction, or welfare improvement, so that programmes can be designed to achieve those aims most effectively. The choice of design may then depend on factors such as administrative and institutional capacity to design, implement and evaluate more or less complex programmes, including data availability and accuracy and delivery infrastructure. The effectiveness of the design and implementation can be assessed through measures such as inclusion and exclusion error, to compare options either ex-ante or ex-post.

The most equitable social spending programmes will likely be funded (at least partly) through a combination of contributory social insurance and taxfunded non-contributory transfers. While social insurance schemes may not be designed to address income inequality (but, rather, lifetime income smoothing or income protection), those that combine proportional contributory programmes with non-contributory components tend to be more equalising. In non-HICs, with weaker safety nets provided by non-contributory cash transfers and contributory social insurance, there is a need to expand both (as fiscal space expands). With limited resources, programmes can be (re)designed to focus on a mix of povertytargeted and categorical non-contributory transfers for those outside of contributory schemes, depending on the most urgent needs and vulnerabilities of the population and administrative or institutional capacities.

Other financial contributions may come from revenue reforms and removing inefficient subsidies as well as ODA, and creating fiscal and budgetary space through better service delivery and use of available technology.

To finance a transition to more comprehensive social protection that initially covers groups faced with specific risks, a process to rethink existing policies that are ineffective or creating perverse incentives is needed. Risks such as health, income and employment shocks could be identified and addressed first, for example, rather than entrenching dependence on formal versus informal employment. The challenges posed by perverse incentives will need to be addressed through evaluation and improved design. Policymakers often struggle to cost and finance social protection needs, rendering strategies unimplementable (Evans, 2021). Further research and analysis to identify categorical risks of poverty and vulnerability is therefore needed to provide more country-specific estimates of need and cost of coverage to inform budget planning for the effective delivery of such strategies.
7 Conclusions

Fiscal policy can have an important impact on inequality, as demonstrated by evidence from distributional impact studies. The greatest impact on inequality has been in HICs and UMICs in which fiscal capacity is high and there is a broad tax base. In these countries, social safety nets and flexible tax policy played a key role in enabling a quicker recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic and in some cases partially mitigated further poverty and inequality. This experience highlighted the need for fiscal systems to both be redistributive over the lifecycle as well as to build resilience to support vulnerabilities during shocks.

While lower-income countries are constrained in their fiscal capacity, the combination and design of fiscal policies can be optimised to improve income inequality and poverty outcomes within fixed budgets.

If poverty reduction is imperative, then removing poorly targeted indirect subsidies to finance targeted pro-poor transfers may be more appropriate. Inequality-reducing policies combine the above, plus an expansion of contributory (and non-contributory) social insurance, financed through more progressive contributions, income tax and removing subsidies to broaden consumption tax. Many countries are focused on economic recovery, growth and revenue mobilisation. There is no evidence to suggest that this should preclude equitable fiscal policies. In fact, they can be growth-reinforcing.

With limited resources and as fiscal capacity expands, optimising the impact on inequality

means policy options need to be quantified to best inform decisions. While increasing, academic studies are still scarce and there remains a disconnect between the academic literature on distributional analysis and the practice of policymaking.⁸⁷ Since distributional analysis often relies on complex econometric or microsimulation models, and accurate and comprehensive data, take-up among policy-makers is limited (Grote, 2017), including in HICs (Wales and Wales, 2012). Sharing lessons from tested approaches, guides and tools that can be applied across a wider range of country contexts,⁸⁸ alongside tax policy analysis, capacity-building and better collaborations between policy-makers and academic communities would be particularly beneficial.

A whole-of-government approach can help optimise limited resources and make best use of existing technology and institutional solutions. Technology and institutional solutions already exist to enable improvements to the equity of fiscal systems. Understanding and addressing constraints on the introduction and expansion of cash transfer systems may also help unlock previously difficult tax reforms. Governments need to bring together spending, tax, social and economic policy to think about the fiscal system as a whole, and how it can best be used to deliver more inclusive growth and equitable outcomes.

In the face of difficult choices and tradeoffs, a well-designed package may provide a positive outcome for an inclusive economic recovery. With economic recovery challenges,

⁸⁷ Based on experience from UKAID's Centre for Tax Analysis in Developing Countries (TaxDev) programme, including UKAID (2018) and Wales and Lees (2020).

⁸⁸ Such as Granger et al. (2021).

rising prices, and increasing economic and political instability, there are no easy choices. In some countries the political commitment to improving equality may have gained momentum in the aftermath of Covid-19, whereas in others the reality of addressing inequality, such as tax rises and removing poorly targeted indirect subsidies, depends on the power dynamics between elites and the state and how effective governments have been in building trust throughout the crisis. Delivering difficult reforms in practice will require support and dialogue between government, citizens and partners to understand how the challenges and trade-offs can best be overcome.

Appendix 1 Measuring income, income inequality and the effect of taxes and social spending

The impact of fiscal policy on income distribution can be estimated using basic fiscal incidence analysis, which can be disaggregated by different sub-components of the fiscal system (fiscal instruments). To do this, we need to:

- measure household income before taxes and social spending (the chosen welfare indicator) and order individuals/households according to this measure
- 2. compute the incidence of taxes and social expenditure on households and individuals.
- 3. study the distribution of the tax burden and the benefits from social spending on households according to the ranking of households or individuals using the chosen welfare indicator.

Our analysis draws from existing fiscal incidence methods and evidence from Lustig (2018) and Alvarado et al. (2018), which are the main available data sources we used on income inequality and poverty across different income groups.

A.1. Common measures of household and individual income and their distribution

The primary unit of analysis is the household or individual. The welfare indicator utilised is usually income, which is the sum of all personal earned and unearned income flows accruing to households or individuals, before considering the operation of the pension, unemployment insurance and other insurance systems, before taxes and before transfers in cash and in-kind. If it is a measure at the household level, adjustments for size and composition of households' members (equivalence scales) are usually used to get a comparable measure of welfare across households that can be used for the ranking.

In many LICs, comparable measures based on consumption spending and the value of the consumption of own produce are used as the relevant welfare indicator to rank households, since quality and reliable measures of income sources are not available and because own produce consumption is more prevalent and important when measuring welfare.

Traditionally, the most commonly used measure to capture income distribution across households or individuals is the Gini coefficient. The Gini coefficient allows comparisons of inequality across time and geographical space, provided that the underlying income measure is also constructed in a comparable way. It has a range between 0% and 100% (or 0–1) and captures the entire income distribution of a reference population. The closer the coefficient is to 100%, the higher the income inequality across the population.⁸⁹ However, it is quite an abstract measure that can be difficult to interpret. It is also important to note that changes in Gini coefficients are not necessarily associated with a decrease in absolute poverty.⁹⁰

Measures of income shares accruing to the top and bottom of the income distribution are increasingly being used to describe inequality within countries (e.g. Piketty, 2014). Depending on the nature of inequality that is of concern, the Gini coefficient may hide important implications, which can be revealed by looking at the income accruing to the top and bottom shares of the population. For example, the Gini coefficient can decrease (indicating greater equality overall) even if the income accruing to the top 1% of the population (ranked by income) is increasing and/or the income accruing to the bottom 50% is decreasing. The Gini coefficient and measures by income share are scaleindependent: if relative incomes do not change even if the rich get, for example, a larger absolute gain, these inequality measures do not change. While most fiscal incidence analysis uses the Gini coefficient, in this report we use both measures to provide a more complete picture of inequality trends.

A.2. Measuring the distributional effect of tax and social spending on income

Most of the evidence discussed in this report comes from detailed country-level studies

of the effects of tax and social spending on income inequality and poverty at a point in time, based on basic fiscal incidence and distributional analysis. These studies combine a range of methodologies including microeconomic simulation using several economic assumptions. These are static models based on household income and expenditure survey data, administrative and national account information, fiscal policy details, incidence assumptions and allocation rules. These elements enable modelling of the redistribution and poverty effects of current tax and transfer policies at a point in time, and an assessment of the potential impact of proposed tax and transfer policy changes. They cannot model the impact of fiscal policies over the lifetime of individuals, and hence do not consider intertemporal effects. Other limitations include the way allocation of in-kind transfers is done, which is based on average provision of the cost of education or health services based on observed usage or demographics, rather than their monetary valuation by households, which would also consider their quality and the monetary returns to that spending (see, for instance, O'Dea and Preston, 2010; Barofsky and Younger, 2019; Soares, 2019).

This methodology is useful to consider short-term (or first-order) effects of fiscal policies since it does not consider general equilibrium effects, or how households or individuals may change their behaviour in response to these policy changes. For a more detailed discussion of these methodologies,

⁸⁹ A Gini coefficient of zero is achieved when incomes are perfectly equally distributed across the population. In contrast, a Gini coefficient of 1% or 100% means only one person has all the income and the rest have zero.

⁹⁰ There are other measures of inequality that combine information about the income shares accruing to different deciles or percentiles of the population. One measure developed recently is the Palma ratio, which is the ratio between the share of total income accruing to the richest 10% of the population and the share accruing to the poorest 40%.

recent developments, and limitations, see Abramovsky and Phillips (2015); Bastagli (2015; 2016); Lustig (ed.) (2018); Decoster et al. (2020).

To capture the impact of different components of the system of taxes and

social spending, various income concepts are constructed using basic fiscal incidence methodologies alongside measures of income distribution and inequality⁹¹ (summarised in Table 4).

Table 4 Components of fiscal incidence analysis to estimate impact of fiscal policy instruments on income and its distribution

Sub-component (instrument) measured	Income concepts: Income adjusted for effect of each instrument and resulting inequality measures (Gini coefficient or other)
Baseline: inequality before fiscal policy	Market income (1)
Social insurance: incidence of pension contributions and benefits, unemployment benefit, etc.	Pre-tax income (2) [(1) + social insurance contributions and benefits]
Direct taxes and transfers: incidence of direct taxes and (cash and near-cash) transfers	Disposable income (3) [(2) + direct taxes and transfers]
Indirect taxes and subsidies: incidence of indirect tax paid net of indirect subsidies	Consumable income (4) [(3) + indirect taxes and subsidies]
In-kind transfers: incidence of education and health in-kind transfers	Final income (5) [(4) + in-kind transfers: education and health]
Overall fiscal impact on income distribution	Overall change in measures (1)-(5)

In practice the data available on income inequality across countries uses a mix of income measures and resulting inequality

measures. Pre-tax income is the benchmark income concept used by World Inequality Data (WID). It includes social insurance benefits (adjusted for corresponding contributions) but excludes other forms of fiscal redistribution (income tax, non-contributory cash transfers, etc.). We use pre-tax income⁹² in Section 4 (income inequality trends), since it is the only comparable income measure available for all countries over a long period of time to provide a picture of long-term trends in income inequality before fiscal redistribution. If social insurance contributions paid by the public sector and the resulting benefits are considered private (mandatory) savings and returns to those

⁹¹ We follow Lustig (2018) and Alvarado et al. (2018), which are the main data sources used in this report to look at income inequality and poverty.

⁹² The specific variable we use in Section 4 refers to the population of adults over the age of 20 and the income has been distributed equally among all household members (equal-split adults, corresponds to the variable gptinc992j).

savings, this pre-tax income measure is closer to a pre-fiscal measure. However, social insurance contributions are often used to finance noncontributory schemes and general taxes are used to finance contributory schemes (see, for instance, Palacios and Rabalino, 2020). The crosscountry analysis in Section 6 (fiscal policy impacts on income distribution) compares inequality measures based on market income with measures based on disposable income, consumable income or final income. In doing so, it treats social insurance contributions and benefits like direct taxes and transfers and considers their effect combined.

It is also important to analyse the impact of the fiscal system on both income inequality and poverty, since fiscal systems can be equalising but poverty-increasing.

A potentially regressive tax that is efficient at raising revenues (e.g. VAT) can be combined with well-targeted transfers to the poor and result in a decrease in income inequality and poverty (see, inter alia, Lustig, 2018; Warwick et al., 2018). A fiscal system can reduce income inequality and poverty, but nonetheless still impoverish a substantial number of people.

To describe the range of effects on inequality and poverty, we use several terms:

• Equalising (unequalising): a (set of) fiscal instrument(s) decreases (increases) the concentration of income, having a positive (negative) redistributive effect.

- Progressive (regressive) taxes in relative terms: the share of taxes in market income increases (decreases) with the level of market income.
- Progressive (regressive) taxes in absolute terms: the absolute amount of taxes paid increases (decreases) with the level of market income.
- **Poverty-reducing (-increasing):** a (set of) fiscal instrument(s) decreases (increases) the poverty headcount ratio, which is usually defined in relation to an absolute poverty line in terms of income.
- **Pro-poor transfers/social spending:** the value of the transfer decreases with the level of income (also called progressive transfers in absolute terms).
- **Progressive transfers/social spending:** the ratio between transfers and income decreases with income.

A.3. Data sources

The availability of data and how it is used to measure income and wealth inequality has progressed significantly in the last decade, but may still result in inequality being underestimated and there remain important gaps in the evidence from lowerincome countries. Several new datasets provide comparable cross-country measures of Gini coefficients and income shares over time, and a better coverage of lower income countries has been achieved, although gaps remain (Jänti et al., 2020). These datasets use different methodologies to combine different sources of data⁹³ and their uses and drawbacks are discussed further below.

Throughout the report we use a variety of data sources, which we describe below. As mentioned in Section 2, we used the World Bank Income Country group classification from 2020.

A.3.1 Income inequality and fiscal redistribution

The most common source of data used in inequality datasets is household surveys, which typically capture incomes and consumption of individuals. Household surveys have limitations since the income of the wealthiest and poorest is often imperfectly captured, particularly income from capital accruing to the top of the distribution. This is better adjusted for in HICs since they have better supplementary administrative and third-party data.

Inequality measures based on these household surveys, particularly those based on consumption expenditure, are therefore likely to underestimate the income of the top of the distribution and hence the level of inequality and potentially also its evolution over time (Lakner, 2016). In many countries, particularly HICs, information from surveys is supplemented with data from tax records and other administrative and third-party data to provide a better picture of income at the extremes of the income distribution. Nonetheless, the richest segments of the population have ways of concealing wealth and incomes even from administrative bodies. This means that the figures are likely to provide a lower bound on inequality. In LICs less supplementary data is available, so the figures are likely to be even less accurate and underestimate inequality to a larger extent.

A.3.1.1 Trends in pre-tax income inequality We use the data from the World Inequality Dataset (WID). The database contains measures of pre-tax income at the individual level that are consistent across countries and that go back in time. This is presented in Section 3. The data we use covers the period 1980–2019, which gives the most comprehensive coverage across countries. Data in 2019 covers 167 countries: 48 HICs, 48 UMICs, 41 LMICs and 30 LICs (of which 24 are in sub-Saharan Africa). Ideally, we would have also liked to present trends in inequality in market income at the household level over time, but available data from other sources (like the OECD or CEQ) does not cover the same range of countries (the OECD covers over 40 mostly high-income and middle-income

⁹³ There are several comprehensive datasets. The World Bank's PovcalNet provides measures of Gini coefficients for disposable income based on household surveys that cover income for some countries and consumption for others. The World Income Inequality Database (WIID), developed by UNU-WIDER, combines measures from PovcalNet, the OECD and other sources to provide inequality measures for disposable income. The Standardized World Income Inequality Dataset (SWIID) provides a unified dataset on inequality measures using indicators developed by PovcalNet, OECD and others. Another example is the World Inequality Lab Database (WID) initiative, which provides different inequality measures for income and wealth. This dataset combines micro-level data, national accounts and administrative sources depending on the country and provides measures for 'pre-tax income' and disposable income ('post-tax income'). The latest version of the data covered in 2019 at least some measure of income inequality for 169 countries: 29 LICs, 41 LMICs, 48 UMICs and 51 HICs. Of the LICs, 23 are in sub-Saharan Africa. We use WID to look at trends in pre-tax income inequality over time across countries.

countries)⁹⁴ or repeated measures over time (CEQ covers 47 countries across income country groups, but at a point in time).

WID's methodology is based on the distributional national accounts (DINA) approach and combines rich sources of micro-level household survey and administrative data with national accounts figures. In countries where measuring income is challenging and consumption is often used as a measure of welfare, such as in African countries, the methodology uses as a starting point a measure of consumption from household surveys (Chancel et al., 2019).

The specific pre-tax income variable used refers to the population of adults over the

age of 20. To build this variable, income has been distributed equally among all household members.⁹⁵ The WID has several variables of pretax income, but this one has been chosen since it is the only Gini coefficient measure for pre-tax income that is available in the WID for all countries.

Pre-tax income measures capture some redistribution through the fiscal system via social insurance but before tax and social spending (as discussed above and in Table 4).

This mechanism plays a significant role in fiscal redistribution in HICs and UMICs, but less so in LMICs and LICs, so there may be differences in the ranking of countries using this measure of pre-tax income at the individual level versus measures of market income at the household level. We describe the data covering different measures of income at the household level below.

A.3.1.2 Evidence on fiscal redistribution Several recent studies and multi-country efforts assess the basic incidence (or simulate the combined and individual impact) of taxes and social spending on households and individuals across MICs and LICs using a common framework, with increasingly sophisticated and user-friendly tools.96 Initially, most incidence analysis studies focused on the impact of direct taxes (personal income tax and social security contributions) and cash transfers. More recently, these have been expanded to include indirect taxes (consumption taxes such as VAT and excise duties) and subsidies (fuel or price subsidies), and spending (mostly education and health). This is a very welcome development since indirect taxation and in-kind transfers are important fiscal policy instruments in LMICs, compared to HICs, as discussed in Section 4. Several studies only assess direct taxes and cash transfers (and social insurance contributions and benefits) since indirect taxes and in-kind transfers are more difficult to model. Furthermore, most models have predominantly (although not exclusively) focused on fiscal instruments

⁹⁴ https://data.oecd.org/inequality/income-inequality.htm

⁹⁵ This corresponds to the variable gptinc992j.

⁹⁶ Several cross-country initiatives exist in addition to CEQ. UNU-Wider, in collaboration with ISER (Essex University, UK), has launched the SOUTHMOD initiative that adapts the EUROMOD microsimulation model, encompassing direct income tax and cash transfers for European countries, to 10 countries in the Global South, mostly in Africa. Some of these models have recently been extended to include indirect taxes as well (Decoster et al., 2020). The Centre for Tax Analysis in Developing Countries (TaxDev), led by the Institute for Fiscal Studies and the ODI, has also developed tax and transfer microsimulation tools and distributional analyses of fiscal policies in several developing countries in both Latin America and Africa. These studies model direct tax and cash transfers and indirect taxes.

administered by central governments, rather than subnational ones or informal systems of public goods and insurance provision.

Most cross-country comparisons use data from the OECD and CEQ.⁹⁷ CEQ covers 47 countries from different country income groups at a point in time. We use the latest available study for each country where possible. The analysis uses the same methodology across countries as far as possible, and models a broad range of taxes (both direct and indirect) and transfers (both in cash and in-kind). Few countries have results spanning several years, however, such that one could see the evolution over time within countries using this resource. This data is supplemented with statistics from the OECD Income Inequality Dataset, which covers market and disposable income measures for countries not covered by CEQ.^{98,99}

A.3.2 The levels and composition of tax revenues and social spending

A.3.2.1 Revenue as a share of GDP

We use total government revenue (excluding grants), tax revenue and social contribution revenue data as a share of GDP from the UNU-WIDER GDR dataset. This comprises an unbalanced sample of countries from all country income groups: 100 countries in 1990 and over 131 countries in 2018. A.3.2.2 Social spending as a share of GDP We use IFPRI's Statistics on Public Expenditures for Economic Development (SPEED) 2020 dataset for the public expenditure information (IFPRI, 2019). It includes data on public expenditures across 166 countries in 11 sectors, including social protection, education and health expenditure. While IFPRI is arguably one of the more consistent sources of public expenditure data, some issues persist. For instance, we had to drop Zimbabwe from this analysis due to inconsistent estimates. Data on social protection coverage is from the ILO World Social Protection Database, based on the ILO Social Security Inquiry questionnaire.

⁹⁷ https://commitmentoequity.org, data accessed on 14 June 2021.

⁹⁸ https://data.oecd.org/inequality/income-inequality.htm.

⁹⁹ We chose not to use the World Income Inequality Dataset from UNU-WIDER (https://www.wider.unu.edu/ database/world-income-inequality-database-wiid). This is because, according to our understanding, at the time of initiating the analysis for this report in early 2021 it had information on income inequality for over 200 countries over time for different inequality measures (Gini coefficient, income shares, etc.) for one measure of income as reported by household surveys, so not necessarily showing income both before and after taxes and transfers in cash and in kind.

Appendix 2 Matrix of fiscal policy instruments and design considerations

Fiscal policy instrument	Impact on poverty and inequality	Revenue, efficiency and other impacts	Design and reform considerations for income inequality
Taxes			
Personal income tax (PIT) and national insurance contributions (NICs)	Broadly progressive and equalising; they are usually designed to be progressive and equalising and account for most of the redistribution achieved through taxes on average across countries Direct impact on income distribution, but scale of impact varies according to size of tax base (affected by informality, exemptions), rate structure and compliance; impoverishing effects if very low income levels are liable for tax PIT tends to be the most progressive tax, but NICs vary from regressive to progressive	Generally significant but not main source of revenue. Potential incentive effects on: • marginal labour supply decisions • innovation (top marginal rates) • employment and employee compensation Evidence is mixed on relationship between progressivity and the level of top marginal rates and economic growth	Evidence suggests scope to improve progressivity and revenue, in particular: • ensure a stepwise rising PIT rate schedule • consider raising top marginal rates • adjust PIT threshold so that it is above poverty line, but not so high that number of taxpayers in the system is too small • adjust bands for inflation and poverty protection • review regressive tax relief (related to children, education, health insurance) and consider more progressive ones like tax credits • equalise tax rates across sources of income, particularly across capital income from different types of investment • address compliance and administrative challenges

Corporate income tax (CIT)	Evidence on its impact on progressivity is inconclusive in contexts with capital mobility and depends on a range of factors, including who bears the burden of the tax When considered as a backstop to PIT, it helps prevent avoidance by higher- income individuals and entrepreneurs, when CIT and PIT rates are aligned, and hence can be progressive	Generally significant but not main source of revenue Often design does not treat uniformly different types of investment, and taxes the normal rate of return (not only rents). This is detrimental to economic growth Although trend towards lower rates, driven by international tax competition to attract mobile firms, there is mixed evidence on CIT rates and aconomic growth	Scope to better align with PIT (or prevent further rate cuts/allowances) to ensure CIT prevents PIT avoidance and hence enhance progressivity of the tax system Support international efforts to coordinate across countries and ensure corporations pay their fair share of tax by preventing abuse by high-income individuals and multinational enterprises through tax planning and profit shifting. The establishment of the Global Minimum Corporate Tax is a step in the right direction
Immovable property tax	Can be progressive or regressive, depending on tax	Typically used to collect revenue for local service	Ensure rate structure and tax base is broadly progressive
	base definition, distribution of property by income and tax structure	provision Generally important but relatively small share of revenue, albeit considered	Consider relief for the poorest and mechanisms to support ability to pay
	are based on property values (rather than size/quantity) and	under-used in LICs	
	mitigate impoverishing effects by providing relief to lower- income households	Can incentivise more productive use of land and property, but can distort investment decisions between property versus other assets	
Other wealth taxes	Scarce systematic evidence on impact on income inequality	Economists disagree on whether a well-designed tax system should include	A credible one-off net wealth comprehensive tax would be desirable
	Indirect effect through ability to earn income from wealth in future periods (capital assets)	recurrent net wealth broad base taxes due to administrative and compliance challenges,	Inheritance taxes could also be considered
	Have the potential to raise revenues from individuals with the broadest shoulders, hence enhancing the progressivity of the system	along with potential distortions to savings, evasion and migration behaviour	To the extent that all taxes are imperfect, they can act as a way of diversifying revenue sources to prevent any given tax becoming too high if administration costs do not
		Potential to raise revenue, but faces administrative challenges, e.g. in observing stock and value for tax purposes and enforcement	outweigh benefits

VAT	Broadly regressive and poverty-increasing, but can be more progressive/ less impoverishing in high- informality settings where expenditure of poor is not subject to VAT Exemptions and selected reduced rates introduced to dampen regressive impact are less cost-efficient than other policy instruments (e.g. cash transfers) at addressing equality objectives	Significant source of revenue Considered more efficient and less harmful to growth if well designed (uniform rate, minimal exemptions and sufficiently high threshold), minimising distortions to consumption and supply decisions	 Important as efficient revenue source for funding more equitable spending – useful to consider VAT in conjunction with the overall system they help to finance. Key areas for reform: set a sufficiently high threshold broaden the tax base by removing differential rates and exemptions address administrative weaknesses address compliance gaps Where feasible, the revenue obtained from the removal of exemptions and differential rates could be used to compensate lower-income individuals with targeted cash transfers, or even with a universal cash transfer
Excises	Differential distributional and poverty impact depending on consumption patterns across income distribution in the short run Broadly regressive in most countries, but progressive for some excisable expenditures in lower-income countries (e.g. hydrocarbon products, electricity, vehicles, luxury items), although will likely have impoverishing effects on lower-income households	Efficient at addressing negative 'externalities' and can also be revenue-raising when levied on goods with inelastic demand, e.g. fuel, tobacco, alcohol (sometimes this holds only in the short run, when behaviour responds to price changes)	Scope to increase excises (and additional revenue) on goods harmful to, e.g. health and environment, in line with value of wider damage to society and environment, particularly in lower-income countries Increases in taxes on fossil fuels can be progressive in lower-income countries, but impoverishing effects need to be mitigated More generally, if taxes are used to correct for externalities and raise revenue but have a poverty- increasing effect, consider using part of the revenue gained to finance cash transfers to compensate for this

Differential distributional impact depending on consumption patterns are income distribution in the short term In the long run, impact depends on how income is affected as production patterns may change in response; there will be w and losers and this will b context-specific	ll cross ne e n vinners e	Considered inefficient due to barriers to trade, therefore overall tariffs have reduced, and rates broadly aligned to stage in supply chain (lower for raw materials, higher for finished goods) Significant (and administratively efficient) revenue source in lower- income countries	Ensure dispersion of tariffs is minimised and aim for a more uniform tariff structure on imports with rebates for exporters Where feasible (within rules of trade regime) provide compensatory transfers to lower-income households that are affected by changes in trade tariffs Ensure compliance and efficiency as revenue source
Usually equalising and poverty-reducing (particularly non- contributory transfers), although not always pro-poor Account for most of the income redistribution achieved by taxes and cash transfers	Negati -vary o transfo labour transfo incom toward Cash t targeto improv oppor inequa	ve work incentive effects depending on type of er and context. When informality is prevalent and ers are based on verifiable e, can incentivise a shift ds unregistered employment ransfers, particularly ed to the poor, can also ve individuals' equality of tunity, potentially reducing ality across generations	 Considerations: Level of coverage and progressivity needed - targeted or universal Financing (may affect coverage and/or adequacy, as well as net progressivity if financed via taxes), e.g. contributory vs. non- contributory Impact on labour supply incentives Administrative capacity e.g. if more complex mechanisms of targeting are needed
	Differential distributional impact depending on consumption patterns ad income distribution in the short term In the long run, impact depends on how income is affected as production patterns may change in response; there will be w and losers and this will be context-specific Usually equalising and poverty-reducing (particularly non- contributory transfers), although not always pro-poor Account for most of the income redistribution achieved by taxes and cash transfers	Differential distributional impact depending on consumption patterns across income distribution in the short term In the long run, impact depends on how income is affected as production patterns may change in response; there will be winners and losers and this will be context-specific Usually equalising and poverty-reducing (particularly non- contributory labour transfers), although transfe not always pro-poor incom toward Account for most of the income Cash t redistribution achieved target by taxes and cash improving transfers oppor inequal	Differential distributional impact depending on consumption patterns across income distribution in the short termConsidered inefficient due to barriers to trade, therefore overall tariffs have reduced, and rates broadly aligned to stage in supply chain (lower for raw materials, higher for finished goods)In the long run, impact depends on how income patterns may change in response; there will be winners and losers and this will be context-specificSignificant (and administratively efficient) revenue source in lower- income countriesUsually equalising and poverty-reducing (particularly non- contributory transfers), although not always pro-poorNegative work incentive effects -vary depending on type of transfers are based on verifiable income, can incentivise a shift towards unregistered employmentAccount for most of the income ty taxes and cash transfersCash transfers, particularly targeted to the poor, can also improve individuals' equality of opportunity, potentially reducing inequality across generations

	Magnitude of the impact depends on financing, design (e.g. size and targeting mechanism, contributory versus non-contributory), and underlying income distribution in the short term Nearly all non- contributory transfer schemes are poverty- targeted (means- tested or proxy means- tested or proxy means- tested) or targeted using demographic characteristics like age or disability		Scope for improvement: HICs: switching to universal transfers may be too costly and undermine inequality and poverty outcomes achieved through existing hybrid systems combining means-targeting and contributory transfers. Potential to improve pensions to ensure they are financially sustainable and account for changing trends in the way work is organised. In non-HICs with weaker safety net systems and social insurance mostly based on contributions from formal employment, there is scope to expand safety nets (especially as fiscal space expands) and redesign towards poverty- and categorical- targeted and non-contributory assistance
	Conditional cash transfers are more common in LMICs and UMICs		Data-driven approaches could be useful to identify categories for incremental targeting in a phased approach towards increased coverage
Indirect subsidies	The evidence on indirect subsidies is mixed in terms of their impact on income inequality. However, they are often found not to be pro-poor Distributional impact depends on how consumption patterns vary across income deciles	 Indirect subsidies are not the most cost-efficient instrument to achieve inequality and poverty outcomes: poor targeting properties induces over-consumption of goods and services that may have negative externalities, like fossil fuel or water 	Consider removing indirect subsidies and compensating lower-income households with cash transfers for the increase in prices and/or using part of the revenues recouped by the removal of subsidies to finance a universal cash transfer (even if temporary) to compensate all households and achieve political buy-in

In-kind transfers	Generally equalising and poverty-reducing	In-kind transfers have the potential to tackle both equality and	Priority considerations for non-HICs include:
	Impact on income inequality depends on the type of	by providing access to free health and education to lower- income households, whilst also	 quality of services and outcomes addressing corruption and waste role of subnational governments
and health spending and how access to and consumption of different services varies along the income distribution	productivity	 The value of health and education services for each 	
	and consumption of different services varies along the income distribution	Potential to influence market income inequality (pre-tax and transfer) through improved human capital and productivity	household may be different to the cost of provision, which is less well-documented. Further research is needed to evaluate

References

- **Abdel-Kader, K. and de Mooij, R.A.** (2020) *Tax policy and inclusive growth*. IMF Working Paper WP 20/271.
- **Abramovsky, L. and Phillips, D.** (2015) *A tax micro-simulator for Mexico (MEXTAX) and its application to the 2010 tax reforms* (No. W15/23). IFS Working Paper.
- Abramovsky, L., Phillips, D. and Johnson, P. (2013) *Tax design in Turkey and other Middle-Income Countries: lessons from the Mirrlees Review*. Economic Research Forum Research Report Series. Koc University TUSIAD Economic Research Forum.
- Abramovsky, L., Klemm, A. and Phillips, D. (2014) 'Corporate tax in developing countries: current trends and design issues' *Fiscal Studies* 35(4): 559–588.
- Abramovsky, L., Bird, N., Harris, T. et al. (2018) Are corporate tax incentives for investment fit for purpose? Revisiting economic principles and evidence from low-and middle-income countries (No. R142). IFS Report.
- Abramovsky, L., Andrés, L., Joseph, G. et al. (2020) 'Unpacking piped water consumption subsidies: who benefits? New evidence from 10 countries' *Journal of Water, Sanitation and Hygiene for Development* 10(4): 691–715.
- Acosta-Ormaechea, S. and Morozumi, A. (2021) 'The value added tax and growth: design matters' *International Tax and Public Finance* 28: 1,211–1,241.
- Acosta-Ormaechea, S., Sola, S.S. and Yoo, J. (2018) 'Tax composition and growth: a broad crosscountry perspective' *German Economic Review* (https://doi.org/10.1111/geer.12156).
- Adam, S. and Miller, H. (2021) 'The economic arguments for and against a wealth tax' *Fiscal Studies* 42(3-4): 457-483.
- Advani, A. and Tarrant, H. (2021) 'Behavioural responses to a wealth tax' *Fiscal Studies* 42(3-4): 509-537.
- Advani, A., Koenig, F., Pessina, L. and Summers, A. (2020) Importing inequality: immigration and the top 1 percent. IZA DP No. 13731.
- Advani, A. and Summers, A. (2020) How much tax do the rich really pay. New evidence from tax microdata in the UK. CAGE Policy Briefing 27.
- Advani, A., Hughson, H. and Tarrant, H. (2021a) 'Revenue and distributional modelling for a UK wealth tax' *Fiscal Studies* 42(3-4): 699-736.
- Advani, A, Prinz, D. and Warwick, R. (2021b) 'Carbon pricing in Low and Middle Income Countries'. IFS mimeo.
- Agnello, L., Castro, V., Jalles, J.T. and Sousa, R.M. (2017) 'Income inequality, fiscal stimuli and political (in) stability' *International Tax and Public Finance* 24(3): 484–511.
- Aguzzoni, L. (2011) 'ESS extension of social security'.
- Akcigit, U., Grigsby, J., Nicholas, T. and Stantcheva, S. (2022) 'Taxation and innovation in the twentieth century' *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 137(1): 329–385 (https://doi.org/10.1093/ qje/qjab022).

- Alesina, A. and Perotti, R. (1996) 'Income distribution, political instability, and investment' *European Economic Review* 40(6): 1,203–1,228.
- Alesina, A., Favero, C. and Giavazzi, F. (2019a) *Austerity: when it works and when it doesn't.* Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Alesina, A., Murard, E. and Rapoport, H. (2019a) 'Immigration and preferences for redistribution in Europe'. VOXEU. CEPR Blog.
- Allcot, H., Lockwood, B.B. and Taubinsky, D. (2019) 'Should we tax sugar-sweetened beverages? An overview of theory and evidence' *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 33(3): 202–227.
- Almenfi, M., Breton, M., Dale, P. et al. (2020) Where is the money coming from? Ten stylized facts on financing social protection responses to COVID-19. Social Protection and Jobs Policy and Technical Note 23. Washington DC: World Bank.
- Alstadsæter, A. Johannesen, N. and Zucman, G. (2019) 'Tax evasion and inequality' *American Economic Review*109(6): 2,073–2,103.
- **Alvaredo, F., Chancel, L., Piketty, T. et al.** (2018) 'The elephant curve of global inequality and growth' *AEA Papers and Proceedings* 108: 103–08.
- Amarante, V. and Brun, M. (2018) 'Cash transfers in Latin America: effects on poverty and redistribution' *Economía* 19(1): 1–31.
- **Anand, S. and Segal, P.** (2015) 'The global distribution of income' *Handbook of income distribution* 2: 937–979.
- Andres, L.A., Thibert, M., Lombana, C. et al. (2019) Doing more with less: smarter subsidies for water supply and sanitation. Washington DC: World Bank.
- Andriopoulou, E., Kanavitsa, E., Leventi, C. and Tsakloglou, P. (2020) 'The distributional impact of recurrent immovable property taxation in Greece' *Public Sector Economics* 44(4).
- Antràs, P. (2020) De-Globalisation? Global value chains in the post-COVID-19 Age. SSRN (https://doi.org/10.3386/W28115).
- Arizala, F., Gonzalez-Garcia, J., Tsangarides, C. and Yenice, M. (2021) 'The impact of fiscal consolidations on growth in sub-Saharan Africa' *Empirical Economics* 61: 1–33 (https://doi. org/10.1007/s00181-020-01863-x).
- Arulampalam, W., Devereux, M.P. and Maffini, G. (2012) 'The direct incidence of corporate income tax on wages' *European Economic Review* 56(6): 1,038–1,054.
- Arunatilake, N., Inchauste, G. and Lustig, N. (2017) The incidence of taxes and spending in Sri Lanka. The distributional impact of fiscal policy: experience from developing countries.
- Atkin, D. (2021) Trade and price-index inequality. Institute for Fiscal Studies.
- Atkinson, T. (1995) 'Is rising income inequality inevitable?'. WIDERAngle Blog.
- Atkinson, A.B. (2015) Inequality. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Bachas, P., Gadenne, L. and Jensen, A. (2021) *Informality, consumption taxes, and redistribution*. HKS Working Paper No. RWP21-026.
- Baker, S.R., Teng Sun, S. and Yannelis, C. (2020) Corporate taxes and retail prices. NBER Working Paper Series. Working Paper 27058 (http://www.nber.org/papers/w27058).
- Balakrishnan, R., Lizarazo, S., Santoro, M. et al. (2021) Commodity cycles, inequality, and poverty in Latin America. IMF Departmental Papers 2021(009).

- **Balestra, C., Llena-Nozal, A., Murtin, F. et al.** (2018) *Inequalities in emerging economies: informing the policy dialogue on inclusive growth*. OECD Statistics Working Paper.
- Banerjee, A.V., Hanna, R., Kreindler, G.E. and Olken, B.A. (2017) 'Debunking the stereotype of the lazy welfare recipient: evidence from cash transfer programs' *World Bank Research Observer* 32(2): 155–184.
- Banerjee, A., Niehaus, P. and Suri, T. (2019) 'Universal basic income in the developing world' Annual Review of Economics 11: 959–983.
- **Barofsky, J. and Younger, S.D.** (2019) The effect of government health expenditure on the income distribution: a comparison of valuation methods in Ghana. Tulane University, Department of Economics.
- **Barroy, H. and Gupta, S.** (2020) From overall fiscal space to budgetary space for health: connecting public financial management to resource mobilization in the era of COVID-19. CDG Policy Paper 185.
- **Barroy, H. and Gupta, S.** (2021) 'Fifteen years later: moving forward Heller's heritage on fiscal space for health' *Health and Policy Planning* 36(8): 1,239-1,245.
- **Baselgia, E. and Foellmi, R.** (2022) Inequality and growth: a review on a great open debate in economics. WIDER Working Paper Series wp-2022-5.
- Bastagli, F. (2015) Bringing taxation into social protection analysis and planning. ODI Working Paper.
- **Bastagli, F. and Lowe, C.** (2021) Social protection response to Covid-19 and beyond: emerging evidence and learning for future crises. ODI Working Paper.
- **Bastagli, F., Hagen-Zanker, J., Harman, L. et al.** (2016) Cash transfers: what does the evidence say? A rigorous review of programme impact and the role of design and implementation features. London: ODI.
- **Beegle, K., Coudouel, A. and Monsalve, E.** (eds) (2018) *Realizing the full potential of social safety nets in Africa.* Washington DC: World Bank.
- Beegle, K. and de la Fuente, A. (2019) 'Mobilizing resources for the poor' NO POVERTY 241.
- **Berens, S. and von Schiller, A.** (2017) 'Taxing higher incomes: what makes the high-income earners consent to more progressive taxation in Latin America?' *Political Behavior* 39(3): 703–729.
- Berg, K. and Hebous, S. (2021) Does the wealth tax improve equality of opportunity? Evidence from Norway. IMF Working Paper No. 2021/085.
- Berg, A., Ostry, J., Tsangarides, C. and Yakhshilikov, Y. (2018) 'Redistribution, inequality, and growth: new evidence' *Journal of Economic Growth* 23: 259–305.
- Berger, D. and Zhang, Y. (2016) 'Distributional effects of individual income tax expenditures: an update'. Tax Policy Center. Urban Institute and Brookings Institution.
- Bergolo, M. and Cruces, G. (2021) 'The anatomy of behavioral responses to social assistance when informal employment is high' *Journal of Public Economics* 193, 104313.
- Besley, T. and Persson, T. (2014) 'Why do developing countries tax so little?' *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 28(4): 99–120.
- **Bird, R.M.** (2008) *Tax challenges facing developing countries*. Institute for International Business Working Paper 9.
- **Bird, R.M. and Zolt, E.M.** (2005) 'The limited role of the personal income tax in developing countries' *Journal of Asian Economics* 16(6): 928–946.

- **Bivens, J.** (2017) 'Inequality is slowing US economic growth: faster wage growth for low- and middlewage workers is the solution'. Economic Policy Institute.
- Blanchard, O. and Rodrik, D. (eds) (2021) Combating inequality: rethinking government's role. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- **Blofield, M., Lustig, N. and Trasberg, M.** (2021) 'Social protection during the pandemic: Argentina, Brazil, Colombia and Mexico' (www.commitmentoequity.org/datacenter).
- **Bold, T., Filmer, D., Martin, G. et al.** (2017) 'Enrollment without learning: teacher effort, knowledge, and skill in primary schools in Africa' *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 31(4): 185–204.
- Bornukova, K., Leshchenko, N. and Matytsin, M. (2019) *Fiscal incidence in Ukraine: a commitment to equity analysis.* World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 8765.
- **Bosch, M. and Manacorda, M.** (2012) Social policies and labor market outcomes in Latin America and the Caribbean: a review of the existing evidence.
- **Bourguignon, F.** (1981) 'Pareto superiority of unegalitarian equilibria in Stiglitz' model of wealth distribution with convex saving function' *Econometrica: Journal of the Econometric Society* 1469–1475.
- **Brito, A.S. and Kerstenetzky, C.L.** (2019) 'Has the minimum wage policy been important for reducing poverty in Brazil? A decomposition analysis for the period from 2002 to 2013' *Economía* 20(1): 27–43.
- Brown, C., Ravallion, M. and van de Walle, D. (2018) 'A poor means test? Econometric targeting in Africa' *Journal of Development Economics* 134: 109–124.
- **Cancho, C. and Bondarenko, E.** (2017) 'The distributional impact of fiscal policy in Georgia' in *The distributional impact of fiscal policy: experience from developing countries.*
- **Carroll, D. and Hur, S.** (2022) *On the distributional effects of international tariffs*. Globalization Institute Working Paper 413.
- Carter, P. and Cobham, A. (2016) Are taxes good for your health?. WIDER Working Paper 2016/171.
- **Causa, O. and Hermansen, M.** (2020) 'Income redistribution through taxes and transfers across OECD countries' *Research on Economic Inequality* 2017: 29–74.
- **Chancel, L., Cogneau, D., Gethin, A. and Myczkowski, A.** (2019) *How large are African inequalities? Towards distributional national accounts in Africa, 1990–2017.* WID.world Working Paper 2019/13.
- Chancel, L., Piketty, T., Saez, E. and Zucman, G. (2022) World inequality report 2022. World Inequality Lab.
- **Chaudhury, N., Hammer, J., Kremer, M. et al.** (2006) 'Missing in action: teacher and health worker absence in developing countries' *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 20(1): 91–116.
- **Chirchir, R. and Kibicho, B.** (2021) 'Reflections from a double landlocked country on the establishment of a digital and integrated information system for social protection'. Blog. Development Pathways (https://www.developmentpathways.co.uk/blog/reflections-from-a-double-landlocked-country-on-the-establishment-of-a-digital-and-integrated-information-system-for-social-protection/).
- Cingano, F. (2014) 'Trends in income inequality and its impact on economic growth'.

- Clements, B., Gupta, S., Jalles, J. and Mylonas, V. (2021) 'Low-income developing countries will surely need more debt relief down the line'. Blog Post. Center for Global Development (https:// www.cgdev.org/blog/low-income-developing-countries-will-surely-need-more-debt-relief-downline).
- **Cnossen, S.** (2020) *Excise taxation for domestic resource mobilization*. CEsifo Working Paper 8442 2020.
- Cnossen, S. (2021) 'Modernizing value added tax'. Tax by Design for the Netherlands 365.
- **Coady, M.D., Arze del Granado, M.J. and Gillingham, R.** (2012) *The unequal benefits of fuel subsidies: a review of evidence for developing countries.* IMF Working Paper.
- **Coady, M.D. and Le, N.P.** (2020) *Designing fiscal redistribution: the role of universal and targeted transfers.* International Monetary Fund.
- **Correa, J.S., Daidone, S. and Sitko, N.** (2021) 'The missing link: understanding the role of social protection in fostering sustainable food system transformation in Africa' in *Africa agriculture status report 2021. A decade of action building sustainable and resilient food systems in Africa.*
- **Cotula, L.** (2021) 'Towards a political economy of the COVID-19 crisis: reflections on an agenda for research and action' *World Development* 138 105235.
- Credit Suisse (2021) Global wealth report 2021.
- **Cubero, R. and Hollar, I.V.** (2010) Equity and fiscal policy: the income distribution effects of taxation and social spending in Central America. IMF Working Paper 2010/112.
- **Davies, F., Geddes, M. and Wabwire, M.** (2021) *Equity of local government health financing in Uganda*. ODI Working Paper.
- **de Mooij, R.A.** (2008) 'Reinventing the Dutch tax-benefit system: exploring the frontier of the equityefficiency trade-off' *International Tax and Public Finance* 15: 87–103 (https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10797-007-9048-6).
- **Decoster, A., Pirtilä, J.O., Sutherland, H. and Wright, G.** (2020) 'SOUTHMOD: modelling taxbenefit systems in developing countries' *The International Journal of Microsimulation* 12(1): 1–12.
- **Devereux, S.** (2021) 'Targeting' in Handbook on social protection systems.
- **Diamond, P. and Mirlees, J.A.** (1971) 'Taxation and public production I: production and efficiency, and II: Tax rules' *American Economic Review* 61.
- **Diamond, P. and Saez, E.** (2011) 'The case for a progressive tax: from basic research to policy recommendations' *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 25(4): 165–190.
- **Dorband, I.I., Jakob, M., Kalkuhl, M. and Steckel, J.C.** (2019) 'Poverty and distributional effects of carbon pricing in low-and middle-income countries: a global comparative analysis' *World Development* 115: 246–257.
- **Duncan, D. and Sabirianova Peter, K.** (2016) 'Unequal inequalities: do progressive taxes reduce income inequality? *International Tax and Public Finance* 23(4): 762–783.
- Durán-Valverde, F., Pacheco-Jiménez, J.F., Muzaffar, T. and Elizondo-Barboza, H. (2020) 'Financing gaps in social protection: global estimates and strategies for developing countries in light of the COVID-19 crisis and beyond' (http://creativecommons).
- **Ebrahimzadeh, C.** (2020) 'Dutch Disease: wealth managed unwisely' *Finance and Development*. (https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/fandd/basics/dutch.htm)

- **Eissa, N. and Joynes, H.** (2006) 'Behavioral responses to taxes: lessons from the EITC and labor supply' *Tax Policy and the Economy* 202006.
- **Enami, A. and Lustig, N.** (2018) *Inflation and the erosion of the poverty reduction impact of Iran's universal cash transfer.* Tulane University Department of Economics.
- **Enami, A., Lustig, N. and Taqdiri, A.** (2019) 'Fiscal policy, inequality, and poverty in Iran: assessing the impact and effectiveness of taxes and transfers' *Middle East Development Journal* 11(1): 49–74.
- **Engbom, N. and Moser, C.** (2021) *Earnings inequality and the minimum wage: evidence from Brazil*.NBER Working Paper No. w28831.
- **Evans, M.** (2022) Uneven floors: targeting categorical transfers for poverty and inequality reductions. ODI Working Paper.
- **Evans, M. and Salomon, H.** (2020) Informal taxes and transfers in sub-Saharan Africa: a review and analysis of incidence in Rwanda. ODI Working Paper.
- **Faber, B.** (2014) *Trade liberalization, the price of quality, and inequality: evidence from Mexican store prices.* UC-Berkeley Working Paper.
- **Fantom, N.J. and Serajuddin, U.** (2016) *The World Bank's classification of countries by income*. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 7528.
- Ferreira, F.H. (2021) 'Inequality' Finance and Development.
- Filmer, D., Gatti, R., Rogers, F.H. et al. (2021) Education and health for inclusiveness. IMF Working Paper 2021/060.
- **Demirgüç-Kunt, A., Klapper, L., Singer, D. and Ansar, S.** (2022) *Global Findex Database 2021: financial inclusion, digital payments, and resilience in the age of COVID-19.* Washington DC: World Bank (worldbank.org/en/publication/globalfindex/Report).
- **Fjeldstad, O.-H. and Therkildsen, O.** (2020) *Taxation in sub-Saharan Africa after Covid-19: challenging but far from impossible.* DIIS Working Paper (https://www.diis.dk/node/24476).
- Forbes (2021) 'Forbes' 35th annual world's billionaires list: facts and figures 2021'.
- Forteza, A. (2015) 'Are social security programs progressive?' *IZA World of Labor* 2015: 172 (doi: 10.15185/izawol.172).
- Frankfurt, H. (2015) On inequality. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- **Fuchs, A. and Meneses, F.J.** (2017) *Regressive or progressive? The effect of tobacco taxes in Ukraine*. Washington DC: World Bank Group.
- Fuchs, A. Ponzini, M. and Juan Albert, F. (2017) Are tobacco taxes really regressive?: Evidence from *Chile*. Washington DC: World Bank Group.
- **Fuchs, A., Carmen, G.D. and Mukon, A.K.** (2018) *Long-run impacts of increasing tobacco taxes: evidence from South Africa.* Washington DC: World Bank Group.
- Fuest, C., Peichl, A. and Siegloch, S. (2017) 'Do higher corporate taxes reduce wages? Micro evidence from Germany' *American Economic Review*.
- Gallien, M., Moore, M. and Van den Boogaard, V. (2021) *Taxing the informal economy is not a silver bullet for financing development-or the COVID-19 recovery*. International Centre for Tax and Development.
- **Gemmell, N. and Morrissey, O.** (2005) 'Distribution and poverty impacts of tax structure reform in developing countries: how little we know' *Development Policy Review* 23(2): 131–144.

- **Gentilini, U., Grosh, M., Rigolini, J. and Yemtsov, R.** (2020) *Exploring Universal Basic Income. A guide to navigating concepts, evidence, and practices.* Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Gerard, F., Naritomi, J. and Silva, J. (2021) Cash transfers and formal labor markets: evidence from Brazil.
- Gerber, C., Klemm, A., Liu, L. and Mylonas, V. (2020) 'Income tax progressivity: trends and implications' Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics 82(2): 365–386.
- **Grote, M.** (2017) *How to establish a tax policy unit*. IMF Fiscal Affairs Department 2017/002 (https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/Fiscal-Affairs-Department-How-To-Notes/Issues/2017/10/19/How-to-Establish-a-Tax-Policy-Unit-45322).
- Guillaume, D.M., Zytek, R. and Farzin, M.R. (2011) Iran: the chronicles of the subsidy reform. IMF Working Paper 2011(167).
- **Gupta, S.** (2018) Income inequality and fiscal policy: agenda for reform in developing countries. Working Paper commissioned by the Group of 24 and Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung New York
- **Gupta, S. and Tovar Jalles, J.** (2021) Can COVID-19 induce governments to implement tax reforms in developing countries? CGD Working Paper 567.
- **Gupta, S. and Tovar Jalles, J.** (2022) 'Do tax reforms affect income distribution? Evidence from developing countries' *Economic Modelling* 110 (2022) 105804.
- Haldenwang, C., Redonda, A. and Aliu, F. (2021) Shedding light on worldwide tax expenditures. GTED Flagship Report (https://gted.net/2021/05/shedding-light-on-worldwide-tax-expenditures/).
- Halvorsen, E. and Thoresen, T. (2021) 'Distributional effects of a wealth tax under lifetime-dynastic income concepts' *Scandinavian Journal of Economics* 123(1): 184–215.
- Hannan, A.S., Honjo, K. and Raissi, M. (2020) *Mexico needs a fiscal twist: response to Covid-19 and beyond.* IMF Working Paper WP/20/215.
- Hannan, A.S., Cuesta Aguirre, J.P. and Bartolini, D. (2021) Social spending in Mexico: needs, priorities and reforms. IMF Working Paper WP/21/244.
- Heller, P. (2005) Understanding fiscal space. IMF Policy Discussion Paper PDP05/4.
- **Hill, R., Inchauste, G., Lustig, N. et al.** (2017) 'A fiscal incidence analysis for Ethiopia' in G. Inchauste and N. Lustig (eds) *The distributional impact of taxes and social spending: evidence from eight low- and middle-income countries.* Washington DC: World Bank.
- **Hines Jr, J.R.** (2020) *Corporate taxation and the distribution of income*. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- **Hirvonen, K., Mascagni, G. and Roelen, K.** (2018) 'Linking taxation and social protection: evidence on redistribution and poverty reduction in Ethiopia' *International Social Security Review*71(1): 3–24.
- Hoynes, H. (2019) 'The Earned Income Tax Credit' *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 686(1): 180–203.
- **Iddrisu, A.M.** (2020) Examining the welfare effects of import tariff reforms in Ghana. A combined CGE-microsimulation approach. SOUTHMOD Research Note.
- IFPRI International Food Policy Research Institute (2019) A database user manual for SPEED: statistics on public expenditures for economic development. Washington DC: International Food Policy Research Institute (http://ebrary.ifpri.org/cdm/ref/collection/p15738coll2/id/133664).
- **IFS Institute for Fiscal Studies** (2021) *National Insurance contributions explained*. IFS TaxLAB (https://ifs.org.uk/taxlab/taxes-explained/national-insurance-contributions-explained).

- **ILO International Labour Organization** (2017) *World social protection report 2017–19: universal social protection to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals* (https://www.ilo.org/global/publications/books/WCMS_604882/lang--en/index.htm).
- **IMF International Monetary Fund** (2017a) *Fiscal monitor. Tackling inequality. October 2017.* Washington DC: International Monetary Fund.
- **IMF** (2021a) *Fiscal monitor: a fair shot, April 2021*. Washington DC: International Monetary Fund (https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/FM/Issues/2021/03/29/fiscal-monitor-april-2021).
- IMF (2021b) List of LIC DSAs for PRGT-Eligible Countries (https://www.imf.org/external/Pubs/ft/dsa/ DSAlist.pdf).
- Immervoll, H., Kleven, H.J., Kreiner, C.T. and Saez, E. (2007) 'Welfare reform in European countries: a microsimulation analysis' *The Economic Journal* 117(516): 1–44.
- **Inchauste, G. and Lustig, N.** (eds) (2017) *The distributional impact of taxes and transfers: evidence from eight developing countries.* World Bank Publications.
- Inchauste, G., Lustig, N., Maboshe, M. et al. (2017) *The distributional impact of fiscal policy in South Africa*. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 7194.
- IPSOS-MORI (2020) 'Public attitudes to a net wealth tax'.
- Jain-Chandra, M.S., Khor, N., Mano, R. et al. (2018) Inequality in China trends, drivers and policy remedies. International Monetary Fund.
- Jäntti, M., Pirttilä, J.O. and Rönkkö, R. (2020) 'The determinants of redistribution around the world' *Review of Income and Wealth* 66(1): 59–73.
- Jara, H.X., Montesdeoca, L. and Tasseva, I. (2021) The role of automatic stabilizers and emergency tax-benefit policies during the COVID-19 pandemic in Ecuador. WIDER Working Paper 2021/4 (https://doi.org/10.35188/UNU-WIDER/2021/938-9).
- Jellema, J., Wai-Poi, M. and Afkar, R. (2017) *The distributional impact of fiscal policy in Indonesia*. Commitment to Equity (CEQ) Working Paper Series 40. Tulane University Department of Economics.
- Jensen, A. (2022) 'Employment structure and the rise of the modern tax system' *American Economic Review* 112(1): 213–234.
- Johnson, P. and Joyce, R. (2021) 'Most people care about inequalities but there is little agreement about what, if anything, government should do about them'. IFS Press Release (https://ifs.org.uk/publications/15636).
- Jouini, N., Lustig, N., Moummi, A. and Shimeles, A. (2018) 'Fiscal policy, income redistribution, and poverty reduction: evidence from Tunisia' *Review of Income and Wealth* 64(1): S225–S248.
- Joumard, I., Pisu, M. and Bloch, D. (2012) 'Tackling income inequality: the role of taxes and transfers' OECD Journal: Economic Studies 2012(1): 37–70.
- Jouste, M., Kaidu Barugahara, T., Okello Ayo, J. et al. (2021) The effects of personal income tax reform on employees' taxable income in Uganda. WP 2021-11. WIDER Working Paper Series.
- **Kaldor, N.** (1956) *Indian tax reform: report of a survey*. Ministry of Finance, Department of Economic Affairs.
- **Kanbur, R. and Keen, M.** (2014) 'Thresholds, informality, and partitions of compliance' *International Tax and Public Finance* 21(4): 536–559.

- **Kanbur, R. and Keen, M.** (2015) 'Reducing informality: it may be a great slogan, but it is of little value as a practical objective for tax reform' *Finance & Development* 52(001).
- **Kangave, J., Nakato, S., Waiswa, R. et al.** (2018) What can we learn from the Uganda Revenue Authority's approach to taxing high net worth individuals? ICTD Working Paper 72.
- **Kavuma, S.N., Byaruhanga, C., Musoke, N. et al.** (2020) *An analysis of the distributional impact of excise duty in Uganda using a tax-benefit microsimulation model.* WIDER Working Paper Series wp-2020-70, World Institute for Development Economic Research (UNU-WIDER).
- **Keefer, P. and Knack, S.** (2002) 'Polarization, politics and property rights: links between inequality and growth' *Public Choice* 111(1): 127–154.
- Kidd, S., Athias, D., Nastasi, S. and Pop, A. (2022) Inequality and social security in the Asia-Pacific region. United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) (https://www.undp.org/publications/ inequality-and-social-security-asia-pacific-region).
- Klemm, A., Liu, L., Mylonas, V. and Wingender, P. (2018) Are elasticities of taxable income rising? IMF Working Paper WP 18/132.
- Komatsu, H., Ambel, A.A., Koolwal, G. and Yonis, M.B. (2021) Gender and tax incidence of rural land use fee and agricultural income tax in Ethiopia.
- **Kruk, M.E. et al.** (2018) 'High-quality health systems in the Sustainable Development Goals era: time for a revolution' *The Lancet Global Health* 6(11): e1196–e1252.
- Lakner, C., Mahler, D.G., Negre, M. and Prydz, E.B. (2019) How much does reducing inequality matter for global poverty? World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 8869.
- Lakner, C. (2016) Global inequality: the implications of Thomas Piketty's capital in the 21st century. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 7776.
- Lastunen, J., Rattenhuber, P., Adu-Ababio, K. et al. (2021) The mitigating role of tax and benefit rescue packages for poverty and inequality in Africa amid the COVID-19 pandemic. WIDER Working Paper 2021/148.
- Lazear, E.P. and Rosen, S. (1981) 'Rank-order tournaments as optimum labor contracts' *Journal of Political Economy* 89(5): 841–864.
- Long, C. and Miller, M. (2017) Taxation and the Sustainable Development Goals. Do good things come to those who tax more?
- **Lustig, N.** (2015) The redistributive impact of government spending on education and health: evidence from thirteen developing countries in the Commitment to Equity Project. CEQ Working Paper 30.
- **Lustig, N.** (ed.) (2018) Commitment to equity handbook: estimating the impact of fiscal policy on inequality and poverty. Washington DC: Brookings Institution Press.
- Lustig, N. (2020) Inequality and social policy in Latin America.
- Luttmer, E.F. (2005) 'Neighbors as negatives: relative earnings and well-being' *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 120(3): 963–1002.
- MacLeod, M., Piggott, S., Sarraj, J. and Dos Santos Stiller, N. (2021) 'How to deliver cash transfer programs more effectively to hard-to-reach populations' *Stanford Social Innovation Review* (https://doi.org/10.48558/RN4Y-RM34).
- Mahler, D., Yonzan, N., Hill, R. et al. (2022) 'Pandemic, prices, and poverty'. Blog. World Bank (https://blogs.worldbank.org/opendata/pandemic-prices-and-poverty).

- **Martorano, B.** (2018) 'Taxation and inequality in developing countries: lessons from the recent experience of Latin America' *Journal of International Development* 30(2): 256–273.
- McCord, A., Cherrier, C., Both, N. and Bastagli, F. (2021) Official development assistance financing for social protection.
- **McKinsey** (2021), How Pakistan tackled its largest-ever social protection crisis, (https://www. mckinsey.com/industries/public-and-social-sector/our-insights/how-pakistan-tackled-its-largestever-social-protection-crisis)
- McNabb, K. and Granger, H. (2022) Employment income tax in Africa: findings from a new dataset. ODI Working Paper.
- McNabb, K., Danquah, M. and Tagem, A.M.E. (2021) *Tax effort revisited: new estimates from the Government Revenue Dataset.* WIDER Working Paper 2021/170.
- Medina, L. and Schneider, F. (2018) Shadow economies around the world: what did we learn over the last 20 years? IMF Working Paper 2018/017.
- **Mesfin, W. and Gao, J.** (2020) *Fiscal incidence analysis for Ethiopia*. Washington DC: World Bank. **Milanovic, B.** (2018) 'Why inequality matters?'. VoxEU.org.
- Milasi, S. and Waldmann, R.J. (2018) 'Top marginal taxation and economic growth' *Applied* Economics 50: 2,156–2,170 (https://doi.org/10.1080/00036846.2017.1392001).
- **Mirrlees, J.A.** (1971) 'An exploration in the theory of optimum income taxation' *Review of Economic Studies* 38(2): 175–208.
- Mirrlees, J., Adam, S., Besley, T. et al. (2011) Tax by design. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Moore, M., Prichard, W. and Fjeldstad, O. (2018) *Taxing Africa*. Coercion, reform and development. Zed Books.
- Morgan, M. and Neef, T. (2020) 2020 DINA update for Europe. World Technical Note 4. WID.
- Muralidharan, K., Das, J., Holla, A. and Mohpal, A. (2017) 'The fiscal cost of weak governance: evidence from teacher absence in India' *Journal of Public Economics* 145: 116–135.
- Nair, V., Phillips, D., Prinz, D. and Warwick, R. (2021) IFS Report R193. Institute for Fiscal Studies.
- **O'Donoghue, C., Baldini, M. and Mantovani, D.** (2004) *Modelling the redistributive impact of indirect taxes in Europe: an application of EUROMOD* (No. EM7/01). EUROMOD Working Paper.
- **OECD** (2014) 'The distributional effects of consumption taxes' in *The distributional* effects of consumption taxes in OECD countries. Paris: OECD Publishing (https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264224520-4-en).
- **OECD** (2015) *In it together: why less inequality benefits all.* Paris: OECD Publishing (http://dx.doi. org/10.1787/9789264235120-en).
- **OECD** (2021a) *Inheritance taxation in OECD countries*. OECD Tax Policy Studies 28. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- **OECD** (2021b) 'Revenue statistics in Africa 2021 Tunisia' (https://www.oecd.org/ctp/tax-policy/ revenue-statistics-africa-tunisia.pdf).
- **OECD** (2021c) 'Revenue statistics in Africa 2021 Kenya' (https://www.oecd.org/countries/kenya/ revenue-statistics-africa-kenya.pdf).
- OECD (2022) 'Income inequality (indicator) (doi: 10.1787/459aa7f1-en).

- **Oraro, T. and Wyss, K.** (2018) 'How does membership in local savings groups influence the determinants of national health insurance demand? A cross-sectional study in Kisumu, Kenya' *International Journal for Equity in Health* 17(170) (https://doi.org/10.1186/S12939-018-0889-7).
- Orkin, K., Grabowska, M., Kreft, B. et al. (2022) 'Designing social protection to improve employment, earnings and productivity in Lower- and Middle-Income Countries'.
- **Ostry, J., Berg, A. and Tsangarides, C.** (2014) *Redistribution, inequality and growth.* IMF Staff Discussion Paper SDN/14/02.
- **Palacios, R.J. and Robalino, D.A.** (2020) Integrating social insurance and social assistance programs for the future world of labor. IZA DP No. 13258.
- **Parry, I., Black, S. and Vernon, N.** (2021) *Still not getting energy prices right: a global and country update of fossil fuel subsidies.* IMF Working Paper Wp/21/236.
- Piketty, T. (2019) Capital and ideology. Harvard, MA: Harvard University Press.
- **Piketty, T., Saez, E. and Stantcheva, S.** (2014) 'Optimal taxation of top labor incomes: a tale of three elasticities' *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy* 6(1): 230–271.
- **Piketty, T.** (2013) 'Capital in the twenty-first century: a multidimensional approach to the history of capital and social classes' *British Journal of Sociology* 65(4): 736–747.
- **Pineda, E., Pessino, C., Rasteletti, A.G. and Nicaretta, R.** (2021) 'Can a wealth tax reduce inequality in Latin America and the Caribbean?' Blog. CIAT.
- **Poniatowski, G., Śmietanka, A. and Bonch-Osmolovskiy, M.** (2020) *Study and reports on the VAT gap in the EU-28 Member States: 2020 final report*. CASE Research Paper 503.
- **Preston, I.P. and O'Dea, C.** (2010) *The distributional impact of public spending in the UK*. IFS Working Paper W12/06.
- Prinz, D., Phillips, D., Warwick, R. et al. (2021) Fiscal consolidation after COVID-19: issues and policy options in sub-Saharan Africa. IFS Report R193 (https://www.taxdev.org/sites/default/files/2021-11/ Fiscal_consolidation_after_covid19_0.pdf).
- Prydz, E.B. and Wadhwa, D. (2019) Classifying countries by income. World Bank.
- **Quak. E.** (2020) Lessons from resource-rich developing countries about using their resource revenues for improved public service delivery. K4D Helpdesk Report. Institute of Development Studies.
- **Ravallion, M.** (2008) *Global poverty and inequality: a review of the evidence*. (https://datatopics. worldbank.org/world-development-indicators/stories/the-classification-of-countries-by-income. html)
- Ravallion, M. (2017) 'Straw Men in the debate on basic income versus targeting'. VoxEU.org.
- **Redonda, A. and Axelson, C.** (2021) Assessing pension-related tax expenditures in South Africa: evidence from the 2016 retirement reform. WIDER Working Paper Series wp-2021-54. World Institute for Development Economic Research (UNU-WIDER).
- **Redonda, A., von Haldenwang, C. and Aliu, F.** (2021) 'Tax expenditure reporting and domestic revenue mobilization in Africa' *Taxation, International Cooperation and the 2030 Sustainable Development Agenda* 19: 173.
- Reeves, A., Gourtsoyannis, Y., Basu, S. et al. (2015) 'Financing universal health coverage effects of alternative tax structures on public health systems: cross-national modelling in 89 low-income and middle-income countries' *The Lancet* 386(9990): 274–280.

- **Robles, M., Rubio, M.G. and Stampini, M.** (2019) 'Have cash transfers succeeded in reaching the poor in Latin America and the Caribbean?' *Development Policy Review* 37.
- **Rossignolo, D.** (2017) *Taxes, expenditures, poverty, and income distribution in Argentina.* CEQ Working Paper 45, Commitment to Equity Institute, Tulane University. Revised.
- **Rothstein, J.** (2010) 'Is the EITC as good as an NIT? Conditional cash transfers and tax incidence' *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy* 2(1): 177–208.
- **Roy, R., Heuty, A. and Letouzé, E.** (2012) 'Fiscal space for what? Analytical issues from a human development perspective' in *Fiscal space*. Routledge.
- Sabates-Wheeler, R., Hurrell, A. and Devereux, S. (2015) 'Targeting social transfer programmes: comparing design and implementation errors across alternative mechanisms' *Journal of International Development* 27(8): 1521–45.
- Sabates-Wheeler, R., Lind, J., Hoddinott, J. and Tefera Taye, M. (2021) 'Graduation after 10 years of Ethiopia's Productive Safety Net Programme: surviving but still not thriving' *Development Policy Review* 39(4): 511–531.
- **Saez, E.** (2001) 'Using elasticities to derive optimal income tax rates' *Review of Economic Studies* 68(1): 205–229.
- Saez, E. and Zucman, G. (2019) 'Progressive wealth taxation' *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity* 2019(2): 437–533.
- Sánchez-Páramo, C., Hill, R., Gerson Mahler, D. et al. (2021) 'COVID-19 leaves a legacy of rising poverty and widening inequality. Let's talk development'. Blog. World Bank (https://blogs. worldbank.org/developmenttalk/covid-19-leaves-legacy-rising-poverty-and-widening-inequality).
- Scheuer, F. and Slemrod, J. (2021) 'Taxing our wealth' *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 35(1): 207–230.
- **Sen, A.** (1995) 'The political economy of targeting' in D. van de Walle and K. Nead (eds) *Public spending and the poor*. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Simson, R. and Savage, M. (2020) 'The global significance of national inequality decline' *Third World Quarterly* 41(1): 20–41.
- Slater, D. (2010) Ordering power: contentious politics and authoritarian leviathans in Southeast Asia. Cambridge Studies in Comparative Politics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (doi:10.1017/ CBO9780511760891).
- Soares, S., Osório, R.G., Soares, F.V. et al. (2009) 'Conditional cash transfers in Brazil, Chile and Mexico: impacts upon inequality' *Estudios económicos* 207–224.
- Stantcheva, S. (2021a) 'Perceptions and preferences for redistribution' IFS Deaton Review.
- Stantcheva, S. (2021b) 'Inequalities in the times of a pandemic' *Economic Policy*.
- **Steel, I. and Nair, V.** (2021) International corporate tax reforms. What could the OECD deal mean for lower-income countries? ODI Working Paper.
- **Steinmo, S.H.** (2018) *The leap of faith: the fiscal foundations of successful government in Europe and America.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- **Suárez Serrato, J.C. and Zidar, O.** (2016) 'Who benefits from state corporate tax cuts? A local labor markets approach with heterogeneous firms' *American Economic Review* 106(9): 2,582–2,624.

- **Tanzi, V. and Schuknecht, L.** (2000) 'Public spending in the 20th century' in *Public spending in the 20th century*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (https://doi.org/10.1017/ cb09780511625800).
- **UNDP United Nations Development Program** (2020) 'Coronavirus vs. inequality' (https://feature. undp.org/coronavirus-vs-inequality/).
- **UNDESA** (2020) UNDESA world social report 2020. The challenge of inequality in a rapidly changing world.
- **UNECA United Nations Economic Commission for Africa** (2019) *Economic report on Africa* 2019: fiscal policy for financing sustainable development in Africa.
- UNU-WIDER Government revenue dataset (https://doi.org/10.35188/UNU-WIDER/GRD-2021).
- UNU-WIDER (2021) World Income Inequality Database (WIID). Version 31 May 2021 (https://doi. org/10.35188/UNU-WIDER/WIID-310521).
- **Vogt-Schilb, A., Walsh, B., Feng, K. et al.** (2019) 'Cash transfers for pro-poor carbon taxes in Latin America and the Caribbean' *Nature Sustainability* 2(10): 941–948.
- Wales, C.J. and Lees, A. (2020) Report on the tax policy-making process in Uganda. London: ODI.
- Wales, C.J. and Wales, C.P. (2012) Structures, processes and governance in tax policy-making: an initial report.
- Wapling, L., Schjoedt, R. and Kidd, S. (2020) 'Social protection and disability in Brazil' *Development Pathways* 46–47.
- Warwick, R., Harris, T., Phillips, D. et al. (2021) 'The distributive power of cash transfers vs VAT exemptions: a multi-country study' *World Development* 151.
- Woessmann, L. (2016) 'The importance of school systems: evidence from international differences in student achievement' *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 30(3): 3-32 (https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/jep.30.3.3).
- World Bank (2022) Global economic prospects. A World Bank Group flagship report.
- **Younger, S.D. and Khachatryan, A.** (2017) Fiscal incidence in Armenia. The distributional impact of fiscal policy: experience from developing countries.
- Younger, S., Myamba, F. and Mdadila, K. (2016) CEQ master workbook: Tanzania. Version: June 1, 2016. CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution. CEQ Institute, Tulane University.
- Zouhar, Y., Jellema, J., Lustig, N. and Trabelsi, M. (2021) *Public expenditure and inclusive growth: a survey*. IMF Working Paper No. 2021/083.